

UNIVERSIDAD NACIONAL AUTÓNOMA DE MÉXICO PROGRAMA DE MAESTRÍA Y DOCTORADO EN INGENIERÍA INGENIERÍA AMBIENTAL - RESIDUOS SÓLIDOS

Effect of nickel and iron on hydrogen and methane production from organic solid waste in discontinuous processes

TESIS QUE PARA OPTAR POR EL GRADO DE: DOCTORA EN INGENIERÍA

PRESENTA: M. en C. Karina Janette Salazar Batres

TUTOR PRINCIPAL: Dr. Iván Moreno Andrade (Instituto de Ingeniería, UNAM)

MIEMBROS DEL COMITÉ TUTOR: Dr. Alfonso Durán Moreno (Facultad de Química, UNAM) Dr. Julián Carrillo Reyes (Instituto de Ingeniería, UNAM)

Santiago de Querétaro, Querétaro, 2023



Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México



UNAM – Dirección General de Bibliotecas Tesis Digitales Restricciones de uso

DERECHOS RESERVADOS © PROHIBIDA SU REPRODUCCIÓN TOTAL O PARCIAL

Todo el material contenido en esta tesis esta protegido por la Ley Federal del Derecho de Autor (LFDA) de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos (México).

El uso de imágenes, fragmentos de videos, y demás material que sea objeto de protección de los derechos de autor, será exclusivamente para fines educativos e informativos y deberá citar la fuente donde la obtuvo mencionando el autor o autores. Cualquier uso distinto como el lucro, reproducción, edición o modificación, será perseguido y sancionado por el respectivo titular de los Derechos de Autor.



Universidad Nacional Autónoma de México



UNAM – Dirección General de Bibliotecas Tesis Digitales Restricciones de uso

DERECHOS RESERVADOS © PROHIBIDA SU REPRODUCCIÓN TOTAL O PARCIAL

Todo el material contenido en esta tesis esta protegido por la Ley Federal del Derecho de Autor (LFDA) de los Estados Unidos Mexicanos (México).

El uso de imágenes, fragmentos de videos, y demás material que sea objeto de protección de los derechos de autor, será exclusivamente para fines educativos e informativos y deberá citar la fuente donde la obtuvo mencionando el autor o autores. Cualquier uso distinto como el lucro, reproducción, edición o modificación, será perseguido y sancionado por el respectivo titular de los Derechos de Autor.

JURADO ASIGNADO:

Presidente:	Dra. Rosalinda Campuzano Ángeles
Secretario:	Dr. Alfonso Durán Moreno
1 er. Vocal:	Dr. Philippe Constant
2 do. Vocal:	Dr. Julián Carrillo Reyes
3 er. Vocal:	Dr. Iván Moreno Andrade

Lugar donde se realizó la tesis: Laboratorio de Procesos Avanzado en tratamiento de aguas, Instituto de Ingeniería, UNAM, campus Juriquilla, Querétaro.

DIRECTOR DE TESIS:

Iván Moreno Andrade

Institutional Acknowledgments

This work was developed in the Laboratory for Research in Advanced Water Treatment Processes at the Juriquilla Academic Unit of the Institute of Engineering of the National Autonomous University of Mexico, under the direction of Dr. Iván Moreno Andrade.



The financial support of the DGAPA-UNAM is gratefully acknowledged through the PAPIIT IN102722 project.

The scholarship from the National Council of Science and Technology (CONACYT - Mexico) for the doctoral studies is acknowledged.

The technical support of the M. in B. Jaime Pérez Trevilla and the M. in C. Gloria Moreno Rodríguez in the experimental part of this thesis is also acknowledged.

Thanks to the Institute National de la Recherche Scientifique for the support in the academic internship, especially Philippe Constant for supervising and Audrey-Anne Durand for the technical assistance.

This thesis framed in the Interdisciplinary Research Group of the Engineering Institute of the UNAM (Grupo Interdisciplinario de Investigación del Instituto de Ingeniería de la UNAM), within the framework of the project "Cambio de paradigma: residuos como materia prima para conciliar el eje agua-energía-ambiente-seguridad alimentaria" and we thank for its support.

Agradecimientos personales

Doy las gracias a mi tutor principal el Dr. Iván Moreno Andrade por todo su apoyo, paciencia, por su forma tan respetuosa de trabajar, por escucharme siempre, motivarme y guiarme en mi proceso de aprendizaje, nunca olvidaré esta experiencia.

Agradezco a mi comité tutoral, al Dr. Julián Carrillo por su apoyo con las revisiones a mi trabajo y por siempre haber respondido a mis dudas. Agradezco también al Dr. Alfonso Durán por sus revisiones que ayudaron a mejorar mi trabajo.

Je remercie le Professeur Philippe Constant de m'avoir accepté dans son groupe de travail pour mon stage à Laval, Canada. Merci beaucoup pour votre patience et votre compréhension. Aussi au Prof. Audrey-Anne Durand pour son soutien dans l'analyse de mes échantillons.

Agradezco a la Dra. Rosalinda Campuzano por el tiempo que dedico en las revisiones de la tesis, también por sus consejos y recomendaciones.

Agradezco a todos quienes en su momento fueron mis compañeros y amigos del LIPATA, por su apoyo la realización de mi trabajo y apoyo en mi vida personal, especialmente a los Doctores Ulises Jiménez, Karol Dudek y Eduardo Hernández. Muchas gracias.

Y finalmente agradezco infinitamente a mi familia quienes me han apoyado siempre en cada una de mis etapas de formación. A mi madre María del Carmen, a mi padre José Alfredo y a mis hermanas Karen y Carolina.

Table of contents

1	ABS	TRACT	1
2	INT	RODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW	2
	2.1	Organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW)	2
	2.1.1	Potential of OFMSW to biohydrogen production	3
	2.1.2	Potential of OFMSW to methane production	6
	2.2	Biohydrogen production (Dark fermentation)	7
	2.2.1	Microorganisms in biohydrogen production from OFMSW	7
	2.2.2	Effect of trace elements (TE) on bio-hydrogen production	8
	2.3	Methane production (Anaerobic Digestion)1	1
	2.3.1	Use of trace metals in anaerobic digestion1	1
	2.3.2	Optimal doses of trace metals for methane production	3
	2.4	Biogas production in a two stages system from OFMSW14	4
3	THE	SIS STATEMENT-JUSTIFICATION1	6
4	HYF	OTHESIS	6
5	GEN	ERAL AND SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES1	6
	5.1	General Objective	6
	5.2	Specific Objectives	6
6	MET	THODOLOGY	7
	6.1	Characterization of the substrate and inoculum1	8
	6.2	Analytical methods	8
	6.3	Microbial community analysis and data analysis1	8
	6.4	Effect of nickel concentration on biohydrogen production: organic solid waste vs. glucose 19	9
	6.4.1	Batch experiments to test the effect of different concentrations of Ni ²⁺ 1	9
	6.4.2	Effect of Ni ²⁺ on H ₂ production in a Sequencing Batch Reactor	0
	6.5 compar	Biogas production from OFMSW is enhanced by nickel addition in a two stages systemed with a conventional digester	n 0
	6.5.1	Conventional anaerobic digestor (AD conventional single stage)2	1
	6.5.2	2 Two stages system for Ni ²⁺ evaluation	1
	6.6	Nickel and iron addition to improve the biogas production in a two-stage system	3
	6.6.1	Determination of the Fe and Ni concentrations2	3
	6.6.2	Acidogenic digester (first stage)	3
	6.6.3	Methanogenic digester (second stage)	4
7	RES	ULTS AND DISCUSSION2	5
	7.1	Effect of nickel concentration on biohydrogen production: organic solid waste vs. glucose 2:	5
	7.1.1	Operation of the Sequencing Batch Reactor	8

7	.2	Biogas production enhancement from OFMSW in a two stages system by nickel	addition
C	ompare	ed with a conventional digester	
	7.2.1	Conventional anaerobic digestor (a single stage)	
	7.2.2	Acidogenic digester (first stage)	
	7.2.3	Biochemical methane potential assay	
	7.2.4	Methanogenic digester (second stage)	
	7.2.5	Microbial community analysis	
7	.3	Nickel and iron addition to improve the biogas production in a two-stage system	40
	7.3.1	Biohydrogen Potential test	40
	7.3.2	Acidogenic reactor (first stage)	41
	7.3.3	Methanogenic digester (second stage)	42
	7.3.4	Microbial community analysis	44
7	.4	Assessment of biogas production concerning trace metals	46
8	CON	CLUSIONS	47
9	PERS	SPECTIVES	
10	REFE	ERENCES	

List of tables

ste
.4
.6
.9
12
al-
25
32
36
42
43

List of figures

Fig. 1. Dark fermentation steps and microbiological pathways (from Salazar-Batres et al., (2022))4
Fig. 2. Different types of hydrogenases in Clostridia to glycolysis and pyruvate degradation. Modified
from Constant and Hallenbeck, (2019)
Fig. 3. Hydrogen yield and Haldane adjustment of added nickel concentrations per gram of inoculum (as
volatile solid) from different authors (from Salazar-Batres and Moreno-Andrade, (2022))
Fig. 4. Diagram of methodology, section 1
Fig. 5. Diagram of methodology, section 2
Fig. 6. Hydrogen producing reactor
Fig. 7. Bioreactor setup: A) storage tank of the 1 N NaOH solution, B) 1 N NaOH addition pump, C)
influent storage tank, D) influent feed pump, E) pH meter sensor, F) stirrer, G) SBR, H) Heated water
recirculatory, I) Condensates trap, J) Flow meter, K) digestate discharge pump, L) digestate storage tank.
Fig. 8. Biochemical methane potential assay to test the acidogenic effluents
Fig. 9. Methanogenic reactor. (Second stage)
Fig. 10. Two stage system for hydrogen and methane production
Fig. 11. VFA and metabolites generated during batch tests using A) glucose, and B) OFMSW as substrates.
Fig. 12. Plot of concentration predictor effect of Ni ²⁺ on YH ₂ : A) glucose and B) OFMSW28
Fig. 13. A) Hydrogen productivity and yields, and B) generation of metabolites and pH during operation
in SBR applying different initial-added nickel concentrations
Fig. 14. Productivity and yields of methane during operation of a conventional anaerobic digestor (single
stage)
Fig. 15. Productivity and yields of hydrogen during operation at SBR (First stage)
Fig. 16. Generation of VFA during operation in SBR (first stage)
Fig. 17. Cumulative volume of methane produced in batch tests from acidogenic effluents nickel enriched.
Fig. 18. Productivity and yields of methane during operation at SBR (second stage)
Fig. 19. Cluster dendrogram Based on Bray-Curtis distance (A) and relative abundance(B) of microbial
communities at phylum level for SBR in different stages and Ni concentrations. (FS=first stage,
SS=second stage)
Fig. 20. Volcano plot: Genus level. The red dots refer to the significant genera
Fig. 21. A) Ni ²⁺ and Fe ²⁺ effect on hydrogen yield and, B) Ni ²⁺ and Fe ²⁺ effect on volatile solids removal.

Fig. 22. Hydrogen yields and productivities obtained in the acidogenic reactor (first stage). The red arrows
represent the cycles where Fe^{2+} and Ni^{2+} were added
Fig. 23. Methane yields and productivities obtained in the second stage. The blue arrows represent the
cycles where the acidogenic effluents enriched with TM were added43
Fig. 24. Cluster dendrogram Based on Bray-Curtis distance for SBR in the first and second stages. (AR:
Acidogenic reactor or first stage, MR: methanogenic reactor or second stage, C: cycle)44
Fig. 25. Volcano plot for SBR in the first and second stages. The red dots refer to the significant genera.
Fig. 26. Decision tree concerning trace metals supplementation for hydrogen-rich biogas production from
OFMSW
Fig. 27. Decision tree concerning trace metals supplementation for methane-rich biogas production from
acidogenic effluents

List of abbreviations

AD	Anaerobic digestion
AE	Acidogenic effluents
AMPTS II	Automatic methane potential test
ANCOM-BC 2	Analysis of compositions of microbiomes with bias correction
BMP	Biochemical methane potential assay
COD	Chemical oxygen demand
CSTR	Continuous stirred tank reactor
dbRDA	distance-based redundancy analysis
DF	Dark fermentation
FDH	Enzyme formate dehydrogenase
FW	Food waste
HRT	Hydraulic retention time
HY	Hydrogen yield
MCFA	Medium-chain fatty acids
MCR	Methyl coenzyme M reductase
NP	Nanoparticles
OFMSW	Organic fraction of municipal solid waste
OLR	Organic loading rate
OSAD	One stage anaerobic digestion
OFMSW	Organic solid waste
PFL	Pyruvate-formate lyase
PFOR	Pyruvate-ferredoxin oxidoreductase
PLC	Programmable logic controller
rpm	Revolutions per minute
S/I	Substrate/inoculum ratio
SBR	Sequencing Batch Reactor
SMY	Specific methane yield
TM	Trace metals
TS	Total solids
TSAD	Two-stage anaerobic digestion
UASB	Upflow anaerobic sludge bed
VFA	Volatile fatty acids
VS	Volatile solids

 $VS_{inoculum} \quad Volatile \ solids \ of \ inoculum$

1 ABSTRACT

In recent years, alternative renewable energy generation sources have been investigated, highlighting dark fermentation and anaerobic digestion processes due to their potential to obtain hydrogen-rich and methanerich biogas. Different trace metals (TM) intervene in these biological processes. Two of the most important TM are Fe^{2+} and Ni^{2+} since they can improve process stability. These metals are part of cofactors of enzymes and microorganisms' growth. This research was focused on determining the effect of the supplementation of different concentrations of TM on two-stage anaerobic digestion (TSAD) compared with one-stage anaerobic digestion (OSAD). The results showed that it was possible to increase the CH₄productivity and the SMY by 72% and 105%, respectively, by operating in TSAD compared with OSAD. The Ni²⁺ addition improved the stability of the first and second stages, allowing higher biogas production. The microbial communities' composition at phylum level changed in each stage. Regarding Fe^{2+} and Ni^{2+} addition, the TM concentrations that increased the hydrogen yield in batch were 0.25 mg/L of Ni^{2+} and 334 mg/L of Fe²⁺. In the case of the methanogenic reactor, the undiluted AE without TM caused the fast decay of the process. The AE enriched with TM increased the specific methane yield and avoided inhibition. The results showed that when using AE enriched with Fe^{2+} and Ni^{2+} for CH₄-rich biogas production, it was possible to operate stably considering the variations in the OLR due to the concentration of AE.

2 INTRODUCTION AND LITERATURE REVIEW

Anaerobic digestion (AD) is a biological conversion process without an external electron acceptor, such as oxygen (Angelidaki and Sanders, 2004; Metcalf & Eddy, 2003). It involves sequential and parallel steps known as hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis (Choong *et al.*, 2016; Liu *et al.*, 2019). Various wastes have been used as substrates to generate methane-rich biogas, which may be transformed into electrical or thermal energy; thus, an enhancement of efficiency in methane generation from different substrates is proportional to more energy recovery (Nevzorova and Kutcherov, 2019).

Some AD-related issues, such as process instability and low methane yield, limit this technique to a generalized application (Chen *et al.*, 2008). Due to the inadequacy of energy recovery from waste, strategies have been used to increase the biogas yield and achieve more energy production (Li *et al.*, 2019), where the administration of trace metals (TM) is one of the most favorable (Jarvis *et al.*, 1997; Moestedt *et al.*, 2016). Besides the operational parameters in the digester, biogas yield is also determined by the content of macroelements (Bożym *et al.*, 2015; Lar *et al.*, 2010) and trace elements of which several are metals (Pobeheim *et al.*, 2010; Zandvoort *et al.*, 2006) such as Fe, Co and Ni that are part of cofactors of enzymes implicated in the synthesis of methane and the growth of microorganisms (Bougrier *et al.*, 2018). Methanogenesis is considered one of the most metal-rich enzymatic pathways; iron is the most abundant metal, followed by nickel, cobalt and smaller quantities of zinc and molybdenum (Hijazi *et al.*, 2015), which are generally added in excessive amounts, and the above may result in inhibitory effects on the processes (Thanh *et al.*, 2016). For this reason, it is necessary to carry out more research focusing on determining the frequency of TM addition, according to indicators such as the accumulation of volatile fatty acids or low methane yields.

Research related to TM has been focused on the stages of acetogenesis and methanogenesis, therefore, it is important to explore the TM influence in the stages of hydrolysis and acidogenesis since the system requirements at each stage may differ. In a two stages system, it is possible to obtain a H_2 and CH_4 -rich biogas, besides, removal efficiencies of organic matter could increase, the stability of pH and alkalinity improves as well as the C/N ratio (Paudel *et al.*, 2017). With the TM addition in the first stages, higher stability could be achieved, which implies a higher biogas production. Acidogenic effluents (AE) enriched with TM could improve the second stage, allowing the use of high organic loading rates.

2.1 Organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW)

About 2.01 billion tons of municipal solid waste are generated annually. It is estimated that the generation per capita is 0.74 kg; however, the range is broad since it goes from 0.11 to 4.54 kilograms; within the composition of waste generated in high-income countries, food, and green waste account for 32%, while middle and low-income countries generate 53% and 56%, respectively. The composition of urban solid waste may vary depending on the consumption patterns of its population; however, as levels of economic development decline, the fraction of organic waste increases (Kaza *et al.*, 2018). The OFMSW mainly refers to a mixture of food waste, leaf, and yard waste (Cesaro, 2021). The OFMSW composition depends on the place and time of collection for a specific municipality or area, number of inhabitants, their social condition, predominant economic activities, regional food habits, and season (Alibardi and Cossu, 2015a; Campuzano and González-Martínez, 2016), nevertheless, it usually contains high lignocellulosic and fatty fractions due to a large content of food waste, kitchen waste and leftovers from residences, cafeterias, and markets (Shah *et al.*, 2016).

A simulated OFMSW has been prepared to be used as a substrate in biohydrogen production. Alavi-Borazjani *et al.*, (2021), elaborated a complex OFMSW that contained 95% of food waste (fruit and vegetables, cooked pasta and rice, cooked meat and fish, bread and bakery, cheese, and biscuits) and 5% paper. Similarly, Yeshanew *et al.*, (2018) elaborated a substrate that contained 7% beef meat, 3.9% coffee,

4.3% rice, 20.9% potatoes, 5.1% bread, 5.1% garden waste, 1.9% yogurt, 31.7% white office paper, 16.7% packing cardboard, and 3.4% color cardboard; the composition of these substrates is similar to the OFMSW described in studies where the sample was taken directly from a waste separation plant (Alibardi and Cossu, 2015a; Cesaro, 2021; Ebrahimian and Karimi, 2020; Shah *et al.*, 2016). However, in other studies, OFMSW was simulated using food waste from cafeterias or restaurants, and it was mixed with paper. Escamilla-Alvarado *et al.*, (2015, 2013) performed the mixture de food waste and office paper at 60:40 ratio. Gómez *et al.*, (2006) and Redondas *et al.*, (2015) prepared a substrate with 10% banana, 10% apple, 10% orange, 35% cabbage, 25% potatoes, 8% bread, and 2% paper. Muñoz-Páez *et al.*, (2012) and Valdez-Vazquez *et al.*, (2006) prepared a substrate that contained 40% of paper and 60% food waste. The last examples correspond to mixtures with a smaller variety of residues. According to Alibardi and Cossu, (2015a), the different origins and compositions of the organic waste samples, coupled with different process conditions, might affect the high variability of hydrogen production yields. The high variation in the OFMSW characteristic result in differences in the H₂ production.

Physicochemical characterization of different samples of OFMSW may vary according to its composition since it has been reported that the TS content ranges from 19.3 to 75%. The OFMSW samples with a higher percentage of moisture are those that contain more fruits and vegetable waste; whereas, when it contains more than 40% of paper and cardboard waste, the moisture is lower, as in the case of the OFMSW used by Paillet *et al.*, (2021, 2020), which was reconstructed according to the characteristics of the OFMSW collected in France. The carbohydrate concentration in OFMSW varies, as reported by various authors as Sharma and Melkania, (2018a, 2018b, 2018c), who indicate that the OFMSW samples from a municipal landfill located in Uttarakhand, India, presented different carbohydrate contents ranged from 31.4 ± 2.42 to 48.6 ± 5.21 g/L even though the sample was collected from the same location. Carbohydrates content is crucial since it has been found that there is a linear correlation between its content and the production of hydrogen-rich biogas; also, the chemical composition of the substrates has an influence on the final products of dark fermentation (Alibardi and Cossu, 2016a).

2.1.1 Potential of OFMSW to biohydrogen production

Dark Fermentation has been proposed as a promising technique to produce clean hydrogen due to its low chemical energy requirement and, therefore, more environmentally friendly compared to the conventional chemical process (Jarunglumlert *et al.*, 2018). This biological process is divided into two stages which are hydrolysis and acidogenesis (Fig. 1). During hydrolysis, complex organic polymers are hydrolysed into simple soluble organic compounds; subsequently, the generation of volatile fatty acids, H₂, CO₂, and other intermediates occurs during the acidogenesis (Angeriz-Campoy *et al.*, 2018). H₂ is the cleanest carbon-free fuel with the highest energy content (120 MJ/kg) compared to methane (50 MJ/kg), gasoline (44 MJ/kg), and ethanol (26.8 MJ/kg) (Ebrahimian and Karimi, 2020); however, worldwide hydrogen production mainly comes from fossil fuel technologies (>95%) and only 1% of H₂ is produced from biomass (Dauptain *et al.*, 2012). Hence, hydrogen production by the process of dark fermentation using OFMSW has a promising potential for biofuels generation and high-value products (Ebrahimian and Karimi, 2020; Kobayashi *et al.*, 2012) since there are numerous studies where relatively high yields have been achieved, as shown in Table 1.



Fig. 1. Dark fermentation steps and microbiological pathways (from Salazar-Batres et al., (2022)).

Bio-hydrogen yields and productivities reported vary widely due to different operational parameters used in each experiment, such as hydraulic retention time (HRT), substrate concentration, organic loading rate (OLR), temperature, and pH (Castelló *et al.*, 2020). The optimum pH is specific to each type of substrate (Ziara *et al.*, 2019). According to Baldi *et al.*, (2019b), it is possible to increase the hydrogen production if the pH value is maintained between 5 and 6.5 since the metabolic pathways of acetate and butyrate predominate under these conditions. On the other hand, strongly acidic or basic pHs negatively affect the activity of hydrogen-producing bacteria since ATP would be used to ensure cell neutrality rather than to produce hydrogen. Additionally, hydrogen production could be affected by pH values less than five since hydrogenase activity could be inhibited. Moreover, low pH values are favorable for *Clostridium* sp. to produce solvents such as ethanol, butanol, and acetone rather than hydrogen (Akhlaghi and Najafpour-Darzi, 2020).

Due to the possibility of keeping the dark fermentation process stable operating at pH close to 5.5, numerous experiments have been carried out under these conditions (Bru *et al.*, 2012; Cuetos *et al.*, 2007; Gómez *et al.*, 2006; Lavagnolo *et al.*, 2018; Redondas *et al.*, 2015; Sharma and Melkania, 2018b, 2018c; Tyagi et al., 2014). Favaro *et al.*, (2013), proved that when batch reactors are operated at a pH of 5.5, a higher hydrogen yield can be obtained (70.1±4.1 mLH₂/gVS) against a yield of 23.4 ± 2.9 mLH₂/gVS when operated at a pH of 7. Baldi *et al.*, (2019b) achieved better control over the fermentation process in terms of kinetics and pH stability when using an automatic pH control strategy since adding a buffer solution at the beginning of the experiment was not enough to maintain adequate control. They obtained the highest yields in the same study with maximum average values ranging from 68.5 and 88.5 LH₂/KgTVS operating at pH of 5.5 and 6.5. However, Kvesitadze *et al.*, (2012), carried out the operation of a batch reactor with a pH of 9, being possible to inhibit the methanogenic activity. It was noticed that the percentage of hydrogen in bioH₂ produced at initial pH 9.0 and pH 5.5 was almost equal. Nonetheless, a significant difference was noted in cumulative production of gas, being 3.5 times higher in operation with a pH of 9 than the one with a pH of 5.5.

Table 1. Biohydrogen yield on different reactor types using organic fraction municipal solid waste (OFMSW) as substrate (from Salazar-Batres *et al.*, (2022)).

Reactor type *	Conditions**	pH	%H ₂ in gas	H ₂ Yield	Reference
Batch	I/S ratio: 0.5, T 55°C	7.0		$62.5 \ LH_2 / kgVS_{added}$	(Alavi-Borazjani <i>et al.</i> , 2021a)
Batch	T 34 °C		22±0.9	30 LH ₂ /kgVS _{added}	(Redondas et al., 2015)
Batch	$T 35 \pm 1^{\circ}C$	7.5		$85\pm 3 \text{ BHP } LH_2/kgVS$	(Alibardi and Cossu, 2015a)

Batch	I/S ratio: 5% w/w. OLR 16 VS/kg/d, HRT 24 h, T 38 \pm 2°C		47	$99 \ mL \ H_2/gVS_{removed}$	(Alzate-Gaviria et al., 2007)
Batch	$T~38.0^{\circ}C \pm 1.0^{\circ}C$	6.5		104.5±0.7 LH ₂ /kgTVS	(Baldi et al., 2019b)
Batch	I/S ratio: 10 gVS substrate/gVS inoculum, T 37±1 °C	6.0		31.6 LH ₂ /kgVS	(Cesaro et al., 2020)
Batch	S ₀ /X ₀ 20±5 (gVS/gVS), T 37 °C	6.0		40±3 LH ₂ /kgVS _{added}	(Dauptain et al., 2021)
Batch	Stirred manually twice a day, T 37 °C	5.5-8.9		119.7 LH ₂ /kgVS	(Dong et al., 2010)
Batch	Stirred at 160 rpm, T 37°C	6.8		151 LH ₂ /kg of substrate	(Ebrahimian and Karimi, 2020)
Batch	I/S ratio: 1 gVS/gVS, T 35±2°C	5.5		$70.1\pm4.1~LH_2/kgVS$	(Favaro et al., 2013)
Batch	F/M=6, T 35±1 °C	5.5		29.8 LH ₂ /kgVS	(Lavagnolo et al., 2018)
Batch	S/I ratio 10, T 37 °C	6.0		$40.8\pm0.5~LH_2/kgVS$	(Paillet et al., 2020)
Batch	HRT 60 h, T 30 °C	7.9	46.7	246.93 LH ₂ /kgTVS	(Sekoai and Kana, 2014)
Batch	T 37°C	7.0	39	61 L H ₂ /kgVS _{added}	(Shah et al., 2016)
Batch	T 37°C	5.5	67.9	43.68 LH ₂ /kgCarbo	(Sharma and Melkania, 2018a)
Batch	T 55°C	5.5	36%	51 LH ₂ /kgVS _{removed}	(Tyagi et al., 2014)
Batch	The substrate to inoculum ratio (S/I) was 20 gVS _{substrate} /gVS _{inoculum} , T 35±2°C			41.7±2.3 mL H ₂ /gVS _{added}	(Yeshanew et al., 2018)
Batch	Stirred at 50 rpm, T 55°C	9.0	50%	82.5 LH ₂ /kgVS	(Kvesitadze et al., 2012)
UASB	the UASB was filled with the inocula UASB suspension (2 g/L) and sucrose (3.85 L), 5.7 51% 127 HRT 24 h, T 38±2°C		127 LH ₂ /kgVS _{removed}	(Alzate-Gaviria et al., 2007)	
CSTR	OLR 36 ± 2 gVS L/L d, HRT 3 d, Stirred at 100 rpm, T $55 \pm 1^{\circ}$ C	5.7	$35\pm4\%$	$60{\pm}4~LH_2/kgVS_{added}$	(Tenca et al., 2011)
CSTR	OLR 16 kg TVS/m3 d, HRT 3d, T 55°C			29±5 LH2/kgTVSadded	(Zahedi et al., 2016)
Semi- continuous	OLR 75.6 (g TVS/L/d) HRT 1.9 d, Stirred at 12 rpm, T 55±0.5 °C		51.0±1.5	50.9 LH ₂ /kgVS _{added}	(Angeriz-Campoy et al., 2017)
Semi- continuous	HRT 1.2 d, T 55°C	5.5	52.4	$33.8 \ LH_2 / kgVS_{added}$	(Angeriz-Campoy <i>et al.</i> , 2018)
Semi- continuous	OLR 66 gTVS/L/d, Stirred at 12 rpm, T 55°C	5.5	44	$38 \ LH_2/kgVS_{added}$	(Angeriz-Campoy et al., 2015)
Semi- continuous	T 34°C	5.0-6.0	24.7	N.A.	(Cuetos et al., 2007)
Semi- continuous	OLR 8.6 gSV/kg/d, T 55°C	6.3		123 mLH ₂ /kg/d	(Escamilla-Alvarado <i>et al.,</i> 2013)

* continuous stirred tank reactor (CSTR), Upflow anaerobic sludge bed (UASB),

**Inoculum/substrate ratio (I/S), Temperature (T), Initial Substrate to Microorganisms ratio (S₀/X₀), Hydraulic Retention Time (HRT).

Hydrogen production from OFMSW may also be influenced by temperature; the operational ranges are mesophilic (25-40 °C), thermophilic (40-65 °C), extreme thermophilic (65-80 °C), or hyperthermophilic (>80 °C) (Gopalakrishnan *et al.*, 2019). The structure of the bacterial community and the metabolic pathways are affected by varying the temperature (Toledo-Alarcón *et al.*, 2018). Most of the experiments on this subject have been carried out under mesophilic conditions (Alibardi and Cossu, 2015a; Alzate-Gaviria *et al.*, 2007; Baldi *et al.*, 2019b; Bru *et al.*, 2012; Cesaro *et al.*, 2020; Cuetos *et al.*, 2007; Dauptain *et al.*, 2010; Ebrahimian and Karimi, 2020; Favaro *et al.*, 2013; Gómez *et al.*, 2006; Lavagnolo *et al.*, 2018; Lay *et al.*, 1999; Paillet *et al.*, 2021; Redondas *et al.*, 2015; Sekoai and Kana, 2014; Shah *et al.*, 2016; Sharma and Melkania, 2018b, 2018c, 2018a; Yeshanew *et al.*, 2018) with a prevailing range of 35 to 37 ° C. On the other hand, in the experiments carried out under thermophilic conditions, the temperature of 55 ° C predominates (Alavi-Borazjani *et al.*, 2021; Angeriz-Campoy *et al.*, 2015, 2017, 2018; Escamilla-Alvarado *et al.*, 2013; Kumar Tyagi *et al.*, 2014; Kvesitadze *et al.*, 2012; Tenca *et al.*, 2011; Tyagi *et al.*, 2014; Zahedi *et al.*, 2016).

Valdez-Vazquez *et al.*, (2005), evaluated the effect of temperature in the mesophilic and thermophilic regime of semicontinuous, acidogenic solid substrate anaerobic digestion of the OFMSW, obtaining as a result that under thermophilic conditions, it is possible to obtain a higher percentage of hydrogen 58% and 42%, respectively and a higher yield 360 N mL H_2/g VS_{removed} than those obtained in 42% mesophilic

conditions and 165 N mL H₂/g VS_{removed}. In general, under thermophilic conditions, several benefits are obtained, such as higher process rates, better sanitation, higher degradation of persistent organics, higher bioavailability of absorbed compounds for degradation, and higher solubility of hydrophobic compounds (Tyagi *et al.*, 2018). However, extreme thermophilic conditions may not be self-supported due to intensive-energy requirements to maintain the high temperatures (Gopalakrishnan *et al.*, 2019).

Another critical factor to consider besides the operational parameters is the inoculum since influenced greatly the hydrogen yields and final microbial communities. Therefore, it is necessary to add it to start the hydrogen production process (mainly for the evaluation of H₂ potential test in batch process), whose primary requirement for an efficient H₂ production process is linked to the availability of mixed microbial consortia in which H₂-consuming and non-hydrogen producing bacteria are suppressed (Dauptain *et al.*, 2021; Favaro *et al.*, 2013). To increase H₂ production through proper inoculum selection, it is necessary to remove hydrogen-consuming and non-hydrogen-producing bacteria from mixed microbial consortia; for this, several pretreatment methods have been proposed, including heat treatment acidification, basification, aeration, or freezing (Favaro *et al.*, 2013). Heat shock pretreatment predominates among the pretreatments used in hydrogen production from OFMSW since it is possible to gather hydrogen producers and inactivate methanogens (Akhlaghi *et al.*, 2019a).

2.1.2 Potential of OFMSW to methane production

Biogas produced through AD of renewable feedstocks such as OFMSW is one of the most promising alternatives to fossil-derived energy. AD is suitable for converting diverse and complex feedstocks into methane-rich biogas (Sawatdeenarunat *et al.*, 2015). Methane production from OFMSW can be obtained under wet (<10% total solids) or solid (>20% total solids), mesophilic (35–40 °C) or thermophilic (>55 °C), batch or continuous, and single or two stage systems (Zeshan *et al.*, 2012). Table 2 summarizes the yields obtained during the production of methane-rich biogas from OFMSW of various origins.

Reactor type	Feedstock	Conditions	CH ₄ Yield (mL CH ₄ /gVS)	Reference
Batch	OFMSW	35 °C, reaction 30 d	196	(Jojoa-Unigarro and
				González-Martínez,
				2023)
SBR	Food waste from a	37 °C, HRT 10.4 d, OLR	275	(Jiménez-Ocampo et
	market	10 gVS/L·d		al., 2021)
Semicontinuous	Food waste from a	37 °C, HRT 20 d, OLR	184	(Ma et al., 2020)
	canteen	5.5 gVS/L·d		
Semicontinuous	Food waste sorted	HRT 17 d, 35 °C, OLR	694	(Baldi et al., 2019a)
	from OFMSW	$2.5 \text{ kgVS/m}^3 \cdot \text{d}$		
Semicontinuous	Food waste from a	35 °C, OLR 2.4 gVS/L	437	(Zhang et al., 2019)
	canteen	·d, HRT 25 d		
CSTR	Fruit and vegetable	HRT 30 d, 37 °C, OLR	328	(Shen et al., 2013)
	waste and food	4.0 gVS/L·d		
	waste			

Table 2. Literature review of potential of OFMSW to methane production.

The yields obtained vary according to the operating conditions, pH, temperature, OLR, and HRT. The composition of the feedstock is another parameter that has a direct impact on the recovery of biogas rich in methane. The OFMSW feedstock quality is assessed based on organic matter separation, solubilization, and biodegradability condition (Cesaro and Belgiorno, 2014).

2.2 Biohydrogen production (Dark fermentation)

Biological hydrogen production is a promising alternative for the production of fuel from low-cost, renewable, and environmentally friendly resources (Akhlaghi and Najafpour-Darzi, 2020), such as the OFMSW, since it represents several benefits that combine waste minimization, energy recovery, and valorization (Yeshanew *et al.*, 2018); it provides an ecological solution for managing organic waste since it is possible to convert this waste into biofuel (Sharma and Melkania, 2018c). The high calorific power of OFMSW makes it a suitable substrate for bioenergy generation (Paillet *et al.*, 2021) due to its rich content of carbohydrates, biodegradability (Sekoai and Kana, 2014), and also because it is all year available and apparently free of cost (Escamilla-Alvarado *et al.*, 2015).

2.2.1 Microorganisms in biohydrogen production from OFMSW

Microorganisms in dark fermentation process belongs to obligate or facultative anaerobes (Mathews and Wang, 2009), with particular metabolic pathways in which different types of enzymes and coenzymes are involved, leading to differential yields of H₂. The substrate composition influences the microbial composition and determine the dominance of some group of microorganisms (Zahedi *et al.*, 2014). The H₂ producing bacteria can be divided into three groups: spore-forming obligate anaerobes (e.g., *Clostridium* spp.), non-spore-forming obligate anaerobes (belong to the phylum Firmicutes and Bacteroidetes), and facultative anaerobes with fermentative metabolism (e.g., members of the Enterobacteriaceae and Bacillaceae families, among which genera such *as Enterobacter* and *Bacillus*, respectively (Cabrol *et al.*, 2017).

The heterogeneous composition of the OFMSW as substrate promote the growth of a complex community in dark fermentation. A positive interaction can be obtained from microorganisms that are not capable to produce H_2 or with low-efficient H_2 producers, including the regulation of O_2 presence (e.g., *Bacillus*, *Klebsiella*), the acidification of the media (e.g., lactic acid bacteria), and the oxidation of short chain fatty acids, preventing their accumulation and achieving a buffering effect (e.g., *Leuconostocaeae*, *Streptococcaeae*) (Cabrol *et al.*, 2017).

In the particular case of organic solid waste reactors for H₂ production, some non-usual H₂ producers has been reported as dominant species including some consumers of lactic acids as *Megasphaera* or propionic acid as *Syntrophobacter*, *Syntrophomonas* (Moreno-Andrade *et al.*, 2015), of microorganisms that produce formation of granules (as *Prevotella*, *Klebsiella*), preventing the washing or loss of biomass and offering barriers against toxic or hostile environments for hydrogen producing bacterias (Cabrol *et al.*, 2017; Liang *et al.*, 2010).

The majority of microbial studies for H_2 production has been wide studied in wastewater and simple or synthetic substrates (e.g., glucose) resulting in the mainly dominance of *Clostridium* spp. However, the reports for OFMSW reflect other dominance genera associated to the complexity of the substrate. Elsamadony *et al.* (2015), reported a microbial consortium with 92–93% affiliated to *Enterobacter, Escherichia, Buttiauxella*, and *Pantoea* as the H₂-producing bacteria. *Bacillus* sp. has been also demonstrated their ability to convert OFMSW into H₂ (Shah et al., 2016).

In case of high solid process phylogenetic analysis of samples revealed the dominance of *Pseudomonas fulva* with similarity of 99% (Elsamadony *et al.*, 2015). The presence/dominance of facultative anaerobes (e.g. Enterobacteriaceae, *Bacillus, Shewanella, Pseudomonas*), alone or in combination, have been reported to be preferable under real variable and unsterile conditions, and enabled to reach similar or higher H_2 yields than the conventional process with *Clostridium* spp. dominance, especially under very specific operating conditions such as recalcitrant substrate (Cabrol *et al.*, 2017).

The microbial dynamic change as the reactors are acclimated, reducing the microbial diversity. Paillet *et al.*, (2021) reported the reduction of abundance of microorganisms from the beginning of reactor operation

using OFMSW (Pseudomonadales, Clostridiales, Lactobacillales and Bacillales) shift of the microbial community with the dominance of Clostridiales and Lactobacillales (relative abundances ranging from 37 to 63% and from 5% to 60%, respectively) showing good stability on the microbial community. Concerning the Lactobacillales order, all the species observed were related to the genus *Lactobacillus* (five species obtained, described all as lactate producers). The equilibrium observed between Lactobacillales and Clostridiales can be related to the stable H_2 production, since species as *C. beijerinckii* and *C. butyricum* are able to consume lactate and acetate to produce butyrate and hydrogen (García-Depraect *et al.*, 2019). The role of lactic acid bacteria on the H_2 production, specially from OFMSW, need to be studied in order to develop an efficient process.

2.2.2 Effect of trace elements (TE) on bio-hydrogen production

To improve the capacity of a biogas plant and create more favorable conditions for the microorganisms present in the bioreactor, adequate availability of micro and macronutrients are required, mainly when single substrates rather than complex mixtures of materials are used. Besides essential macronutrients such as carbon (C), nitrogen (N), phosphorus (P), and Sulphur (S), the anaerobes also require the growing factor of trace elements at relatively lower concentrations (Choong *et al.*, 2016; Nordell *et al.*, 2016; Pobeheim *et al.*, 2010). A trace element is a chemical element whose concentration is very low, these elements are essential components of cofactors and enzymes (Hijazi *et al.*, 2020; Thanh *et al.*, 2016).

Trace elements play an essential role in the metabolic physiology and proliferation of bacteria producing hydrogen during fermentation. The enzymes that catalyze the hydrogen production reactions are classified as [Fe-Fe]–hydrogenases, [Ni-Fe]-hydrogenases, and [Ni–Fe–Se]-hydrogenases. The [Ni-Fe]-hydrogenase consist of a [Ni-Fe]-active site and three FeS clusters. In turn, the active sites of [Fe-Fe]-hydrogenase include an Fe_2S_2 core connected to an Fe_4S_4 cluster acting as a ligand. Hydrogenases capture electrons from reduced ferredoxin, resulting in the formation of molecular hydrogen. The primary function of [Fe-Ni] active site is reducing protons using electrons transfer by Fe-S clusters. [Fe-Ni] Hydrogenases are efficient biological catalysts, which can interconvert protons, electrons, and molecular hydrogen (Chen *et al.*, 2021; Cieciura-Włoch *et al.*, 2020).

Biohydrogen is produced by two different pathways where carbohydrates can be consumed, producing pyruvate, which is later converted to acetyl coenzyme A. Both pyruvate and acetyl coenzyme A can be reduced by pyruvate-ferredoxin oxidoreductase (PFOR) or pyruvate-formate lyase (PFL). Microorganisms are limited to produce only 2 mol of biohydrogen once they are driven by PFL pathway because they are not able to assimilate NADH for the formation of more biohydrogen. NADH may be oxidized if microorganisms take pathway PFOR, since this metabolic route allows [FeFe]- hydrogenases not only to promote this oxidization but also accelerate this process. Basically, biohydrogen production is carried through pyruvate-ferredoxin oxidoreductase (PFOR) and in small amounts through NADH-ferredoxin oxidoreductase (NFOR). These enzymatic complexes transfer electrons to [FeFe]-hydrogenase, which is responsible for biohydrogen production by a reversible reduction of protons accumulated throughout fermentation (do Nascimento Junior *et al.*, 2021). According to Constant and Hallenbeck, (2019), there are various possibilities for the connection of different hydrogenases in Clostridia to glycolysis and pyruvate degradation. Fig. 2 shows [FeFe]-hydrogenases and the pyruvate junction of metabolism.



Fig. 2. Different types of hydrogenases in Clostridia to glycolysis and pyruvate degradation. Modified from Constant and Hallenbeck, (2019).

In this way, various investigations have been carried out to several experiments to find the optimal doses of TE to enhance the production of hydrogen (Table 3). Low and high concentrations of these TE may cause low hydrogen yields and production rates because of nutrient limitations and the inhibitory effects of high concentrations; for this reason, optimization of essential nutrient concentrations for different substrates and microbial cultures is an important issue; this intention can be assessed by varying its concentration within a desired interval where all other factors are kept constant (Argun and Onaran, 2017).

Substrate	Inoculum	Trace element used	Concentrations	Reactor type and operational conditions	Yield	Reference
Acid hydrolysed WPT hydrolysate was used as substrate	Anaerobic sludge heat- treated	Fe added as FeSO ₄ *7H ₂ O	C/N/P/Fe ratio 100/5/9/0.278	Batch pH: 6.7 Temperature: 37 °C	0.656 mol H ₂ /mol glucose	(Argun and Onaran, 2017)
Cheese whey wastewater	Granular anaerobic heat- treated	Co, Ni, Zn, (1.3 mg/L and Fe (50 mg/L)		Batch pH= 5.5 Temperature: 36 °C	3.5 mol H ₂ /mol lactose consumed and 218.6 ml H ₂ /g lactose consumed	(Azbar <i>et al.,</i> 2009a)
Waste activated sludge	Anaerobic digested sludge heat-treated	Ni ²⁺	5 mg/L	Batch pH: 7.0 Temperature: 35 °C.	0.48 mL H ₂ /mg COD	(Chen <i>et al.,</i> 2021)
The experiments were performed	Anaerobic sludge heat- treated	Fe added as Fe ₂ O ₃	0.1 g Fe ₂ O ₃ /dm ³	Batch pH: 5.5 Temperature: 35°C.	200 dm ³ H ₂ /kg VS	(Cieciura- Włoch <i>et al.</i> , 2020)

Table 3. Effect of trace elements on bio-hydrogen production.

using sugar beet pulp						
Sugar beet pulp	Anaerobic sludge heat- treated	Fe added as Fe ₂ O ₃	1 g Fe ₂ O ₃ /dm ³	Semi-continuous Temperature 35 ± 1 °C.	52.11 dm ³ H ₂ /kg VS	(Cieciura- Włoch <i>et al.,</i> 2020)
Fruit and Vegetable Wastes		Fe, Co, Ni, Zn	Fe (7.5), Co (8.71), Ni (29.48), Zn (79.76) mg/L	Batch Initial pH:7 Temperature: 55 ± 1 °C.	31-76 mL H ₂ /g VS	(Keskin <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2018)
OFMSW	<i>E. coli</i> cell suspension and <i>Enterobacter</i> <i>aerogenes</i> cell suspension	Fe as ferric oxid	100 mg/L	Batch pH: 5.5 Temperature: 37°C	$\begin{array}{l} 872.5\pm10.1 \text{ mL and} \\ 58.7 \text{ mL } H_2/g \\ Carbohydrates_{initial} \end{array}$	(Sharma and Melkania, 2018d)
Glucose	Sewage sludge heat-treated	Fe	200 mg Fe ²⁺ /L	Batch pH: 5.5 Temperature: 37 °C.	$\begin{array}{c} 217.4 \pm 4.2 \ ml \ H_2/g \\ glucose \end{array}$	(Zhang <i>et</i> <i>al.</i> , 2017)

According to the literature review, different concentrations of TE have been proposed to increase hydrogen production. As reported by Soltan *et al.*, (2019) the optimum dosages of Ca^{2+} , Fe^{2+} , Mg^{2+} , Zn^{2+} and Na^+ required for H₂ production were previously recorded in the range of 3000, 100–300, 100–600, 12 and 350–1000 mg/L, respectively. Meanwhile, Chen *et al.*, (2021) indicates that adding a concentration of 5 mg Ni²⁺/L to dark fermentation process using waste active sludge as substrate can increase cumulative H₂ production by 29%, however, 0.1 mg/L Ni²⁺ concentration was found optimum for H₂ generation from glucose (Wang and Wan, 2008). There is no optimal dose of TE that can be applied in a general way since it is strongly dependent on the types of microorganisms present in the inoculum and the substrate used. Therefore, experiments carried out with different TE, on different substrates, and under different conditions are important to identify the doses that can increase hydrogen yields (Keskin *et al.*, 2018), mainly in complex substrates such as OFMSW.

Different doses of nickel have been tested to stimulate the DF process from substrate easily degradable such as glucose and sucrose; however, it is necessary to understand the effect of nickel on more complex substrates as OFMSW. Fig. 3 shows the information reported in the literature for the hydrogen yields obtained by using nickel to stimulate the DF process (Bing-Feng *et al.*, 2009; Chen *et al.*, 2021b; Li and Fang, 2007a; Lin and Lay, 2005a; Mullai *et al.*, 2013a; Taherdanak *et al.*, 2016a; Wang and Wan, 2008b) The Ni²⁺ concentrations were adjusted for each gram of volatile solids of inoculum (VS_{inoculum}) added to the reactors since the Ni²⁺/VS ratio led to the possible stimulation/inhibition effect on the process (Hickey *et al.*, 1989).



Fig. 3. Hydrogen yield and Haldane adjustment of added nickel concentrations per gram of inoculum (as volatile solid) from different authors (from Salazar-Batres and Moreno-Andrade, (2022)).

The highest hydrogen yields were obtained between $0.5-4 \text{ mgNi}^{2+}/\text{gVS}_{\text{inoculum}}$. When nickel concentrations increase, performance decreases due to the inhibition of microbial communities exposed to high concentrations of this metal; or it also may be due to nickel causing a radical change in fermentation towards amino acids pathway and away from carbohydrate metabolism. Concentrations above 1 mg/L of nickel generated a hostile environment for the methanogenic process. In comparison, some hydrolytic bacteria species are inhibited when nickel concentrations higher than 12 mg/L are present in the digesters (Ashley *et al.*, 1982).

2.3 Methane production (Anaerobic Digestion)

Anaerobic digestion (AD) is a biological conversion process without an external electron acceptor such as oxygen (Angelidaki and Sanders, 2004; Metcalf & Eddy, 2003). It involves sequential and parallel steps known as hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis, and methanogenesis (Choong *et al.*, 2016; Li *et al.*, 2019). These steps are carried out by groups of microorganisms e.g. fermenting bacteria, syntrophic acetogens, homoacetogens, and methanogenic archaea (Li et al., 2012). AD is an attractive technology to produce methane-rich biogas and suitability for the integration of a wide variety of process configurations and scales (Fermoso *et al.*, 2015). Various wastes have been used as substrates to generate methane-rich biogas, which may be transformed into electrical or thermal energy; thus, an enhancement of efficiency in methane generation from different substrates is proportional to more energy recovery in the anaerobic digestion (Li *et al.*, 2019; Nevzorova and Kutcherov, 2019).

2.3.1 Use of trace metals in anaerobic digestion

Many kinds of substrates have been used in AD process for biogas production, including waste-activated sludge, food waste, farm waste, agricultural waste, and wastewater (Li *et al.*, 2019). However, some waste such as energy crops, agroindustry residues, and food waste are poor in TM (Demirel and Scherer, 2011; Schmidt *et al.*, 2014). In addition to the above, TM suitability strongly depends on the type of substrate (Abdelsalam *et al.*, 2017a). TM addition is needed to achieve higher methane yields, especially in mono-digestion. Many studies have been performed using different types of waste mostly food waste (Banks *et al.*, 2011; Capson-Tojo *et al.*, 2018; Facchin *et al.*, 2013; Ko *et al.*, 2018; Parra-Orobio *et al.*, 2018; Qiang *et al.*, 2013, 2012; Zhang and Jahng, 2012; Wanli Zhang *et al.*, 2015; Wanqin Zhang *et al.*, 2016; Zhang *et al.*, 2014; Zhen *et al.*, 2015), maize silage (Evranos and Demirel, 2015; Gustavsson *et al.*, 2011, 2011; Pobeheim *et al.*, 2010; Wall *et al.*, 2014), slurry (Abdelsalam *et al.*, 2017b), methanol (Zandvoort *et al.*, 2003), wheat stillage (Schmidt *et al.*, 2014) and molasses stillage (Espinosa et al., 1995). Micronutrients such as TM are associated with reactor performance. TM insufficiency may result in a negative effect on

potential biomethane yields (Wall *et al.*, 2014). Hence, effective biogas production requires optimal conditions of temperature, partial pressure, pH, hydraulic retention time, nature of substrate, adequate C/N ratio, stirring intensity, trace elements concentration, microbes balance, and digester size (Fermoso *et al.*, 2015; Garuti *et al.*, 2018; Sambo *et al.*, 1995). TM supplementation responses also depend on several factors, including the composition of the substrate, the source of inoculum, or the operational mode of an anaerobic digester (Hinken *et al.*, 2008). Table 4 compiles the TM concentrations added to the AD process in addition to the operating conditions such as pH, temperature, stirring, type of reactor, and operation.

As a result of the complex aqueous chemistry and syntrophic biological processes, TM bioavailability is affected by operational parameters such as pH since it can affect the concentration of metals in the solution phase (Thanh et al., 2016; Filgueiras et al., 2002). Metals precipitation or chelation may occur due to pH or buffering capacity adjustment through the external addition of certain chemicals (Evranos and Demirel, 2015). In the research carried out by Callander and Barford (1983), they concluded that metal solubility increases when the pH levels change from 7.0 to 7.5. The experiments carried out by Lo et al., (2009) proved that TM such as Cr, Ni, and Zn have different solubility levels according to pH. Different pH values have been reported in research related to the use of TM to improve AD process performance in batch tests (Banks et al., 2011; Capson-Tojo et al., 2018). According to Fermoso et al., (2015), an increase in the pH value can decrease cationic metals. The reactor stirring plays a significant role in methane production. Different stirring regimes have been reported including continuous stirring (Nordell et al., 2016; Qiang et al., 2013; Wanli Zhang et al., 2015), manual agitation (Ko et al., 2018; Parra-Orobio et al., 2018), and intermittent agitation (Ashley et al., 1982; Capson-Tojo et al., 2018; Gustavsson et al., 2011; Noonari et al., 2019; Pobeheim et al., 2010). Stirring influences the distribution of nutrients, substrate, and microorganisms leading to the TM distribution in the reactor and preventing precipitation (Heyer et al., 2020; Liu et al., 2018; Wang et al., 2017).

The effect of TM may be different according to the inoculum characteristics and origin since the microbial population could be different (De Vrieze *et al.*, 2015). It is crucial to consider the initial inoculum characteristics such as TM content, nutrients, and enzymatic activity of inoculums when the effects of different inoculums in AD are compared. The substrate degradation and biogas production is frequently studied; nevertheless, the composition and characterization of the inoculums are not investigated (Gu *et al.*, 2014). Parra-Orobio *et al.*, (2018) studied the effect of inoculum (from a municipal and two agro-industrial wastewater treatment plants) in AD of food waste and concluded that the TM concentration in the inoculum had an essential impact on the performance of the AD processes operated in batch mode or at the early stages of a semicontinuous digester operation.

Regimen	pН	Temp. (°C)	Stirring	HRT (d)	OLR	Substrate	Inoculum	TM addition	Ref.
Batch	7	37	50 rpm (6 min, 3 times/h)			Primary settled sludge	Primary settled sludge		(Ashley et al., 1982)
	7	37				Synthetic mixture of butyric 28 mmol/L VFA, propionic 116 mmol/L VFA and acetic 213 mmol/L VFA.		Ni (1.86–199), Co (3.07–3.58), Se (0– 0.11) and Mo (0.76– 1.17) (mg/L)	(Ezebuiro <i>et al.</i> , 2018)
	8	36	60 rpm			A mix of propionic, acetic acid, glucose, starch, and ammonia	lab. food waste digester	Se 0.2, Mo 0.2, Co 1, and W 0.2, (mg/L)	(Banks <i>et al.,</i> 2011)
	7	37	70 rpm, 1 min every 30 min			Canola straw with buffalo dung, and banana waste plant with buffalo dung	continuous stirred tank reactor (CSTR)	0.4, 0.5, 0.81, 1.22, and 1.63 mg of Fe ₃ O ₄ magnetite nanoparticles	(Noonari <i>et al.,</i> 2019)

Table 4. Summary of the operating conditions in the treatment of organic waste using trace metals

	8.1	37	40 rpm (1 min, every 10 min)			Food waste	industrial plant treating different organic streams	Fe 100, Co 1, Mo 5, Ni 5, Se 0.2, Cu 0.1, Mn (mg/L)	(Capson-Tojo et al., 2018)	
	7-8	37	400 rpm (15 min, 4 times/d)			Wheat stillage	pilot scale biogas plant	Co 0.5, Ni 0.2, and Fe 500 (mg/L)	(Gustavsson et al., 2011)	
	8	35	Manual stirring twice a day			Food waste	secondary sedimentation tank	1 mg Ni ²⁺	(Ko <i>et al.,</i> 2018)	
	7	35	Intermittent manual stirring	32		Food waste	Sugar industry Slaughter of cattle and pigs Municipal wastewater treatment plant	Ca, K, Fe, Zn, Al, Mg, Co, Ni, and Mo	(Parra-Orobio et al., 2018)	
	7-8	37	150	20		Food waste		Fe 100, Co 1, Mo 5, and Ni 5 (mg/L)	(Wanli Zhang et al., 2015)	
	7	35	15 min, 8 times/d	30		Maize silage	an agricultural biogas plant	10.6 μM of Ni and 2.0 μM of Co	(Pobeheim <i>et al.</i> , 2010)	
CSTR		39	100-200 rpm		2.4, 3.3 Kg VS/m³/d	Manure and industrial waste	biogas plant	Fe, Co, Ni, Se and W	(Nordell <i>et al.,</i> 2016)	
	6.9- 7.5	55	1400 rpm	30	6.3 kg COD/ m ³ /d	Food waste	thermophilic anaerobic digester sludge from a municipal sewage treatment plant	276 mg Fe/kg COD removed, 4.96 mg Co/kg COD, 4.43 mg Ni/ kg COD	(Qiang <i>et al.,</i> 2013)	
	37 1.7 6.3 kg COD/ m ³ /d				1.7 6.3 kg COD/ m ³ /d	Glucose, sucrose, lysed casein, VFA, and alcohols	Digestate from a reactor treating slaughterhouse waste	0.36 ng Co/g COD fed, 0.15 ng Ni/g COD fed, 0.11 ng Se/g COD fed, 0.28 ng W/g COD fed	(Šafarič <i>et al.,</i> 2020)	
		37-55				H ₂ /CO	Anaerobic sludge from a landfill	$\begin{array}{c c} 4 & \hline g & (NH_4)_2 \\ SO_4 \cdot FeSO_4 \cdot 6H_2O, & 1 \\ g & CoCl_2 \cdot 6H_2O & and \\ 0.1 & g & NiCl_2 \cdot 6H_2O \end{array}$	(Li <i>et al.</i> , 2020)	
UASB	7	30	70 rpm	0.5	2.6-7.8 g COD/ m ³ /d	Methanol	Granular sludge from a full scale UASB reactor	Trace element solution: Fe 562, Ni 32, Zn 24, Mn 139, Cu 14, Co 495, Mo 27, Se 49 (mg/L)	(Zandvoort <i>et al.,</i> 2003)	

*Working volume, ** Headspace

2.3.2 Optimal doses of trace metals for methane production

The TM are components of cofactors in enzyme systems, the most essential in AD are Fe, Ni, and Co (Thanh *et al.*, 2016; Ünal *et al.*, 2012; Zhang and Jahng, 2012). Methanogenic archaea require large amounts of these TM and a smaller amount of Mo or W and Zn (Glass and Orphan, 2012). Some Ni or Co ion-containing enzymes involved in methanogenesis have been identified (Kida *et al.*, 2001). Ni²⁺ is the center of coenzyme F₄₃₀ in methyl coenzyme M reductase (MCR) that catalyzes the methyl-CoM to CH₄ in methanogenesis (Grabarse *et al.*, 2001; Moore *et al.*, 2017; Zhang *et al.*, 2009). Co is present in cyanocobalamin required for the synthesis of vitamin B12, and it participates in several reactions in both the hydrogenotrophic and acetoclastic methane formation (Ko *et al.*, 2018; Myszograj *et al.*, 2018; Schattauer *et al.*, 2011).

Otherwise, enzymes [Ni-Fe]- hydrogenases are involved in methanogenesis, and each one contains abundant Fe (Glass and Orphan, 2012; Shima *et al.*, 2011; Thauer *et al.*, 2010). Fe is also an electron acceptor in cytochromes, participating in the synthesis of catalase, peroxidase, and aconitase, it also has redox properties (Schattauer *et al.*, 2011). Ignace *et al.*, (2016) reported that Fe could help to recover methane better and more efficiently from sludge. Fe has also been added to anaerobic reactors as zero-

valent iron nanoparticles since it influences the generation of H₂ through Fe⁰ which produces methane, thereby increasing methane production (Li *et al.*, 2012). Molybdenum is present in the enzyme formate dehydrogenase (FDH) which catalyzes formate production (Myszograj *et al.*, 2018), only when Mo is present in the growth medium the Mo enzyme is synthesized (Thanh *et al.*, 2016). TM are essential for biochemical reactions, enzyme activities, methane yield, and volatile fatty acids (VFAs) utilization (Ko *et al.*, 2018).

The effects of metals highly depended on the supplemental concentrations since appropriate concentrations of TM are required for optimal process performance (Wanli Zhang *et al.*, 2015). The supplementation of necessary TM is useful to improve AD performance (Choong *et al.*, 2016). Several concentrations of TM have been proposed; however, the results obtained are not homogenous since when TM are supplemented at high concentrations, metals may act as inhibitors affecting the enzymes' functions (J.A.Oleszkiewicz, 1990). Feng *et al.*, (2010) evaluated the effect of three TM and their combined effects on a tank reactor biogas process with an OLR of 4.0 gVS/L/d using food waste as substrate. The highest predicted methane generation (860 mL CH₄/gVS) occurred by applying Se: 0.8 mg/L, W: 1.8 mg/L, and Co: 0.06 mg/L. Gustavsson et al., (2011) investigated the effect of TM addition on lab-scale biogas tank reactors using wheat stillage as substrate, to maintain the process stability daily supplementation with Co (0.5 mg/L), Ni (0.2 mg/L), and Fe (0.5 mg/L) was needed; the operational conditions were an HRT of 20 d and an OLR of 4 gVS/L/d. They concluded that to maintain a stable process it was necessary to add cobalt and nickel.

Trace metals concentrations applied to reactors operating under different conditions vary significantly. Espinosa *et al.*, (1995) used large amounts of TM (Fe 100 mg/L, Ni 15 mg/L, Co 10 mg/L, and Mo 0.2 mg/L) in a UASB reactor fed with vinasse at high organic loads over 17 kg COD/m³/d, while in case of Gustavsson *et al.*, (2011), a lower amount of trace metals were used (Co 0.5 mg/L, Ni 0.2 mg/L, and Fe 0.5 g/L) to maintain the process stability at the organic loading rate of 4.0 g VS/L/d. For this reason, it is necessary to determine the minimum dose of TM with which the systems remain stable since the use of salts such as NiCl₂ and FeCl₃ could have adverse environmental effects, according to the case study carried out by Hijazi *et al.*, (2020), who carried out a life cycle analysis of the salts added to anaerobic reactors.

2.4 Biogas production in a two stages system from OFMSW

OSAD has limitations since all the steps (hydrolysis to methanogenesis) occur in a single environment. Two major groups of microorganisms are kept together, and the differences in their nutritional needs, physiology, and growth kinetics could reduce the overall AD performance and bioenergy recovery (Azizi et al., 2019). Furthermore, OSAD should lead with challenges such as volatile fatty acids (VFA) accumulation, insufficient buffering capacity, production of harmful intermediates which reduce the system stability (Srisowmeva et al., 2020). Due to the potential of the AD process to recover energy from OFMSW, there are much research focused on improving process conditions and generating better yields (Chowdhury et al., 2020; Corsino et al., 2021; Ghanimeh et al., 2020; Mu et al., 2018). In the case of De Vrieze et al., (2013), who operated a semi-continuous reactor under mesophilic conditions, they obtained a productivity of 1.15±0.22 L CH₄/L/d; however, the process failed, and the use of a co-substrate was needed. Ghanimeh et al., (2012), operated a batch reactor under thermophilic conditions using OFMSW as substrate; a specific methane yield (SMY) of between 314 and 327 mL CH₄/gVS were obtained. Nevertheless, it was detected an accumulation of acetic acid and propionic acid, which was controlled applying slow agitation to the reactor. In the case of Chowdhury et al., (2020), obtained a SMY of 210 mL CH₄/gVS by operating a reactor with a high solids load, requiring a second stage by ultrasonication of digestate and wet-type anaerobic digestion for effective biomethane recovery, after the post treatment, it was possible to produce up to 132 mL CH₄/gVS.

Maintaining the stability of the OSAD from OFMSW process is challenging and requires the use of certain strategies to enhance the biogas production. For this reason, two-stage AD process (TSAD) and trace

metals addition (TM) have been tested to provide optimal growth conditions for microorganisms. In TSAD, hydrolysis and acidogenesis are carried out in a different reactor (De Gioannis *et al.*, 2017; Voelklein *et al.*, 2017). During hydrolysis, complex organic polymers are hydrolyzed into simple soluble organic compounds; subsequently, the generation of volatile fatty acids, H₂-rich biogas (H₂ and CO₂), and other intermediates occurs during the acidogenesis (Angeriz-Campoy *et al.*, 2018). In the TSAD carried out by Xiao *et al.*, (2019), from food waste (FW) and a co-digestion of FW and paper waste, it was obtained SMY of 460 and 360 mL CH₄/gVS, respectively. Similarly, Voelklein *et al.*, (2017), compared the SMY in one and two-stages; in the case of the OSAD, a yield of 82.7 mL CH₄/gVS was obtained, observing the significant deterioration of the parameters pH, volatile fatty acids/total alkalinity ratio and VFA. This decline in the system was reduced after TM addition. As a result of the TSAD, yields of up to 419±23 mL CH₄/gVS were obtained. The enhancement in the SMY was attributed to a higher hydrolysis rate in the first stage.

3 THESIS STATEMENT-JUSTIFICATION

Anaerobic digestion process has been widely studied, even though there are still improvement opportunities for upgrading the performance of this biological process. Such is the case of trace metals addition since its application can stimulate the anaerobic digestion and dark fermentation processes. TM acts as cofactors in numerous enzymes involved in these processes. For this reason, it is necessary to determine the doses of TM to enhance biogas production, avoiding accumulation and toxic effects. Research related to TM has been focused on the stages of acetogenesis and methanogenesis. Therefore, it is important to explore the TM influence in hydrolysis and acidogenesis since the system requirements at each stage may differ.

4 HYPOTHESIS

Trace metals supplementation in hydrogen-producing reactors will increase the production of hydrogenrich biogas, while acidogenic effluents enriched with trace metals will improve the stability of methaneproducing reactors.

5 GENERAL AND SPECIFIC OBJECTIVES

5.1 General Objective

To propose the optimal Ni^{2+} and Fe^{2+} concentrations that increase the productivity and yield of hydrogen and methane in sequencing batch reactors using organic solid waste as substrate.

5.2 Specific Objectives

1. To evaluate the effect of Ni^{2+} addition on producing H₂-rich biogas and volatile fatty acids in batch systems and sequencing batch reactors from organic solid waste.

2. To evaluate the increase in biogas (H₂ and CH₄) and possible changes in microbial communities derived from Ni^{2+} addition in a two-stage sequencing batch system compared with a conventional anaerobic digester.

3. To evaluate the effect of Fe^{2+} and Ni^{2+} addition on H_2 and CH_4 production in a two-stage process using organic solid waste as substrate.

6 METHODOLOGY

The experiments were divided into two main sections (Fig. 4). In the first section, the Ni²⁺ effect was studied in the DF process using glucose and OFMSW as substrate, and in a two-stage process comparing the results with a conventional process (AD single stage). In the first stage, different concentrations of Ni²⁺ were added, and the effluents were used to feed the methanogenic reactor. The results were compared with the methane yields and productivities obtained in a conventional AD process. Section 2 corresponds to the study of the Ni²⁺ and Fe²⁺ effect (Fig. 5). To achieve this objective, i) different concentrations of TM were tested in batch process, and ii) the TM concentrations that enhanced the biogas production were applied in a two-stage system. The details of the TM concentrations used in the experiments are reported in the following sections.



Fig. 4. Diagram of methodology, section 1.



Fig. 5. Diagram of methodology, section 2.

6.1 Characterization of the substrate and inoculum

The OFMSW was obtained from the regional municipal market of Queretaro, Mexico, it was shredded in an industrial blender, stored in plastic bags, and finally frozen at -4 °C until use. The OFMSW was composed of papaya, green vegetables, cucumber, radish, tomato, grape, mango, and banana, with TS and VS of 10 and 8%, respectively, and a nickel concentration of 0.17 ± 0.06 mg Ni/g TS. Another sample of OFMSW was collected from an urban solid waste separation plant located in Queretaro, Mexico (solid waste was delivered to the plant as a source segregated at the household level in an area with a population of 1 million inhabitants). The OFMSW contained 78.8% of organic solid waste and the rest nonfermentable material: paper 12.2%, plastic 5.1%, glass 3.0%, metal 0.2%, wood 0.5%, and bones 0.2%. Consequently, a manual separation was carried out to obtain a sample without inert materials. The sample without inert materials was ground in an industrial mill to obtain a particle size of <0.2 mm. The OFMSW presented the following physicochemical parameters: density (g/mL) 1.05, pH 5.93, TS and, VS (g/Kg), 507, 250, respectively, and total COD (g/L), 483.42. Fe and Ni concentration were 8.7±0.05 mg Fe/gTS and 0.2±0.04 mg Ni/gTS.

The inoculum corresponds to anaerobic granular sludge recovered from an up-flow anaerobic sludge blanket digester; it was stored at 4°C until use. For acidogenic reactor's inoculation, the granular sludge was thermally pretreated at 105°C for 24 hours to eliminate the hydrogen-consuming methanogens (Buitrón and Carvajal, 2010) and select the microorganisms that form spores such as bacteria from the genus *Clostridium* which are considered the most efficient H₂-producers (Castelló *et al.*, 2020). For the anaerobic digester operation, the methane biochemical potential assay, and the methanogenic reactor (second stages) the anaerobic granular sludge was used without pretreatment. The anaerobic granular sludge presented a composition of 183±28 gTS/Kg and, 171±25 gVS/Kg, while the pretreated granular sludge had a composition of 980 gTS/Kg and 780 gVS/Kg. Fe and Ni concentration were 0.82±0.02 mg Fe/gTS and 0.0018±0.04 mg Ni/gTS.

6.2 Analytical methods

Chemical oxygen demand (COD) was determined by HACH reactor digestion method. Total and volatile solids (TS and VS) were measured in triplicate using the standard methods 2540 G (APHA, 2017). Total carbohydrate was measured using a phenol-sulfuric assay (DuBois et al., 1956). The quantification of the volatile fatty acids (VFA) was carried out according to Cardeña *et al.*, (2017) by gas chromatography with a flame ionization detector (FID, Agilent Technologies 7890B), equipped with the DBFFAP column of 15 m and 1 μ m of the thickness. The mobile phase corresponds to nitrogen gas with a flow of 25 mL/min. The temperature of the injector and the detector corresponds to 190 and 210 °C, respectively. The biogas was measured with a compact standalone volumetric gas flow meter (BPC μ Flow) to normalize gas flow rate and volume measurement at 0 °C and 1 atmosphere. Biogas composition was determined by gas chromatography using an equipped SRI 8610C chromatograph with a thermal conductivity detector and a 30 m Carboxen 1010 column (ID 0.53 mm). The injector, column, and detector temperatures were 200, 100, and 230°C, respectively. The mobile phase corresponds to nitrogen gas with a 4 mL/min flow rate. Nickel and iron in the substrate, inoculum, and digestates was quantified according to the standard methods (3111A) by flame absorption spectrometry.

6.3 Microbial community analysis and data analysis

Samples were taken to analyze planktonic microbial communities from the acidogenic and methanogenic effluents. All the samples were stored at -20 °C. Genomic DNA was extracted using the DNeasy Power Soil Kit (Qiagen, Germany). The DNA quality was verified by spectrophotometry (NanoDropTM 2000c, Thermo Scientific, USA). Partial bacterial and archaeal 16S rRNA genes were PCR-amplified with the primers 515F (5'-TCGTCGGCAGCGTCAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGTGYCAGCCGCCGCGGGTAAHACCVGC-3')

and 806R (5'- GTCTCGTGGGCTCGGAGATGTGTATAAGAGACAGGGACTACVSGGGTATCT-

AAT-3') with Illumina adapter (Caporaso *et al.*, 2012). The PCR reaction was prepared using 19 μ L sterile distilled water, 0.5 μ L 0.2 μ M primer, 0.25 μ L 25 μ M MgSO₄, 0.25 μ L 20 mg/L bovine serum albumin, 2.5 μ L 10X PCR buffer, 0.1 μ L of Ex Taq polymerase high fidelity and, 2 μ L of template DNA. The PCR reaction was performed as follows: initial denaturation at 95 °C for 5 min, followed by 40 cycles or 38 cycles (for acidogenic or methanogenic samples, respectively), 95 °C for 30 s, 55 °C for 30 s, 68 °C for 30 s, and final extension at 68 °C for 10 min. The PCR amplicons were verified on agarose gel electrophoresis. The PCR products were cleaned using the kit AMPure XP beads (Beckman Coulter Inc., Brea, CA, USA). A second PCR was done to integrate the barcode and Illumina adaptor (Illumina, 2013) required for sequencing libraries. The PCR products were cleaned using the kit AMPure XP beads (Beckman Coulter Inc., Brea, CA, USA) before their quantification was performed using the kit Quant-ITTM PicoGreen® dsDNA Assay (Invitrogen-P7589). Finally, the pool of sequencing libraries was shipped to the Centre d'Expertise et de Services Génome Québec (Montréal, Québec, Canada) for sequencing with the Illumina MiSeq PE-250 platform.

PCR primer sequences were removed from raw reads using the tool Cutadapt (v.2.1) (Martin, 2011). Sequences were processed in R (v. 4.2.1) using the DADA2 package (v. 1.20.0) (Callahan et al., 2016). Default arguments were kept for sequence processing, except for the trimming of forward and reverse sequences at 230 bp and 230 bp based on the sequence quality. The taxonomic affiliation of bacterial and archaeal ASV was assigned with the Silva database (v. 138.1) (Quast et al., 2013). Diversity analysis was performed in R with the phyloseq package (v. 1.36.0) and ggplot package was used to produce the graphs (McMurdie and Holmes, 2013; Villanueva and Chen, 2019). In order to explore the dissimilarities among the microbial communities and the samples, it was performed the analysis of distance-based redundancy analysis (dbRDA) (Legendre and Anderson, 1999). Also, an analysis of compositions of microbiomes with bias correction (ANCOM-BC-2) was performed to estimate the unknown sampling fractions and corrects the bias induced by their differences among samples (Lin and Peddada, 2020) and the results were used to create a volcano plot to visualize the significant ASV differences among the samples (Mullan et al., 2021). Raw reads were deposited to Sequence Read Archive repository of the National Center for Biotechnology Information (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/bioproject/910650, https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/sra/PRJNA923699) in the BioProjects PRJNA910650 and PRJNA923699.

6.4 Effect of nickel concentration on biohydrogen production: organic solid waste vs. glucose

To develop the specific objective 1, the first set of experiments was carried out to test the effect of nickel on biohydrogen production from OFMSW. In particular, the experimental setup was focused on determining the dose of nickel that must be added to each gram of volatile solid of inoculum to stimulate the hydrogen yield (HY) and productivity in an H₂-producing reactor using OFMSW as substrate.

6.4.1 Batch experiments to test the effect of different concentrations of Ni²⁺

To examine the biohydrogen potential (BHP), automatic methane potential test (AMPTS II) equipment was used, which measures the final specific production for a maximum degradation time; the BHP tests were performed according to the protocol established by Carrillo-Reyes *et al.*, (2019). The temperature of the batch tests was 37 ± 1 °C, and the initial pH was adjusted to 7.5 ± 0.2 . An experimental arrangement was carried out to test six different Ni²⁺ concentrations added as NiCl₂•6H₂O (0, 0.1, 0.5, 1, 1.5, 2, and 5 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum}) using OFMSW and glucose as the carbon source. The mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum} concentrations mentioned above were determined based on the literature review (Fig. 3). The H₂ cumulative volume was adjusted to the modified Gompertz equation shown in Equation (1), with H_{max} (in mL) representing the H₂ volume, R_{max} (in mL/min) representing the maximum flowrate, a lag period λ (in min), and the steady flowrate after peaking mt (in mL/min) (Jiménez-Ocampo *et al.*, 2021; Santiago *et al.*, 2020); the results were analyzed by using MATLAB R2021b. A three-way ANOVA was carried out in Rstudio software version 1.4.1106 considering the substrate and Ni^{2+} concentrations and their interactions concerning HY.

$$H(t) = H_{\max} \exp\left[-exp\left(\frac{2.71828*R_{max}(\lambda - t)}{H_{max}} + 1\right)\right]$$
(Eq. 1)

6.4.2 Effect of Ni²⁺ on H₂ production in a Sequencing Batch Reactor

The hydrolytic-acidic reactor consisted of an acrylic cylinder with a volume of 1.5 L operated under mesophilic conditions (37 ± 1 °C) by recirculating water with a heating circulator with open bath equipment (Thermo Scientific). Masterflex pumps were used for filling and discharging the substrate and digestate. The reactor was operated as a Sequencing Batch Reactor (SBR) with the following times for the operation phases: filling, 4.3 min; reaction, 23 hours; sedimentation, 51 min; and discharging, 4.7 min. The organic loading rate (OLR) was 20 g VS/L/d, and the hydraulic retention time was 2 d. Fig. 6 shows the bioreactor setup. The substrate and inoculum used were OFMSW described in section 5.1 of the methodology. The reactor was inoculated with 1.85 g VS of pretreated inoculum, maintaining a substrate to inoculum ratio (S/I) of 2.7. The long-term effect of nickel addition on the bioreactor was divided into the following 3 phases: i) no nickel addition, ii) evaluation of the addition of 0.1 mg Ni²⁺/g VS, and iii) evaluation of the addition of 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/g VS. The reactor was operated for 30 cycles. Effluent and biogas from each cycle were evaluated.



Fig. 6. Hydrogen producing reactor.

6.5 Biogas production from OFMSW is enhanced by nickel addition in a two stages system compared with a conventional digester

This section corresponds to the methodology to develop the specific objective 2. The biogas produced on OSAD was compared to the production on TSAD. In the first stage, the reactor was fed with OFMSW using an OLR of 60 gVS/L•d. Ni²⁺ was added in this stage in the following order: 0, 0.1, and 0.5 mg/gVS_{inoculum}. Three types of effluents were collected (namely acidogenic effluents 1, 2, and 3). Subsequently, the methanogenic reactor was fed with the 3 effluents. We also explored the impact of TSAD and OSAD and the addition of TM on microbial communities.

6.5.1 Conventional anaerobic digestor (AD conventional single stage)

A conventional anaerobic digester was operated in a sequencing batch reactor (SBR) in an INFORS HT model Labfors 5 reactor with a capacity of 3.2 L and a working volume of 2.8 L (Fig. 7). The settling, discharging, and feeding time were 50, 5, and 7 minutes, respectively. The feeding and discharge were fed with peristaltic pumps Masterflex Model 77200-60 and 77200-50, respectively. The reactor had a sensor for pH measurement, a paddle stirrer, and a heat exchanger. The operational conditions were a stirring speed of 80 rpm, pH of 7.5 ± 0.2 , and temperature of 37 ± 0.5 °C. The HRT was 13 d and an OLR of 2.5 gVS/L·d for the first four cycles. The reactor inoculation was carried out with a S/I of 2 in terms of VS. The reactor was operated for ten cycles until the biogas production was constant; after that period, the evaluation of the biogas production began for 14 cycles.



Fig. 7. Bioreactor setup: A) storage tank of the 1 N NaOH solution, B) 1 N NaOH addition pump, C) influent storage tank, D) influent feed pump, E) pH meter sensor, F) stirrer, G) SBR, H) Heated water recirculatory, I) Condensates trap, J) Flow meter, K) digestate discharge pump, L) digestate storage tank.

6.5.2 Two stages system for Ni²⁺ evaluation

6.5.2.1 Acidogenic digester (first stage)

The acidogenic sequencing batch reactor (SBR) used as first stage had a working volume of 1 L and a headspace volume of 0.5 L. The emptying and filling time were 5 minutes, while the settling and sedimentation time were 50 minutes. The feeding and discharge were performed with peristaltic pumps Model 77800-50 and 77200-62, respectively. The pumps were turned on and off with a programmable logic controller. The organic loading rate (OLR) was 60 gVS/L·d, and the hydraulic retention time (HRT) was 16 h. The temperature was maintained under mesophilic conditions at 37±0.5 °C by recirculating water with a heating circulator (open bath equipment Thermo Scientific). The stirring speed was 120 rpm, and the pH was 5.5±0.5. The inoculum/substrate ratio (S/I) used to inoculate the acidogenic SBR was 2.7. The reactor was operated for ten cycles until the biogas production was constant. The Ni²⁺ concentrations were determined based on the previous experiment (section 5.4 of methodology). Ni²⁺ was added as NiCl₂·6H₂O. The evaluation of cycles 1 to 6 was without Ni²⁺ supplementation. In cycles 7 to 14 the concentration of 0.1 mg Ni²⁺/gVS_{inoculum} was tested. At last, the concentration of 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/gVS_{inoculum} was tested from cycles 15 to 32. Three effluents were collected for subsequent biochemical methane potential assay, namely 0, 0.1, and 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/gVS_{inoculum}.

6.5.2.2 Biochemical methane potential assay (BMP)

After the fermentation process, a BMP was performed to evaluate the volume of CH_4 produced from each acidogenic effluent. The batch tests were tested as technical triplicate, according to the methodology established by Angelidaki *et al.* (2009) in the equipment Automatic Methane Potential Test System II (BPC instruments) (Fig. 8). The substrates correspond to the three acidogenic effluents collected from the

different conditions (0, 0.1, and 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/gVS_{inoculum}). The batch reactors were inoculated with a S/I of 2 gVS/gVS. The experimental conditions were a temperature of 37 ± 0.5 °C, initial pH of 7.5, and intermittent stirring at a speed of 120 rpm (1 minute on, 2 minutes off). The reaction time was 18.75 days.



Fig. 8. Biochemical methane potential assay to test the acidogenic effluents.

6.5.2.3 Methanogenic digester (second stage)

The evaluation of the second stage to produce CH₄-rich biogas was carried out in the same reactor described in section 5.5.1 of the methodology, under the same operating conditions. In this stage, the three different acidogenic effluents previously homogenized were evaluated to test the effect of the acidogenic effluents enriched with Ni²⁺. The reactor was operated for 15 cycles. The HRT was 6.52 d, and the OLR of the three operating conditions were 4.11, 3.04, and 2.32 gVS/L·d or 58.8, 44.0, and 38.2 gCOD/L·d. The reactor is presented in Fig. 9.



Fig. 9. Methanogenic reactor. (Second stage)

Fig. 10 is the representation of the two stages system for biogas production (hydrogen and methane). It was integrated by: 1. Storage tank, 2. Acidogenic Reactor Feed Pump, 3. Acidogenic reactor, 4. Magnetic stirrer, 5. pH sensor, 6. Magnetic stirrer, 7. Heated water recirculator, 8. NaOH storage tank, 9. NaOH addition pump, 10. Valve normally closed, 11. Biogas storage bag, 12. Valve normally open 13. Condensates trap, 14. Biogas sampling, 15. Check valve, 16. Biogas flow meter, 17. Discharge pump, 18. Acidogenic effluent storage tank, 19. Control system for acidogenic reactor, 20. Influent storage tank, 21. Methanogenic Reactor Feed Pump, 22. Methanogenic reactor, 23. Stirrer, 24. pH sensor, 25. Jacketed Glass, 26. NaOH storage tank, 27. NaOH addition pump, 28. Valve normally closed, 29. Biogas storage bag, 30. Valve normally open, 31. Condensate trap, 32. Biogas sampling, 33. Check valve, 34. Biogas flow meter, 35. Methane Reactor Discharge Pump, 36. Storage tank, 37. Control system for methanogenic reactor.



Fig. 10. Two stage system for hydrogen and methane production.

6.6 Nickel and iron addition to improve the biogas production in a twostage system

This section corresponds to the specific objective 3. This work is intended to evaluate the effect of Fe^{2+} and Ni^{2+} addition on H₂-rich biogas production from organic solid waste and the CH₄-rich biogas production from the AE enriched with TM.

6.6.1 Determination of the Fe and Ni concentrations

Batch tests were carried out to measure the biohydrogen potential (BHP) according to the protocol established by Carrillo-Reyes *et al.*, (2019) using the equipment automated methane potential test (AMPTS II; Bioprocess Control AB, Lund, Sweden). The temperature was set at $37\pm1^{\circ}$ C and the initial pH was adjusted to 7.5 ± 0.2 . The substrate/inoculum rate (S/I) was 2.7 in terms of VS, and the substrate concentration was 15 gVS/L. The experiment was carried out for 30 hours. The effect of experimental variables (Fe²⁺ and Ni²⁺) on HY and VS removal was evaluated with a central composite design (two factors). The results of the experimental variables were represented by a response surface methodology using design expert software (6.0.10). The Ni²⁺ concentrations tested were: 0, 0.08, 0.17, 0.25, 0.33, 0.42, and 0.5 mg/L. In the case of Fe²⁺, the concentrations analyzed were 0, 111, 222, 334, 445, 556, and 667 mg/L. These concentrations were proposed based on a literature review where Fe²⁺ and Ni²⁺ were used to increase the H₂-rich biogas production (Karadag and Puhakka, 2010; Mullai *et al.*, 2013a; Taherdanak *et al.*, 2016b; Wang and Wan, 2008b). The configuration of the reactors was as follows for Fe²⁺ and Ni²⁺, respectively (0 and 0, 0 and 0.25, 0 and 0.5, 333 and 0, 333 and 0.25, 333 and 0.5, 667 and 0, 667 and 0.25, 667 and 0.5, 730 and 0.25). Batch tests were performed in duplicate. Fe²⁺ and Ni²⁺ were added as FeSO₄·7H₂O and NiCl₂·6H₂O, respectively.

6.6.2 Acidogenic digester (first stage)

An acidogenic sequencing batch reactor (SBR) with a working volume of 1 L and a headspace volume of 0.5 L was utilized for the first stage. The acidogenic reactor was equipped with a programmable logic controller (PLC) to control the pH, feed, and discharge. The emptying and filling time were 5 minutes, while the settling and sedimentation time were 50 minutes. The reactor operated with an OLR of 60 gVS/L d and a hydraulic retention time (HRT) of 16 h. The temperature and pH were 37 ± 0.5 °C and 5.5 ± 0.2 , respectively. The acidogenic SBR was operated for 32 cycles. The first 25 cycles were evaluated without TM addition to compare the results before and after the supplementation. From cycle 26, the TM were added according to the results obtained in the batch tests (0.25 mg/L of Ni²⁺ and 334 mg/L of Fe²⁺). In cycles 37, 43, and 46-52, the TM were added again to determine the effect of the frequency of the supplementation on productivity and HY.

6.6.3 Methanogenic digester (second stage)

The second stage to produce CH₄-rich biogas was carried out in a sequencing batch reactor (SBR) in an INFORS HT model Labfors 5 reactor with a capacity of 3.2 L and a working volume of 2.8 L. The settling, discharging, and feeding times were 50, 5, and 7 minutes, respectively. The feeding and discharge were accomplished with peristaltic pumps Masterflex Model 77200-60 and 77200-50, respectively. The exchange volume was 500 mL of undiluted AE. The operational conditions were a stirring speed of 80 rpm, initial pH of 7.5 ± 0.2 , a temperature of 37 ± 0.5 °C, and an HRT of 2.8 d. The inoculation was carried out with a S/I ratio of 2 in terms of VS. The reactor was operated for 10 cycles before the evaluation period to activate the sludge and achieve constant biogas production.

7 RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

This section includes the results of sections 1 and 2 of the methodology. Section 1 includes the study on the effect of nickel concentration on biohydrogen production: organic solid waste vs. glucose, and biogas production enhancement from OFMSW in a two stages system by nickel addition compared with a conventional digester. Section 2 contains the evaluation of nickel and iron addition to improve the biogas production in a two-stage system.

7.1 Effect of nickel concentration on biohydrogen production: organic solid waste vs. glucose

The batch tests using glucose as a reference substrate showed the highest H₂ production when 2 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum} was applied (productivity and yield of 774±7.3 mL H₂/L/d and 55.8 ± 3.4 mL H₂/g of glucose respectively). H₂ production increased 34.4% compared to the control without nickel (Table 5). Similar H₂ production was obtained when concentrations of 1 and 5 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum} were used (736 ± 2.5 and 743 ± 7.0 mL, respectively). One of the main differences between the treatments was the lag phase; the lowest lag phase corresponded to the control reactor, and the exponential phase began at 6.5 ± 0.1 hours. In the case of the reactors in which the highest concentrations of nickel were added, the lag phase was longer, approaching 8 h. To decrease the lag phase, it is necessary to preadapt the sludge to the concentrations of trace metals that will be used to activate the biocatalytic potential of microorganisms and enzymes (Chen *et al.*, 2008; Ezebuiro *et al.*, 2018).

Table 5. Hydrogen	production,	kinetic	parameters,	yields	and	carbohydrates	removal	at	different	initial-added	nickel
concentration.											

6 1 4 4	Nickel concentration	Productivity			(4)	Yield	Total
Substrate	$(mgNi^{2+}/gVS_{inoculum})$	$(mL H_2/L/d)$	$\mathbf{H}_{\max}(\mathbf{mL})$	R _{max} (mL/h)	л (h)	(mL H ₂ /g)*	Carbohydrates Removal (%)
	0 (control)	576 ± 1.9	255.1 ± 9.0	38.3 ± 10.1	6.5 ± 0.1	41.5 ± 0.1	37 ± 8.9
	0.1	630 ± 4.5	265.6 ± 3.3	50.3 ± 5.4	8.4 ± 0.2	45.4 ± 0.3	38 ± 8.5
	0.5	617 ± 8.2	271.2 ± 1.2	62.8 ± 7.9	7.9 ± 0.2	44.5 ± 0.6	27 ± 8.1
Glucose	1	736 ± 2.5	287.3 ± 3.9	86.7 ± 3.2	7.3 ± 0.6	53.0 ± 0.1	15 ± 9.4
	1.5	680 ± 9.1	289.9 ± 6.2	74.2 ± 6.0	7.8 ± 0.1	49.1 ± 2.1	18 ± 6.3
	2	774 ± 7.3	309.5 ± 9.5	72.1 ± 3.1	6.7 ± 0.3	55.8 ± 3.4	19 ± 7.9
	5	743 ± 7.0	297.6 ± 7.7	60.1 ± 6.2	7.5 ± 0.3	47.0 ± 1.9	23 ± 4.9
	0 (control)	433 ± 6.5	162.7 ± 5.1	47.0 ± 8.5	6.6 ± 0.1	31.2 ± 4.4	42 ± 19.5
	0.1	371 ± 13.4	134.9 ± 4.9	56.6 ± 0.5	7.6 ± 0.1	26.7 ± 4.0	46 ± 9.8
	0.5	268 ± 1.7	102.3 ± 4.7	39.5 ± 3.1	6.6 ± 2.0	19.0 ± 0.5	64 ± 4.8
OFMSW	1	406 ± 8.3	146.7 ± 11.1	58.4 ± 7.8	7.8 ± 0.8	29.0 ± 2.4	45 ± 8.9
	1.5	382 ± 6.2	138.1 ± 8.2	61.3 ± 3.5	7.6 ± 0.7	27.5 ± 1.6	65 ± 16.9
	2	331 ± 13.4	119.3 ± 8.9	85.9 ± 6.5	8.7 ± 0.8	23.7 ± 2.0	48 ± 5.6
	5	313 ± 12.5	125.6 ± 10.4	29.4 ± 2.8	7.3 ± 0.3	24.3 ± 2.4	63 ± 10.5

Yield (mL H_2/g)*, g of glucose or g of OFMSW respectively.

Regarding HY, the control reactor obtained a yield of 41.5 ± 0.1 mL H₂/g glucose_{added}. The highest HY (55.8 ± 3.4 mL H₂/g glucose_{added}) was obtained in the reactor with 2 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum}. The HY values obtained in the present work are lower than those reported by Taherdanak *et al.*, (2016), who added
different NiSO₄ concentrations to batch reactors using glucose as substrate and found that the addition of Ni²⁺ ions at all concentrations tested drastically enhanced the biogas yield. When 50 mg/L of Ni²⁺ was added, the highest yield (680 mL/g VS_{added}) of biogas was obtained with an H₂ content of approximately 50% (74% higher than the control test). Wang and Wan, (2008) obtained a maximum hydrogen production potential of 288.6 mL, and the maximum HY of 296.1 mL/g glucose was obtained at a Ni²⁺ concentration of 0.1 mg/L, which is a higher yield than the HY achieved in this study and can be related not only to the effect of nickel but also to the origin of the inoculum or the operating conditions.

The highest total carbohydrate removal (38%) was reached with a concentration of 0.1 mg Ni²⁺/g VSinoculum. This removal was similar to the removal efficiency obtained in the control. Removal efficiencies decreased according to the increase in Ni^{2+} concentrations, agreeing with the report of Li and Fang, (2007). They tested different nickel concentrations in batch reactors using sucrose as substrate, obtaining complete degradation in the controls where Ni2+ was not added, whereas with increasing concentrations, the substrate degradation was adversely affected. The final pH of the reactors was recorded between 5.5 and 5.2. The results of the VFA analysis showed that butyrate concentrations ranged from 36 mg/L to 69 mg/L(Fig. 11A). Propionate was generated only in the control reactor. All the reactors showed high ethanol concentrations (between 676 and 905 mg/L), while acetate concentrations were in the range of 426 to 628 mg/L. The ethanol concentration increases according to the increase in the different nickel concentrations tested, which is similar to that reported by Wang and Wan, (2008) who obtained increases in the ethanol yield when testing concentrations between 1 and 5 mg/L of Ni^{2+} . Regarding acetic acid in the same study, the yields decreased with increasing Ni²⁺ concentrations from 0.01 to 0.05 mg/L and from 0.1 to 0.2 mg/L, and it was not detectable with further increasing Ni²⁺ concentration from 0.2 to 50 mg/L. In another study by Mu et al., (2006), 0.5 mg/L NiCl₂•6H₂O was added to a reactor operated at 37 °C, obtaining an ethanol concentration of 917 mg/L at the end of fermentation; this value is in the range of ethanol concentrations obtained in the present study.



Fig. 11. VFA and metabolites generated during batch tests using A) glucose, and B) OFMSW as substrates.

OFMSW that contains fruits is one of the most widely used residues in the production of H₂ due to its high carbohydrate content (50–70% VS); when this type of residue is used, yields of up to 523 mL H₂/g VS_{added} have been achieved by using a mixture of fruits (Akinbomi and Taherzadeh, 2015), and up to 173 mL H₂/g VS_{added} has been achieved using vegetables. However, the composition of the substrate significantly affects the yields that can be obtained; for example, when using a carbon source such as cereals (rice, oats, and maize) as the substrate, yields of 96 mL H₂/g VS_{added} (Okamoto *et al.*, 2000) or 134 mL H₂/g VS (Dong *et*

al., 2009) have been obtained. When different Ni²⁺ concentrations were applied to the reactors using OFMSW, the highest H₂ production was achieved in the control reactor with no nickel addition (Table 5). In general, the results were different for experiments where glucose was used as a substrate because OFMSW already contains an initial nickel concentration of 0.17 ± 0.06 mg Ni/g VS. The concentrations used in the reactors that presented lower H₂ production were 0.5, 2, and 5 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum} (268 ± 1.7 , 382 ± 6.2 , and 313 ± 12.5 mLH₂/L/d, respectively); the highest production was obtained in the control $(433 \pm 6.5 \text{ mLH}_2/\text{L/d})$. Comparing the results with those obtained by Chen *et al.*, (2021), who studied the effect of nickel on waste-activated sludge, a concentration of 5 mg/L of Ni²⁺ increased the accumulated H₂ volume by 29% compared with the control. However, the lag phase reported was at 20.4 h. In the present experiment, the lowest lag phase was obtained for the control (6.6 \pm 0.1 h). The highest HY was also obtained in the control reactor ($31.2 \pm 4.4 \text{ mL H}_2/\text{gVS}_{added}$), while the lowest yield corresponded to the concentration of 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum} (19 \pm 0.5 mL H₂/gVS_{added}). HY did not increase as the concentrations of Ni^{2+} increased, agreeing with reports where easy-to-degrade substrates were tested (Li and Fang, 2007b; Lin and Lay, 2005b; Mullai et al., 2013b; Taherdanak et al., 2016b; Wang and Wan, 2008a). The OFMSW used in the present study had a Ni concentration of 0.17 ± 0.06 mg Ni/g VS, and the inoculum had a concentration of 0.0018 mg Ni/g VS_{inoculum}, avoiding Ni limitations.

pH plays a vital role in regulating metabolite synthesis pathways and microbial community structure, and it can influence the rate of hydrolysis and the production of VFA. Hence, the accumulation of soluble acid metabolites can lead to a sharp decrease in the pH system, inhibiting HY and leading to a low conversion rate (Akinbomi and Taherzadeh, 2015; Mu et al., 2006). Various values have been reported for OFMSW, with a predominance of pH 5.5 (Moreno-Andrade et al., 2015; Santiago et al., 2020; Wang et al., 2020), although the operation has also been carried out at pH values between 4-4.6 (Han et al., 2017). Due to VFA production, the pH decreased from 7.5 ± 0.2 to 5.3-5.5, as usual in DF. These values were close to the optimum pH, which is 5-5.5 (Jun et al., 2008; Tang et al., 2022b). In addition to the above, considering the production of secondary metabolites and biogas, it is possible that the process has not been affected by this parameter. The highest total carbohydrate removal was $65\pm16.9\%$ in the reactor with 1.5 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum}. The quantification of VFA demonstrated the generation of metabolites, such as acetone, butanol, caproate, heptanoate, and caprylate, that were not detected in the experiments with glucose (Fig. 11B). The control showed the highest metabolite concentration, which decreased when the Ni^{2+} concentration increased. This agrees with the results reported by Chen et al., (2021), who obtained the highest concentration of metabolites in the control and lower concentrations in the reactors with higher Ni^{2+} doses (50, 100, and 500 mg/L). ANOVA demonstrated that the interaction of the different factors was significant (P value <0.001); therefore, there was a significant difference between the interaction of the type of substrate and the concentration of Ni^{2+} added regarding YH₂ (Fig. 12).



Fig. 12. Plot of concentration predictor effect of Ni²⁺ on YH₂: A) glucose and B) OFMSW.

7.1.1 Operation of the Sequencing Batch Reactor

Fig. 13A shows the H₂ production and HY for experiments without Ni²⁺ (as control) as well as 0.1 and 0.5 mgNi²⁺/g VS_{inoculum}. The highest H₂ production (1501 ± 114 mL H₂) and HY (74.5 ± 12.7 mL H₂/g VS_{added}) corresponded to the cycles where Ni²⁺ was not added. The H₂ production decreased with the addition of Ni. The operation in the SBR presented a similar trend to the batch operation, where the highest H₂ production and HY were achieved without nickel addition.

The performances of the reactor during SBR and batch operation using OFMSW as substrate may be related to possible inhibition of the process due to Ni accumulation. In this regard, different factors can inhibit the DF process (Chen *et al.*, 2021), such as inhibitors in the mixed microflora; inhibitors from substrate pretreatment; inhibitors in-process, for instance, the accumulation of ammonia; H₂ partial pressure; and end-products, such as acetic acid/acetate, butyric acid/butyrate, propionic acid/propionate, formic acid/formate, and ethanol (Bundhoo and Mohee, 2016). Finally, the metal ions included iron, nickel, copper, manganese, zinc, chromium, cadmium, and lead. Although TE has been shown to limit the growth of microorganisms in terms of cell density (Choong *et al.*, 2016), excess Ni causes inhibition in intermediate processes of anaerobic digestion (Demirel and Scherer, 2011). The concentrations of TE that must be added to the reactors may vary according to the type of reactor, substrate, inoculum, etc. It has been reported that the minimum requirements for fermentation based on the active volume of the reactor are 200 mg Ni/m³/d (Takashima *et al.*, 1990). However, Ni may accumulate in the system, causing inhibition, which may be the reason for the low production of biogas in the present study.



Fig. 13. A) Hydrogen productivity and yields, and B) generation of metabolites and pH during operation in SBR applying different initial-added nickel concentrations.

The final concentration of Ni in the digestate was analyzed in each of the conditions tested (in the control and after the addition of 0.1 and 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum}), resulting in 0.129, 0.801, and 1.23 mg/L of Ni, respectively, suggesting that nickel accumulates in the reactor after each addition, increasing the concentration in the digestate. However, this digestate could be recirculated in the system or used for methane production in a two-stage system since it has been reported that this trace metal has a vital role in anaerobic digestion in the growth of all methanogens and the synthesis of cofactor F_{430} (Aghajani Delavar and Wang, 2021; Dong *et al.*, 2009; Okamoto *et al.*, 2000). This coenzyme (F₄₃₀) is contained within the Methylcoenzyme M reductase enzyme, which reduces methyl coenzyme M to methane in all methanogenic pathways (Garuti *et al.*, 2018; Glass and Orphan, 2012; Thanh *et al.*, 2016b).

Fig. 13B shows the production of the metabolites at different Ni concentrations. Acetate, butvrate, and caproate were present in all the conditions. When nickel was added, the production of ethanol and propionate was no longer detected. The average concentrations of acetate and butyrate decreased according to the increase in added nickel concentrations. Likewise, the caproate concentration increased according to the increase in the nickel concentration. At 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum} caproate was the main metabolite produced. In our investigation, a thermally pretreated inoculum was used; in this way, cultures of H₂-producing bacteria are usually dominated by clostridial species (Maintinguer *et al.*, 2008). The HY decrease reflects changes in the metabolism and composition of microbial communities. Consequently, different subproducts are obtained due to the flexibility of the metabolism of microorganisms, e.g., in the clostridial species (Quéméneur et al., 2011). Some clostridial species can switch their metabolism from the production of H₂, acetate, and butyrate to solvent production (e.g., ethanol) depending on the operating conditions (Janssen et al., 2010; Schaffer et al., 2002). Therefore, by decreasing the acetate and butyrate concentrations, it is possible that the reverse β -oxidation pathway had benefited, in which chain elongation of VFA to medium-chain fatty acids (MCFA), as caproate, was carried out using an electron donor such as ethanol (De Vrieze et al., 2015; Steinbusch et al., 2011; Roghair et al., 2018; Thauer et al., 2010; Vignais and Billoud, 2007). Also, it is possible to produce caproic acid through the sequential chain elongation step, according to reactions (Eq. 2 and 3) mentioned by Piffer et al., (2021). Although lactic acid was not measured during the reactor's operation, there are reports that it can be generated by the DF process (Ahmad et al., 2022; Demichelis et al., 2017) and used with the butyrate to generate caproic acid (Eq. 3).

Acetic acid + 2 Lactic acid \rightarrow H₂ + 1.5 Butyric acid + 2 CO₂ + H₂O (Eq. 2)

 ΔG° '= - 156.6 kJ/mol

Lactic acid + Butyric acid \rightarrow Caproic acid + H₂O + CO₂ (Eq. 3)

$\Delta G^{\circ} = -57.2 \text{ kJ/mol}$

The [NiFe]-hydrogenase catalyzes the reversible reaction for H_2 production. However, it has been reported the influence of the enzyme in H₂ consumption (Vignais and Billoud, 2007). Therefore, the low HY in the last stage of the reactor's operation could be explained by hydrogen consumption. Also, the prevalence of caproate as the main metabolite over acetate and butyrate, when the dose of 0.5 mgNi²⁺/gVS_{inoculum} was applied, indicates that different metabolic pathways were expressed during the last experimental stage, reducing the HY. When 0.1 and 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum} were added to OFMSW, no ethanol was detected in the digestate. However, in the batch tests where glucose was used as a substrate, it was noted that ethanol concentrations increased according to the increase in Ni^{2+} concentrations. Therefore, it is possible that the ethanol generated was used as an electron donor for chain elongation. Our results agree with those obtained by Ashley et al., (1982), who described an increase in VFA and MCFA with increasing nickel concentrations in an anaerobic digestor. Food waste has also been reported as an electron acceptor substrate for MCFA production. Roghair et al., (2018) used hydrolyzed and acidified food waste and additional ethanol to develop a continuous chain elongation process, obtaining up to 5.5 g/L/d of ncaproate at a hydraulic retention time of 4 d. Similarly, Reddy et al., (2018) employed a two-stage mixed culture fermentation to produce short-chain fatty acids and MCFAs using food waste as the electron acceptor, obtaining up to 8.1 g/L of caproic acid and 8.9 g/L of butyric acid using a bioaugmented culture. However, it is necessary to elucidate the role of Ni²⁺ in the stimulation of the chain elongation process to obtain higher MCFA productivity.

7.2 Biogas production enhancement from OFMSW in a two stages system by nickel addition compared with a conventional digester

The effect of Ni^{2+} in the acetogenic and methanogenic stages is well known, while its effect in the hydrolysis and acidogenesis stages is still under study. In this sense, the main objective of this section was to determine the effect of the addition of different concentrations of Ni^{2+} on the production of H₂-rich biogas through DF process from OFMSW followed by CH₄-rich biogas production in a second stage. We also explored the impact of TSAD and OSAD as well as the addition of TM on microbial communities to analyze potential microbiological drivers of AD performance.

7.2.1 Conventional anaerobic digestor (a single stage)

The OSAD evaluation began with an OLR of 1.5 gVS/L·d for four cycles after the acclimatization period (Fig. 14). The results of the biogas production in this period were productivity of 170 ± 40 mL CH₄/L·d and a specific methane yield (SMY) of 51 ± 9.3 mL CH₄/gVS_{added}. Subsequently, the OLR was increased to 2.5 gVS/L·d from cycles 5 to 14. In this period, both the productivity and the SMY increased to 373 ± 71 mL CH₄/L·d and 76 ± 15 mL CH₄/gVS_{added}, respectively. However, these values were lower than the productivities reported by Voelklein *et al.*, (2017) who obtained a SMY of 324.5 ± 25 mL CH₄/gVS with an OLR of 2 gVS/L·d. The values obtained are also lower than those obtained by Jiménez-Ocampo *et al.*, (2021), who achieved a SMY and productivity of 87 mL CH₄/gVS_{added} and 487 mL CH₄/L·d respectively. However, the substrate used in this study is more complex since it is an actual sample of OFMSW that contains traces of non-degradable materials, explaining the lower production of biogas.

The removal of TS and VS during cycles 1 to 4 with the first OLR evaluated were $42.9\pm14.6\%$ and $48.7\pm14.1\%$, respectively. When the second OLR (2.5 gVS/L·d) was tested, the removals of TS and VS were $50.5\pm4.2\%$ and $63.7\pm15.1\%$, respectively. These results indicated that the reactor was stable. The VS degradation was similar to the values obtained by Aramrueang *et al.*, (2016) (53 and 66% with an HRT of 15 d) who indicated that a high HRT contributes to greater VS degradation and higher SMY. Since the reactor had an automatic control system for the pH, no variations were detected (7.5 ± 0.2); this value is in the optimum pH range for the methanogenic stage (Zamri *et al.*, 2021).



Fig. 14. Productivity and yields of methane during operation of a conventional anaerobic digestor (single stage).

7.2.2 Acidogenic digester (first stage)

The operation of the acidogenic reactor was carried out under three different conditions to evaluate the effect of Ni²⁺ amendments (Fig. 15). The OLR and the HRT were kept constant for all the cycles. Application of 0, 0.1, and 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/gVS_{inoculum} led to productivities of 1809 ± 361 , 1670 ± 338 , and 2738 ± 199 mL H₂/L⁻d, respectively. The hydrogen yield (HY) obtained for each condition was 30 ± 6 , 28 ± 5.6 , and 46 ± 3 mL H₂/gVS_{added}. The average of the productivities when the highest Ni²⁺ concentration was applied from cycle 15 to cycle 32 was 2738 ± 199 mL H₂/L⁻d (Table 6), reaching the highest value in cycle 20 with a productivity of 3089 mL H₂/L⁻d, which is similar to those productivities achieved by (Angeriz-Campoy *et al.*, 2018, 2017, 2015) who obtained 3.33, 3.67 and 2.51 L H₂/L⁻d which are the highest productivities reported in the literature for this type of substrate. The reactor operated stably for 32 cycles.

Different Ni²⁺ concentrations have been used in DF and AD processes to increase biogas production. In the case of H_2 production through the DF, Taherdanak *et al.*, (2016) used 0.25, 0.5, 2.5, 5, 10, 25, and 50 mg Ni $^{2+}/L$ in batch reactors using glucose as substrate; the best HY were obtained with the concentrations of 10 and 25 mg Ni²⁺/L (350 and 380 mL H₂/gVS), respectively. Similarly, Wang and Wan (2008) operated batch reactors using glucose as substrate, to test the concentrations 0, 0.01, 0.02, 0.05, 0.1, 0.2, 0.5, 1, 5, 10, 20, 50 mg/L of Ni²⁺, they obtained the highest HY of 296 mL H_2/g of glucose by applying 0.1 mg Ni^{2+}/L . Due to the different types of substrates that have been used to prove the Ni^{2+} effect on H_2 production, a fair comparison is not possible since the substrate, inoculum, and operational conditions influence the results. Nevertheless, Chen et al., (2021) used a complex substrate (activated sludge) to operate batch digesters using the Ni²⁺ concentrations of 0, 5, 10, 50, 100, and 500 mg Ni²⁺/L; the highest HY of 480 mL H_2/g COD was obtained by applying 5 mg Ni²⁺/L. According to the results obtained in this study, it was possible to achieve high productivity and maintain stability in the DF process by applying $0.5 \text{ mg Ni}^{2+}/\text{gVS}_{\text{inoculum}}$, since no signs of inhibition were detected even when the feedstock is a complex substrate. The increase in productivity by adding 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/gVS_{inoculum}, is similar to the results obtained by Gou et al., (2015) who obtained a HY of 2.05 mol H₂/mol sucrose by applying 0.6 mg/L of Ni²⁺, which corresponded to two folds in the yield obtained in the control.

Parameter	Units	Cycles (1-6)	Cycles (7-14)	Cycles (15-32)
Ni ²⁺ addition	$mg/gVS_{inocumum}$	0	0.1	0.5
HRT	d	0.67	0.67	0.67
OLR	gVS/L/d	60	60	60
pН	-	6.1±0.1	6.3±0.07	6.2 ± 0.1
Total solids	g/L	56.3±10.6	40.0±13.1	40.5±11.1
Volatile solids	g/L	25.4±3.9	17.8±4.8	17.3±3.6
COD	g/L	43.1±1.6	41.9±1.7	38.9±3.5
Total VFA	g/L	6.4±0.3	6.1±1.7	$9.0{\pm}2.4$
YH ₂	mL H ₂ /g VS added	30±6	28±6	46±3
Productivity	mL H ₂ /L/d	1809±361	1670±338	2738±199

Table 6. Results of the operation of the acidogenic reactor (first stage).

The addition of the different Ni²⁺ concentrations improved the removal of TS, VS, and COD. On average, the remotion of TS, VS, and COD for the operating cycles 1 to 6 was $42.5\pm10.8\%$, $41.1\pm9\%$, and 26.6 ± 0.3 , respectively. For the following cycles (7-14) the removals for TS, VS, and COD were $59.1\pm13.4\%$, $58.7\pm11\%$, and $28.5\pm3\%$, respectively. During the last operating cycles from 15 to 32, the highest solids remotion was observed, and it was more constant than in the previous cycles. The average removal for TS, VS, and COD was $64.3\pm0.9\%$, $64\pm0.7\%$, and $33.6\pm0.6\%$, respectively.



Fig. 15. Productivity and yields of hydrogen during operation at SBR (First stage)

The VFA concentrations were measured in the acidogenic effluents. Important changes were observed mainly in the last cycles (Fig. 16). During the first cycles of operation without Ni²⁺ addition (1-6), the total production of metabolites was 6358 ± 334 mg/L, with 42.6% corresponding to acetate. In all cases, acetate was the VFA generated at the highest concentration. Although it has been reported that acetate and butyrate are the VFA generated at the highest concentration during the DF process (Angeriz-Campoy *et al.*, 2017), caproate concentrations were slightly higher than butyrate. In the cycles of operation performed without Ni²⁺ addition (1-6), the production of caproate corresponded to 24.7% while the production of butyrate was 24% VFA. In the following cycles (7-14) where the concentration of 0.1 mgNi²⁺/gVS_{inoculum} was supplied, the VFA concentration increased by 33.6% and subsequently decreased, obtaining a metabolite concentration of 4941 mg/L. The concentration of 973 mg VFA/L in the control and lower concentrations of total VFA when applying the different doses of Ni²⁺ (5, 10, 50, 100 and 500 mg/L), in each case, the acetate concentration was higher than the butyrate concentration.

In the following cycles from 15 to 32, the concentration of 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/gVS_{inoculum} was added. The VFA concentrations were similar to those obtained in the second condition. However, after cycle 21 an increase of 73.1% in the total metabolites' concentration was observed. Acetate was the VFA produced in the highest concentration reaching 4031±99.2 mg/L. The caproate concentrations measured in the acidogenic effluent were 2520 ± 218 mg/L. In the last cycles of operation and after the Ni²⁺ supplementation, a concentration of 1402 ± 645 mg/L of caprylate was detected, corresponding to a medium-chain fatty acid (MCFA). Caprylate was generated after long-term reactor operation. Therefore, the production of bio-H₂ improved with the Ni²⁺ addition as well as the production of the metabolites. The generation of higher molecular weight metabolites due to the addition of nickel in the AD process was reported by Ashley *et al.*, (1982), who indicated that the presence of Ni²⁺ can shift the emphasis of fermentation towards that of amino acids and away from carbohydrate metabolism.



Fig. 16. Generation of VFA during operation in SBR (first stage)

7.2.3 Biochemical methane potential assay

Triplicate tests were carried out to analyze the BMP of the three types of effluents generated during the operation of the acidogenic reactor (Fig. 17). The highest production of CH₄ was reached with the effluent without Ni²⁺, with a productivity of 2600 ± 55 mL CH₄ and a SMY of 173 ± 5 mL CH₄/gVS_{added}. The effluent from cycles 7 to 14 of the acidogenic reactor (with a Ni²⁺ supplementation of 0.1 mg Ni²⁺/gVS_{inoculum}) presented a production of 2054 ± 53 mL of CH₄ and a yield of 137 ± 4 mL CH₄/gVS_{added}. The lowest production and SMY were obtained with the acidogenic effluent obtained from cycles 15 to 32; the CH₄ production reached 1669 ± 32 mL of CH₄ and a yield of 112 ± 2 mL CH₄/gVS_{added}. It is noteworthy to mention that the batch tests inoculated with not acclimatized granular sludge as inoculum to treat acidogenic effluents enriched with Ni²⁺. This is a factor that could have affected the test since the effluents enriched with nickel can produce toxic effects on the microorganisms (Demirel and Scherer, 2011; Ezebuiro and Körner, 2017).



Fig. 17. Cumulative volume of methane produced in batch tests from acidogenic effluents nickel enriched.

7.2.4 Methanogenic digester (second stage)

The effluents from each operational condition of the acidogenic reactor were homogenized and used as substrates to feed the methanogenic reactor. In this stage, no dilutions were carried out. In cycles 1 to 4 when the first acidogenic effluent was fed, a productivity of 641 ± 95 mL CH₄/L·d and a SMY of 156 ± 23 mL CH₄/gVS_{added} were obtained (Fig. 18). Both the productivity and SMY were higher than those obtained when the reactor operated in one stage. This agrees with the assessments of Ezebuiro and Körner, (2017) who concluded that a two-stage operation is better to obtain higher productivity and SMY since a hydrolyzed effluent rich in VFA, mainly acetate, is used as a substrate, which can be utilized by methanogenic microorganisms for CH₄ production. The SMY based on the VS amount fed in the first stage, in cycles 1 to 4 is 138 ± 21 mL of CH₄/gVS. This value is lower than the SMY obtained from the AE since the AE contain a part of hydrolyzed organic matter that cannot be determined as VS. During the operation of the reactor in cycles 5 to 8, where the second effluent was used as feedstock, the reactor achieved productivities and SMY of 657 ± 132 mL CH₄/L·d and 216 ± 44 mL CH₄/gVS_{added}, respectively. These values were slightly higher than those obtained with the first effluent tested. However, the low production could be explained due to the change in substrate since its composition in terms of VFA concentrations was different and it contained a higher Ni concentration than the first effluent.

Once the third effluent was fed from cycle 9, the productivity increased up to 798 ± 69 mL CH₄/L·d, corresponding to an increase of 22.4% concerning the values obtained when the first digestate was used. In cycles 9 to 11, the SMY was 241±8 mL CH₄/gVS_{added}; however, in the operating cycles from 12 to 15, the SMY increased to 365 ± 20 mL CH₄/gVS_{added}, which corresponds to an increase of 127% compared with the first condition tested in the TSAD. This result reaffirms that the use of TM as Ni²⁺ can increase SMY. Comparing the productivities obtained in OSAD with TSAD, it was possible to increase productivity and SMY by 72% and 105%, respectively by operating in TSAD (using the effluent without Ni²⁺ supplementation). Regarding the Ni²⁺ effect, the CH₄-productivity and the SMY increased 127% and 380%, respectively, when the reactor was fed with the effluent enriched with Ni²⁺ (from cycles 15-32 of the acidogenic reactor).



Fig. 18. Productivity and yields of methane during operation at SBR (second stage).

Similarly, as the acidogenic reactor, the removal of TS and VS increased in each condition tested in the second stage. For cycles 1-4, TS and VS removal were 11.3±1.8% and 18.9±4%, respectively. For the

operating cycles from 5 to 8, the TS and VS removal were $14.5\pm0.9\%$ and 21.7%, respectively. In the last cycles, the highest TS and VS removals were reached, corresponding to $21.6\pm1.7\%$ and $25.8\pm3.2\%$, respectively (Table 7). The removal of solids and COD were also reported by Azizi *et al.*, (2019), who operated a TSAD system from source-separated organics from OFMSW and increased the degradation kinetics up to 45% through thermal pretreatment. Due to the capacity of the two-stage system to remove TS, VS, and COD, it was possible to obtain a digestate with a lower content of organic matter, which could have agricultural applications (Peng *et al.*, 2020).

Parameter	Units	Cycles (1-4)	Cycles (5-8)	Cycles (9-15)
Ni	mg/gTS	1.67	1.85	2.24
OLR	gVS/L·d	1.97	1.38	1.34
HRT	d	13	13	13
рН	-	7.8±0.3	7.7±0.2	7.7±0.3
TS	g/L	49.9±1.0	34.2±0.4	31.7±0.7
VS	g/L	20.6±1.1	13.9±0.4	12.8±0.6
COD	g/L	14.5 ± 1.4	10.6±1.9	9.2 ± 1.2
Total VFA	mg/L	Not detected	Not detected	Not detected
SMY (AE)	mL CH4/g VSadded	156±23	216±44	365±20
Productivity	mL CH ₄ /L·d	641±95	657±132	847±46

Table 7. Results of the operation of the methanogenic reactor (Second stage).

Regarding the VFA, in the three conditions tested during the TSAD, VFA were not detected at the end of each cycle of operation, which reinforces what has been described by several authors on the use of TM to promote VFA degradation. For instance, Espinosa *et al.*, (1995) achieved a propionic acid reduction from 5,291 mg/L to 251 mg/L and an acetic acid reduction from 1,100 mg/L to 158 mg/L in a UASB reactor using a mix of Fe, Co, Mo, and Ni. In the same way, Osuna *et al.*, (2003) induced the propionate degradation in an Up-flow anaerobic sludge bed reactor by the addition of a TM solution containing Fe, B, Zn, Mn, Cu, Ni, and Se, and Wall *et al.*, (2014), obtained low concentrations of propionic acid in a CSTR by adding Co, Fe, and Ni. In the aforementioned cases, certain Ni²⁺ concentrations were added to the AD process.

7.2.5 Microbial community analysis

AD involves different microorganisms (bacteria and archaea) that degrade organic matter and generate methane-rich biogas. According to the results obtained from all the samples analyzed, a cluster dendrogram was generated (Fig. 19A), it shows a variety of clustering patterns indicating important differences in community structure in samples from each stage, the first group corresponds to the acidogenic stage, and the second group corresponds to the methanogenic stages. The samples of the OSAD were cluster separated. At the beginning of the operation of the OSAD, the microbial community revealed a high relative abundance of Bacteroidota reaching 60%, and similar abundances of Thermotogota (11%), Sinergistota (11%), and Firmicutes (11%) (Fig. 19B).

After 10 cycles, the microbial community shifted and the relative abundance of Bacteroidota dropped to 10%. This behavior was also observed by Fan *et al.*, (2022) who studied the microbial communities changes in UASB reactors; in that case the phyla Bacteroidota dropped from 22% to 16% which was related to the poor efficiency of acetate metabolization. At the end of the operation of OSAD, the main phyla were Firmicutes (20%), Synergiostota (20%), Thermotogota (8%), and other phyla with a relative abundance lower than 5% (Bacteroidota, Caldatribacteriota, Cloroflexi, Cloacimonadota, Desulfobacterota, Euryarchaeota, and Verrucomicrobiota); thus, microbial communities changed along the time. According to Tao *et al.*, (2020), Bacteroides is a versatile taxon present in anaerobic reactors and plays an important role in hydrolyzing a large variety of polysaccharides and producing VFA;

nevertheless, this taxon was displaced by Firmicutes and Synergistota. In AD, Firmicutes plays an important role in metabolizing organic compounds and producing VFA (Strazzera *et al.*, 2021); meanwhile, *Synergistacea* (Synergistota phyla) can produce H_2 and CO_2 from the degradation of monocarboxylic and long-chain fatty acids, which could implicate a syntropic association with hydrogenotrophic methanogens (Hardy *et al.*, 2021).

Regarding the first stage of the TSAD, H₂-rich biogas production through DF requires sludge pretreatment to avoid CH₄ production. In this case, a pretreated sludge was used for the inoculation of the acidogenic reactor in the first stage. Nevertheless, this kind of pretreatment changes the microbial communities since, a heat shock pretreatment causes the suppression of methanogenic Archaea and non-sporulating bacteria, enriching the culture with sporulating H₂-producing bacteria such as Clostridia (Lay *et al.*, 2003). At the beginning of the operation, around 70% of the relative abundance corresponds to Firmicutes phylum with a high abundance of Clostridia (50%) and Bacilli (20%) class. These results coincide with the microbial communities reported by O-Thong *et al.*, (2009), who described a high abundance of Firmicutes phyla, clostridia class, mainly *Thermoanaerobacterium thermosaccharolyticum* after the thermal pretreatment, which corresponds to a spore-forming bacteria. According to Yang and Wang, (2019), it is possible that Firmicutes phyla had a better ability to recover their activity after a heat-shock pretreatment compared with other phyla. This is beneficial in the acidogenic stage since Firmicutes had the ability of degrading macromolecules such as proteins, lipids, and polymeric carbohydrates, and produce VFA (Ko *et al.*, 2018).

After the Ni²⁺ addition (0.1 mg Ni²⁺/gVS_{inoculum}), from cycles 7 to 14, changes in microbial communities were detected. The relative abundance of Firmicutes phylum dropped from 70% to 60% and an increase in Bacteroidota was detected from 13% to 23%. Also, the relative abundance of Actinobacteriota decreased; this phylum had been detected in anaerobic digesters and is related to the degradation of recalcitrant organic matter and hydrolysis of complex carbohydrates (Theuerl *et al.*, 2020). After the second period of Ni²⁺ addition (0.5 mg Ni²⁺/gVS_{inoculum}) from cycle 15 to 32, the phylum Actinobacteriota increased from 5% to 12%, which could be related to the period of adaptation to the Ni²⁺ in the medium.



dist hclust (*, "ward.D")



Fig. 19. Cluster dendrogram Based on Bray-Curtis distance (A) and relative abundance(B) of microbial communities at phylum level for SBR in different stages and Ni concentrations. (FS=first stage, SS=second stage)

Regarding metabolites production, caproate production was observed in all the cycles of the acidogenic reactor, and it was one of the principal metabolites produced in this stage besides acetate and butyrate. Through chain elongation process, bacteria transform ethanol and short-chain fatty acids such as acetate and butyrate into medium-chain fatty acids (MCFA) (Agler *et al.*, 2012). Wallace *et al.*, (2003) reported that *Eubacterium pyruvativorans* sp., isolated from sheep rumen fluid was able to produce caproate and valerate by acetate and propionate utilization. In this case, Eubacteriaceae family (Firmicutes) was found in the samples of the first stage operation, which could be related to the MCFA production since chain elongation can be performed under non-sterile conditions with a mixed microbial culture (Reddy *et al.*, 2018) as the one used to inoculate the acidogenic reactor.

The composition of microbial communities were constrained against physicochemical variables in a dbRDA where the first and second axes explained 56.94% and 22.86% variation of microbial communities (ANOVA, p=0.038). The COD removal was correlated with Ercella succinigenes and Thermovirga sp. (Firmicutes and Synergistota phyla respectively). The Ni²⁺ addition was correlated with *Syntrophomonas* sp., and *DMER64* sp. (Firmicutes and Bacteroidota phyla, respectively), and the productivity of the first stage was correlated with the genus *Prevotella*_7 sp., and *Pseudoramibacter* sp., (Bacteroidota and Firmicutes phyla, respectively). These phyla were predominant in each stage evaluated. Cloacimonadia and JS1 were the most significant class in the first stage, and Methanobacteria and Actinobacteria were the predominant class in the second stage. Meanwhile, Fig. 20 showed that genus *LNR A2-18* was the most significant in the first stage, and *Methanobrevibacter* and *Methanosphaera* were the predominant genera in the second stage.



Fig. 20. Volcano plot: Genus level. The red dots refer to the significant genera.

7.3 Nickel and iron addition to improve the biogas production in a twostage system

The effect of TM on acetogenesis and methanogenesis has been widely studied. However, less research has been done about the TM effect in a two-stage system (Voelklein *et al.*, 2017), especially CH₄-rich biogas production from acidogenic effluents enriched with TM. In this sense, this work is intended to bridge that knowledge gap by evaluating the effect of Fe^{2+} and Ni^{2+} addition on H₂-rich biogas production from organic solid waste and the CH₄-rich biogas production from the AE enriched with TM. The composition of microbial communities was also examined to explore the impact of TM on microbial diversity. Promotion of microbial activity by TM without reducing diversity would be valuable to reinforce bioprocess stability.

7.3.1 Biohydrogen Potential test

TM had an influence on HY and VS removal. HY in the control (without TM) was 122 ± 2 mL H₂/gVS_{added}. The HY decreased by 89% and 88% when Ni²⁺ was added as unique TM (0.25 and 0.5 mg/L), reaching 13 ± 1 and 14.5 ± 0.5 mL H₂/gVS_{added}, respectively. In the study conducted by Wang and Wan, (2008) who tested Ni²⁺ concentrations from 0.01 to 50 mg/L in batch reactors, they detected a low HY of 120 mL H₂/g glucose by applying the higher Ni²⁺ concentration. In the present study, a toxic effect was detected as a consequence of Ni²⁺ supplementation due to the low HY. The addition of Fe²⁺ as sole TM displayed a less deleterious effect than Ni²⁺ on HY. The concentration of 667 mg/L Fe²⁺ led to an HY of 146±2.5 mL H₂/gVS_{added}, which is 19.67% higher than the control (Fig. 21A). In the research performed by Zhang *et al.*, (2017) the HY from glucose increased by 37% regarding the control when 200 mg/L of Fe²⁺ were applied. Nevertheless, a complex substrate (OFMSW) was used for this research, occasioning differences regarding the effect of TM on HY, since the complex aqueous chemistry of the systems influences the availability of TM through precipitation and the presence of chelating agents (Demirel and Scherer, 2011).



Fig. 21. A) Ni²⁺ and Fe²⁺ effect on hydrogen yield and, B) Ni²⁺ and Fe²⁺ effect on volatile solids removal.

In this study, an HY of 342 mL H₂/gVS_{added} was obtained by applying 334 mg/L of Fe²⁺ and 0.25 mg/L of Ni²⁺ corresponding to a threefold increase compared with the control. These conditions also promoted the highest concentrations of total metabolites (6.2 ± 1.5 g/L of acetate, propionate, and butyrate). In complex substrates such as OFMSW, where the removal of VS is a crucial issue, the supplementation of TM should be considered. The highest VS removal ($10.6\pm0.5\%$) was achieved with the highest Fe²⁺ concentration (667 mg/L). For comparison, in the reactors with the highest HY, the VS removal was 9.9±0.1% (Fig. 21B). In agreement with these results, in the study carried out by Chen *et al.*, (2021), the addition of 5 mg/L of Ni²⁺ to H₂-producing reactors using slurry as substrate, showed a soluble COD removal of 27.69%, which was higher than the control; thus, the efficiency of substrate utilization was related to soluble COD degradation. According to Choong *et al.*, (2016), besides the biogas enhancement, TM can increase the substrates' degradation efficiency, plus COD and solids removal.

7.3.2 Acidogenic reactor (first stage)

The reactor was operated for 25 cycles to allow stabilization before TM additions. Productivities of 1823 ± 160 mL H₂/L·d and HY of 28 ± 2 mL H₂/gVS_{added} were obtained during that period (Fig. 22). The lower HY compared with the batch tests can be partly explained by the shortest reaction time of the reactor (8 hours vs. 30 hours in batch tests). TS, VS, and COD removals were $26.5\pm0.8\%$, $15.4\pm0.25\%$, and $40\pm1.6\%$ during the first 25 cycles, respectively.



Fig. 22. Hydrogen yields and productivities obtained in the acidogenic reactor (first stage). The red arrows represent the cycles where Fe^{2+} and Ni^{2+} were added.

TM were added at cycle 26. The productivity and HY decreased at the end of the cycle. Both parameters remained low from cycles 27 to 32, achieving a productivity of 638 ± 140 mL H₂/L·d and an HY of 10 ± 2.2 mL H₂/gVS_{added}. In cycle 33, the productivity and HY increased. This behavior could be explained due to the acclimatization time of the microorganisms to different TM concentrations. According to Chen *et al.*, (2008) and Ezebuiro *et al.*, (2018), after prolonged periods, microorganisms increase their tolerance to different TM concentrations; therefore, biogas production could increase. In cycle 37, TM were supplemented. The HY was variable in a range of 8 to 25 mL H₂/gVS_{added}. TM addition (indicated by red arrows in Fig. 22) caused a transient reduction of H₂-rich biogas production differing from the results obtained in the BPH. However, in batch tests, each reactor was inoculated independently, while the acidogenic reactor was inoculated just at the beginning of the operation. Microbial communities change over time which can conduct to different results in biogas production.

In agreement with these results, García-Depraect *et al.*, (2019) used a mesophilic lab-scale fermenter to produce H_2 -rich biogas from tequila vinasses; the addition of FeSO₄·7H₂O did not improve the biogas production, which was related with possible changes in metabolic pathways. Low hydrogen production may be explained due to the formation of products such as lactate or butyrate, involved in the oxidation of NADH. The final hydrogen yield depends on the main metabolite pathway orientation (Cabrol *et al.*, 2017; Cai *et al.*, 2011). Regarding the VS removal, it increased up to 70% (Table 8) after the TM supplementation. This is an important finding since AE could be used for CH₄ production, minimizing the need to add water to dilute and reduce the OLR. Regarding the above, Ezebuiro and Körner, (2017) investigated the catalytic potentials of TM in simple and complex substrates; their results showed that TM supplementation enhances substrate hydrolysis and acidification rate and prevent inhibition due to acid accumulation.

Parameter	Units	Cycle (1-25)	Cycle (26-36)	Cycle (37-46)	Cycle (47-52)
pН	-	5.5±0.2	5.5±0.2	5.5±0.2	5.5±0.2
Total solids	g/L	26.5±0.8	20.3±4.4	24.4 ± 4.9	26.6±2.2
Volatile solids	g/L	15.4±0.25	12.2±1.7	13.8±2.3	11.2 ± 2.8
COD	g/L	34.1	42.2	36.5	39.1
Acetate	g/L	1.29±0.13	2.01±0.20	2.29 ± 0.40	2.91±0.90
Butyrate	g/L	2.92±0.13	3.74 ± 2.25	1.88 ± 1.56	4.68±0.51
Total VFA	g/L	4.21±0.18	5.75 ± 2.44	4.16±1.39	7.59±1.16
HY	mL H ₂ /g VS _{added}	28±2	16±7	19±5	17±4
H ₂ Productivity	mL H ₂ /L/d	1823±160	1016±454	1209±338	1083±243

Table 8. Results obtained in the first stage (acidogenic reactor).

7.3.3 Methanogenic digester (second stage)

The methanogenic reactor was operated for 38 cycles. The reactor was fed with the AE without TM from cycles 1 to 12. The first OLR evaluated was 2.7 gVS/L·d since no dilutions were performed. The productivities and yields obtained in the first five cycles correspond to 1260 ± 166 mL CH₄/L·d and 233 ± 32 mL CH₄/gVS_{added}, respectively (Fig. 23). However, the high OLR and the short HRT impacted the performance of the process from cycle 6, quantifying low biogas production. For this reason, it was necessary to re-inoculate the reactor to pursue the operation (red line, Fig. 23). The reinoculation was carried out by adding 400 mL of anaerobic granular sludge. Before continuing with the evaluation, the reactor was operated by six cycles with an OLR of 1.6 gVS/L·d to avoid inhibition since, in anaerobic digesters, low stability is expected when a high OLR is applied (Mata-Alvarez *et al.*, 1992; Shen *et al.*, 2013).

The first AE enriched with TM was added from cycle 13. The specific methane yield (SMY) increased suddenly to 331 ± 67 mL CH₄/gVS_{added}. The OLR in cycles 13 to 16 was 1.5 gVS/L·d. The process operated stably since the reactor was fed with the AE enriched with TM. In this period, the productivity was 946±77 mL CH₄/L·d. The productivities and SMY in the following cycles were stable even when the reactor operated at high OLRs of 2.4 gVS/L·d (from cycles 17-23) and 2.8 gVS/L·d (from cycles 24-30). These results support the benefit of TM addition. The optimal dose of TM varies with feedstock, and TM requirements increase with organic dry matter supply to the reactor (Pobeheim et al., 2011). In this sense, Wall et al., (2014) operated a reactor using grass silage as a substrate using high OLRs, they supplied the reactor with a mix of Co, Ni, and Fe to maintain a stable AD process. Thus, the SMY increased by 12% up to 404 mL CH₄/gVS, and the VFA removal rates also increased. In the same way, Gustavsson et al., (2011), investigate the effect of TM addition on lab-scale biogas tank reactors using wheat stillage as substrate at a high OLR of 4 gVS/L·d; to maintain the process stability they applied a daily supplementation of Co (0.5 mg/L), Ni (0.2 mg/L) and Fe (0.5 mg/L). The SMY_(OFMSW) calculated from the VS concentration of the OFMSW fed in the first stage is lower than the SMY_(AE). The reason for this difference is that the SMY_(AE) calculated from the VS in the AE contains a part of the organic matter hydrolyzed as VFA that cannot be determined as VS. After cycle 30, the initial conditions were repeated by feeding the AE without TM at an OLR of 1.6 gVS/L·d. The productivities obtained in this period were stable in the same range as the previous condition using AE enriched with TM (1011-1363 mL $CH_4/L \cdot d$). Nevertheless, the SMY increased to 442 mL CH₄/gVS_{added} in cycle 33. The results obtained in this research agree with the findings obtained by Voelklein et al., (2017). They compared the effect of the TM in one and two stages to determine the impact and the response of the process after the TM addition; the results obtained showed that Co, Fe, Mo, Ni, and Se restored a stable process and allowed increased loading rates. Also, the hydrolytic pre-treatment improved the SMY compared with the single stage but did not show any better resilience to nutrient deficiency.



Fig. 23. Methane yields and productivities obtained in the second stage. The blue arrows represent the cycles where the acidogenic effluents enriched with TM were added.

In this last operation period, besides the SMY, the removal of TS, VS, and COD were also improved (Table 9). The digestate obtained could be used for agricultural applications (Peng et al., 2020). A similar effect of high removal efficiencies was reported by Ignace *et al.*, (2016) who used iron powder to increase the SMY from sewage sludge; in the presence of this additive, the COD was reduced (51%-70.6%). Regarding the VFA, it is known that a possible cause of AD failure is VFA accumulation (Li et al., 2012). The metabolites produced at the end of the first stage were completely removed by feeding the methanogenic reactor with the AE enriched with TM. This effect was also reported by Espinosa et al., (1995) who achieved a reduction of propionic acid from 5,291 mg/L to 251 mg/L and an acetic acid reduction from 1,100 mg/L to 158 mg/L in a UASB reactor using a mix of Fe, Co, Mo, and Ni. In the same way, Osuna et al., (2003) induced the propionate degradation in an Up-flow anaerobic sludge bed reactor by the addition of a TM solution containing Fe, B, Zn, Mn, Cu, Ni, and Se. Wall et al., (2014) obtained low concentrations of propionic acid in a CSTR by adding Co, Fe, and Ni, under various operating conditions and with different substrates. Similar VFA removals were obtained by applying AE enriched with TM even though the concentrations and operational conditions differed. After the TM addition, it was possible to achieve process stability, obtaining high yields and productivity even when operating at high OLR. These results were also achieved due to the physical separation of the reactors since the environmental conditions of the groups of microorganisms that intervene in each stage may differ widely.

Parameter	Units	Cycle (1-6)	Cycle (13-16)	Cycle (17-23)	Cycle (24-30)	Cycle (31-38)
Ni	mg/gTS	0	2.372	3.738	4.224	5.044
Fe	mg/gTS	0	8.246	10.754	11.538	12.288
OLR	gVS/L/d	2.7	1.5	2.4	2.8	1.6
pН	-	7.9 ± 0.07	8.06±0.03	8.1±0.03	8.1±0.08	8.2±0.04
TS	g/L	17.0 ± 3.0	14.8 ± 1.0	15.8±3.6	11.5 ± 3.5	9.4±1.1
VS	g/L	5.9±1	8.3±3.2	9.6±1.2	5.7±1.4	$4.4{\pm}1.8$
COD	g/L	6.2	11.5	10.8	11.2	8.6
Total VFA	mg/L	Not detected	Not detected	Not detected	Not detected	Not detected
SMY(AE)	mL CH4/gVSadded	233±32	331±67	275±70	230±10	350±57
Productivity	mL CH ₄ /L/d	1260±166	946±77	1246±105	1278 ± 42	1181±119

Table 9. Results obtained in the second stage in the methanogenic reactor.

7.3.4 Microbial community analysis

The acidogenic reactor was inoculated with thermally pretreated sludge, leading to a predominance of ASV affiliated with *Megasphaera* belonging to the phyla Firmicutes. *Megasphaera* spp. are non-spore forming obligate anaerobe encoding [FeFe]-hydrogenase to produce H₂ (Cabrol *et al.*, 2017; Søndergaard *et al.*, 2016; Wang *et al.*, 2018). A low relative abundance of the phylum Proteobacteria (7%) and Bacteroidota (3%) were also observed. ASV encompassing both phyla were not detected between cycles 26 to 46 after TM additions. Other compositional changes in microbial communities were observed in Firmicutes. A succession from ASV affiliated with *Megasphaera* spp. after inoculation to ASV affiliated with *Succiniclasticum* spp. (39%) was noticed in the last operation cycles. This genus has been previously reported in changes in hydrogen metabolism to propionate production from succinate (Hahnke *et al.*, 2016; Lopes *et al.*, 2016). Taken together, the results indicate a potential influence of Fe²⁺ and Ni²⁺ on microbial communities in addition to exerting an effect on VS removal and VFA in AE supplied to the second stage of AD.

Contrasting microbial community structures were observed among acidogenic and methanogenic reactors (Fig. 24). Distribution profile of ASV affiliated to *Megasphaera* spp. in the first stage and, *Proteiniphilum* spp., *Thermovirga* spp., *DMER64* spp., *Anaerovorax* spp., and Syntrophomonas spp., in the second stage, contributed to contrasting microbial communities, with higher relative abundance observed in the first and second stage, respectively (Fig. 25). *Proteiniphilum* spp. is facultative anaerobic bacteria presumably generating acetic and propionic acids as main fermentation products (Hahnke *et al.*, 2016). *Thermovirga* spp. has been previously identified as a sulfate/Fe (III)- respiring gene with the ability to proceed with acetate oxidation (Wang *et al.*, 2023). The archaeal abundance in the methanogenic effluent was negligible due to the sampling strategy applied. The samples were taken after the sedimentation of the SBR; therefore, the archaeal populations inside the sedimented granular sludge were not detected.



Cluster Dendrogram

dist hclust (*, "average")

Fig. 24. Cluster dendrogram Based on Bray-Curtis distance for SBR in the first and second stages. (AR: Acidogenic reactor or first stage, MR: methanogenic reactor or second stage, C: cycle)



Fig. 25. Volcano plot for SBR in the first and second stages. The red dots refer to the significant genera.

7.4 Assessment of biogas production concerning trace metals

There are challenges related to biogas production from OFMSW e.g., the difficulty of starting up the process, longer stabilization, inhibition due to the generation of toxic compounds. Achieving high productivity is limited to the stable operation of the system. In the case of H_2 -rich biogas production, when the HRT is longer than 2 days, pH tends to drop due to the accumulation of VFA. If operating with a shorter HRT, the process may require the addition of trace metals to obtain higher productivity and yield. In this sense, Fig. 26 presents a decision tree based on the results obtained during the H_2 -rich biogas production.



Fig. 26. Decision tree concerning trace metals supplementation for hydrogen-rich biogas production from OFMSW.

In the case of CH₄-rich biogas production, the one-stage AD process has been widely studied. However, methane-rich biogas production from acidogenic effluents is still under study. The AE may present different VS concentrations; thus, to adjust the OLR, it is necessary to add water. Nevertheless, TM can reduce water demand. Fig. 27 shows a decision tree based on the results obtained when the AE were used as a substrate. When AE are fed undiluted (as is the case in the present thesis), the process may be inhibited. The results showed that when using AE enriched with Fe²⁺ and Ni²⁺, it is possible to operate stably considering the variations in the OLR and at a short HRT.



Fig. 27. Decision tree concerning trace metals supplementation for methane-rich biogas production from acidogenic effluents.

8 CONCLUSIONS

The addition of trace metals (Ni²⁺ or Ni²⁺ and Fe²⁺) in hydrogen-producing reactors exerts an effect on the production of hydrogen-rich biogas. Under the proper operating conditions, TMs effect can be positive by increasing hydrogen yields. Trace metal-enriched acidogenic effluents improve the stability of methane-producing reactors by increasing biogas yields and avoiding process inhibition. The conclusions corresponding to each specific objective are presented below.

For the effect of nickel concentration on biohydrogen production: organic solid waste vs. glucose, the batch tests using glucose as a reference substrate showed the highest H₂ production when 2 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum} was applied. H₂ production increased by 34.4% compared to the control without nickel. Hence, this value could be taken as a reference to stimulate H₂ production by adding nickel to substrates lacking this trace metal. When OFMSW was used as a carbon source, and different doses of nickel were applied, the final accumulated volume decreased. In the SBR operation, the effect was similar since higher biogas production and hydrogen yields were obtained without the addition of Ni²⁺. However, it must be considered that the OFMSW contains a nickel concentration of 0.17 ± 0.06 mg Ni/g TS; therefore, it is possible that there was not a lack of this trace metal during the DF process. Adding 0.5 mg Ni²⁺/g VS_{inoculum} decreased acetate and butyrate production and increased caproate production. The addition of different concentrations of Ni²⁺ increases the concentration of Ni in the digestate; however, it could be recirculated to the system or used to produce methane since this trace metal has a vital role in anaerobic digestion in the growth of all methanogens and the synthesis of cofactor F₄₃₀. It is necessary to test the effect of Ni²⁺ focusing on the microbial population dynamics and its metabolic pathways related to H₂ and VFA production in long-term operated bioreactors using OFMSW as substrate.

In the two-stages system subjected to nickel addition compared with a conventional digester, the productivities and yields obtained in TSAD increase by 72% and 144%, respectively, which proves that TSAD improves the methane production besides the H₂-rich generation and increases the remotion of TS, VS and COD in the digestate. The results proved that Ni²⁺ addition improves the system's stability, allowing high biogas production. Changes in microbial communities' composition at phylum level were detected in each stage and the genus were correlated with the operational parameters. Cloacimonadia and JS1 were the most significant class in the first stage, and Methanobacteria and Actinobacteria was the predominant class in the second stage. Meanwhile, genus *LNR A2-18* was the most significant in the first stage, and *Methanobrevibacter* and *Methanosphaera* were the predominant genera in the second stage.

Finally, the nickel and iron addition improved the biogas production in a two-stage system. The optimal TM concentrations that increase the HY in BHP were obtained as 0.25 mg Ni²⁺/L and 334 mg Fe²⁺/L. However, when the acidogenic reactor (first stage) was supplied with the TM, the HY, and productivity decreased which was related to a high VS removal detected after each TM addition. Regarding the second stage, the use of undiluted effluents to feed the methanogenic reactor caused the fast decay of the process. Nevertheless, when the reactor was fed with the AE enriched with TM, a sudden increase in the SMY was detected, besides, it was possible to maintain the stability of the process, avoiding inhibition and obtaining high productivity. Although in the first stage, the use of TM did not enhance the H₂ productivities and HY, the use of AE enriched with TM in a two stages system could have great potential to avoid the use of water to dilute the effluents and to achieve process stability. Important changes in microbial communities were detected, especially in the methanogenic reactor. The H₂-rich biogas in the first stage was influenced by *Megasphaera* genus, meanwhile, *Proteiniphilum* spp., *Thermovirga* spp., *DMER64* spp., *Anaerovorax* spp., and *Syntrophomonas* spp. were the most significant genus in the second stage. The results indicate a potential influence of Fe²⁺ and Ni²⁺ on microbial communities in addition to exerting an effect on VS removal and VFA in AE supplied to the second stage of AD.

9 PERSPECTIVES

- This research was focused on the study of the effect of TM (Ni²⁺ and Fe²⁺) in the DF process. TM supplementation affects not only the production of hydrogen-rich biogas but the production of metabolites such as caproate. Future research should focus on the study of changes in metabolic pathways.
- The addition of TM affects the microbial communities in the hydrogen and methane-producing reactors. Therefore, it is necessary to evaluate if these long-term changes are positive and how they correlate with operational parameters such as organic loads, pH, and matter removal organic.
- The use of TM to recover the stability of anaerobic digesters has been verified, as well as its effect on increasing the production of biogas rich in methane. However, the frequency of the addition of TM should continue under study since the necessary amount of mineral solution could be lower, as well as the accumulation of TM in the digestates.
- This thesis focused on TM addition in the dark fermentation process (first stage). However, the effects of TM are more beneficial in the second stage. Therefore, future research could test the addition of metals in acidogenic effluents for methane-rich biogas production, especially when operating at low HRT.
- It is recommended to monitor the activity of the main metalloenzymes and coenzymes both in batch and SBR operation. In this way, it could be possible to know if the addition of trace metals has a direct effect on the increase in enzymatic activity or if there are other physicochemical factors limiting biogas production.

10 REFERENCES

- Abdelsalam, E., Samer, M., Attia, Y.A., Abdel-Hadi, M.A., Hassan, H.E., Badr, Y., 2017a. Effects of Co and Ni nanoparticles on biogas and methane production from anaerobic digestion of slurry. Energy Convers. Manag., Sustainable Biofuels. 141:108–19. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2016.05.051
- Abdelsalam, E., Samer, M., Attia, Y.A., Abdel-Hadi, M.A., Hassan, H.E., Badr, Y., 2017b. Influence of zero valent iron nanoparticles and magnetic iron oxide nanoparticles on biogas and methane production from anaerobic digestion of manure. Energy. 120:842–53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2016.11.137</u>
- 3. Aghajani Delavar, M., Wang, J., 2021. Numerical investigation of pH control on dark fermentation and hydrogen production in a microbioreactor. Fuel. 292:120355. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.fuel.2021.120355</u>
- Agler, M.T., Spirito, C.M., Usack, J.G., Werner, J.J., Angenent, L.T., 2012. Chain elongation with reactor microbiomes: upgrading dilute ethanol to medium-chain carboxylates. Energy Environ. Sci. 5(8):8189–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C2EE22101B</u>
- Ahmad, A., Banat, F., Taher, H., 2022. Enhanced lactic acid production from food waste in dark fermentation with indigenous microbiota. Biomass Convers. Biorefinery. 12(8):3425–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13399-020-00801-2
- Akhlaghi, M., Boni, M.R., Polettini, A., Pomi, R., Rossi, A., De Gioannis, G., Muntoni, A., Spiga, D., 2019. Fermentative H-2 production from food waste: Parametric analysis of factor effects. Bioresour. Technol. 276:349–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.01.012</u>
- Akhlaghi, N., Najafpour-Darzi, G., 2020. A comprehensive review on biological hydrogen production. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 45(43):22492–512. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.06.182</u>
- Akinbomi, J., Taherzadeh, M.J., 2015. Evaluation of Fermentative Hydrogen Production from Single and Mixed Fruit Wastes. Energies. 8(5):4253–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/en8054253</u>
- Alavi-Borazjani, S.A., Tarelho, L.A. da C., Capela, M.I., 2021a. Parametric optimization of the dark fermentation process for enhanced biohydrogen production from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste using Taguchi method. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 46(41):21372–82. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.04.017
- Alibardi, L., Cossu, R., 2016a. Effects of carbohydrate, protein and lipid content of organic waste on hydrogen production and fermentation products. Waste Manag. 47:69–77. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2015.07.049
- Alibardi, L., Cossu, R., 2015b. Composition variability of the organic fraction of municipal solid waste and effects on hydrogen and methane production potentials. Waste Manag. 36:147–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2014.11.019</u>
- Alzate-Gaviria, L.M., Sebastian, P.J., Pérez-Hernández, A., Eapen, D., 2007. Comparison of two anaerobic systems for hydrogen production from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste and synthetic wastewater. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 32(15):3141–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2006.02.034</u>
- Angelidaki, I., Alves, M., Bolzonella, D., Borzacconi, L., Campos, J.L., Guwy, A.J., Kalyuzhnyi, S., Jenicek, P., van Lier, J.B., 2009. Defining the biomethane potential (BMP) of solid organic wastes and energy crops: a proposed protocol for batch assays. Water Sci. Technol. 59:927–934. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2009.040</u>
- Angelidaki, I., Sanders, W., 2004. Assessment of the anaerobic biodegradability of macropollutants. Rev. Environ. Sci. Biotechnol. 3(2):117–29. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s11157-004-2502-3</u>
- Angeriz-Campoy, R., Álvarez-Gallego, C.J., Romero-García, L.I., 2015. Thermophilic anaerobic codigestion of organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW) with food waste (FW): Enhancement of bio-hydrogen production. Bioresour. Technol. 194:291–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2015.07.011</u>
- Angeriz-Campoy, R., Fdez-Guelfo, L.A., Alvarez-Gallego, C.J., Romero-Garcia, L.I., 2017. Inhibition of the Hydrolytic Phase in the Production of Biohydrogen by Dark Fermentation of Organic Solid Waste. Energy Fuels. 31(7):7176–84. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.energyfuels.7b00847</u>
- Angeriz-Campoy, R., Fdez-Güelfo, L.A., Tyagi, V.K., Álvarez-Gallego, C.J., Romero-García, L.I., 2018. New criteria to determine the destabilization of the acidogenic anaerobic co-digestion of organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW) with mixed sludge (MS). Bioconversion Food Wastes. 248:174–9. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.195
- Aramrueang, N., Rapport, J., Zhang, R., 2016. Effects of hydraulic retention time and organic loading rate on performance and stability of anaerobic digestion of Spirulina platensis. Biosyst. Eng. 147:174–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2016.04.006</u>
- Argun, H., Kargi, F., 2011. Bio-hydrogen production by different operational modes of dark and photofermentation: An overview. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy, Hysydays 36(13):7443–59. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2011.03.116

- Argun, H., Onaran, G., 2017. Effects of N/C, P/C and Fe/C ratios on dark fermentative hydrogen gas production from waste paper towel hydrolysate. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 42(22):14990–5001. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.04.289</u>
- Ashley, N.V., Davies, M., Hurst, T.J., 1982. The effect of increased nickel ion concentrations on microbial populations in the anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge. Water Res. 16(6):963–71. https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(82)90030-6
- Azbar, N., Dokgöz, F.T.Ç., Peker, Z., 2009. Optimization of Basal Medium for Fermentative Hydrogen Production from Cheese Whey Wastewater. Int. J. Green Energy. 6(4):371–80. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15435070903107049</u>
- Azizi, A., Hosseini Koupaie, E., Hafez, H., Elbeshbishy, E., 2019. Improving single- and two-stage anaerobic digestion of source separated organics by hydrothermal pretreatment. Biochem. Eng. J. 148:77– 86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2019.05.001</u>
- Babu, R., Prieto Veramendi, P.M., Rene, E.R., 2021. Strategies for resource recovery from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Case Stud. Chem. Environ. Eng. 3:100098. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cscee.2021.100098</u>
- 25. APHA, 2017. Baird, R., Bridgewater, L. Standard methods for the examination of water and wastewater, 23rd ed. Washington, D.C.
- Baldi, F., Pecorini, I., Iannelli, R., 2019a. Comparison of single-stage and two-stage anaerobic co-digestion of food waste and activated sludge for hydrogen and methane production. Renew. Energy 143:1755–1765. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2019.05.122</u>
- Baldi, F., Iannelli, R., Pecorini, I., Polettini, A., Pomi, R., Rossi, A., 2019b. Influence of the pH control strategy and reactor volume on batch fermentative hydrogen production from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Waste Manag. Res. 37(5):478–85. <u>https://doi.org/10.1177/0734242X19826371</u>
- Banks, C.J., Zhang, Y., Jiang, Y., Heaven, S., 2011. Trace element requirements for stable food waste digestion at elevated ammonia concentrations. Bioresour. Technol. 104:127–35. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.10.068</u>
- Bing-Feng, L., Nq, R., J, D., Gj, X., Wq, G., 2009. The effect of Ni2+, Fe2+ and Mg2+ concentration on photo-hydrogen production by Rhodopseudomonas faecalis RLD-53. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 34(2):721–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.11.033</u>
- Bougrier, C., Dognin, D., Laroche, C., Cacho Rivero, J.A., 2018. Use of trace elements addition for anaerobic digestion of brewer's spent grains. J. Environ. Manage. 223:101–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.06.014</u>
- Bożym, M., Florczak, I., Zdanowska, P., Wojdalski, J., Klimkiewicz, M., 2015. An analysis of metal concentrations in food wastes for biogas production. Renew. Energy. 77:467–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2014.11.010</u>
- Bru, K., Blazy, V., Joulian, C., Trably, E., Latrille, E., Quéméneur, M., Dictor, M.-C., 2012. Innovative CO2 pretreatment for enhancing biohydrogen production from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW). HYFUSEN. 37(19):14062–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2012.06.111</u>
- Buitrón, G., Carvajal, C., 2010. Biohydrogen production from Tequila vinasses in an anaerobic sequencing batch reactor: Effect of initial substrate concentration, temperature and hydraulic retention time. Bioresour. Technol. 101(23):9071–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2010.06.127</u>
- Bundhoo, M.A.Z., Mohee, R., 2016. Inhibition of dark fermentative bio-hydrogen production: A review. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 41(16):6713–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2016.03.057</u>
- Cabrol, L., Marone, A., Tapia-Venegas, E., Steyer, J.-P., Ruiz-Filippi, G., Trably, E., 2017. Microbial ecology of fermentative hydrogen producing bioprocesses: useful insights for driving the ecosystem function. FEMS Microbiol. Rev. 41(2):158–81. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/femsre/fuw043</u>
- Cai, G., Jin, B., Saint, C., Monis, P., 2011. Genetic manipulation of butyrate formation pathways in Clostridium butyricum. J. Biotechnol. 155(3):269–74. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jbiotec.2011.07.004</u>
- Callahan, B.J., McMurdie, P.J., Rosen, M.J., Han, A.W., Johnson, A.J.A., Holmes, S.P., 2016. DADA2: High-resolution sample inference from Illumina amplicon data. Nat. Methods. 13(7):581–3. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/nmeth.3869</u>
- Callander, I.J., Barford, J.P., 1983. Precipitation, chelation, and the availability of metals as nutrients in anaerobic digestion. I. Methodology. Biotechnol. Bioeng. 25(8):1947–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/bit.260250805</u>
- Campuzano, R., González-Martínez, S., 2016. Characteristics of the organic fraction of municipal solid waste and methane production: A review. Waste Manag. 54:3–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2016.05.016</u>

- Caporaso, J.G., Lauber, C.L., Walters, W.A., Berg-Lyons, D., Huntley, J., Fierer, N., Owens, S.M., Betley, J., Fraser, L., Bauer, M., Gormley, N., Gilbert, J.A., Smith, G., Knight, R., 2012. Ultra-high-throughput microbial community analysis on the Illumina HiSeq and MiSeq platforms. ISME J. 6(8):1621–4. https://doi.org/10.1038/ismej.2012.8
- Capson-Tojo, G., Moscoviz, R., Ruiz, D., Santa-Catalina, G., Trably, E., Rouez, M., Crest, M., Steyer, J.-P., Bernet, N., Delgenès, J.-P., Escudié, R., 2018. Addition of granular activated carbon and trace elements to favor volatile fatty acid consumption during anaerobic digestion of food waste. Bioresour. Technol. 260:157–68. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.03.097</u>
- Cardeña, R., Valdez-Vazquez, I., Buitrón, G., 2017. Effect of volatile fatty acids mixtures on the simultaneous photofermentative production of hydrogen and polyhydroxybutyrate. Bioprocess Biosyst. Eng. 40(2):231–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00449-016-1691-9</u>
- Carrillo-Reyes, J., Tapia-Rodríguez, A., Buitrón, G., Moreno-Andrade, I., Palomo-Briones, R., Razo-Flores, E., Aguilar Juárez, O., Arreola-Vargas, J., Bernet, N., Maluf Braga, A.F., Braga, L., Castelló, E., Chatellard, L., Etchebehere, C., Fuentes, L., León-Becerril, E., Méndez-Acosta, H.O., Ruiz-Filippi, G., Tapia-Venegas, E., Trably, E., Wenzel, J., Zaiat, M., 2019. A standardized biohydrogen potential protocol: An international round robin test approach. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 44(48):26237–47. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.08.124
- Castelló, E., Nunes Ferraz-Junior, A.D., Andreani, C., Anzola-Rojas, M. del P., Borzacconi, L., Buitrón, G., Carrillo-Reyes, J., Gomes, S.D., Maintinguer, S.I., Moreno-Andrade, I., Palomo-Briones, R., Razo-Flores, E., Schiappacasse-Dasati, M., Tapia-Venegas, E., Valdez-Vázquez, I., Vesga-Baron, A., Zaiat, M., Etchebehere, C., 2020. Stability problems in the hydrogen production by dark fermentation: Possible causes and solutions. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 119:109602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109602</u>
- Cesaro, A., 2021. The valorization of the anaerobic digestate from the organic fractions of municipal solid waste: Challenges and perspectives. J. Environ. Manage. 280:111742. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2020.111742</u>
- Cesaro, A., Conte, A., Carrere, H., Trably, E., Paillet, F., Belgiorno, V., 2020. Formic acid pretreatment for enhanced production of bioenergy and biochemicals from organic solid waste. Biomass Bioenergy. 133:105455. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2019.105455</u>
- Cesaro, A., Belgiorno, V., 2014. Pretreatment methods to improve anaerobic biodegradability of organic municipal solid waste fractions. Chem. Eng. J. 240:24–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2013.11.055</u>
- Chen, Y., Cheng, J.J., Creamer, K.S., 2008. Inhibition of anaerobic digestion process: A review. Bioresour. Technol. 99(10):4044–64. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2007.01.057</u>
- Chen, Y., Yin, Y., Wang, J., 2021a. Effect of Ni2+ concentration on fermentative hydrogen production using waste activated sludge as substrate. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 46(42):21844–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.04.054</u>
- Choong, Y.Y., Norli, I., Abdullah, A.Z., Yhaya, M.F., 2016. Impacts of trace element supplementation on the performance of anaerobic digestion process: A critical review. Bioresour. Technol. 209:369–79. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2016.03.028</u>
- Chowdhury, B., Magsi, S.B., Ting, H.N.J., Dhar, B.R., 2020. High-Solids Anaerobic Digestion Followed by Ultrasonication of Digestate and Wet-Type Anaerobic Digestion for Enhancing Methane Yield from OFMSW. Processes. 8(5):555. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pr8050555</u>
- Cieciura-Włoch, W., Borowski, S., Otlewska, A., 2020. Biohydrogen production from fruit and vegetable waste, sugar beet pulp and corn silage via dark fermentation. Renew. Energy. 153:1226–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2020.02.085</u>
- Constant P., Hallenbeck P.C., 2019. Chapter 3 Hydrogenase. In: Pandey A, Mohan SV, Chang JS, Hallenbeck PC, Larroche C, editors. Biohydrogen (Second Edition) Elsevier p. 49–78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-59555-3.00005-2</u>
- Corsino, S.F., Torregrossa, M., Viviani, G., 2021. Biomethane Production from Anaerobic Co-Digestion of Selected Organic Fraction of Municipal Solid Waste (OFMSW) with Sewage Sludge: Effect of the Inoculum to Substrate Ratio (ISR) and Mixture Composition on Process Performances. Int. J. Environ. Res. Public. Health 18(24):13048. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijerph182413048</u>
- Cuetos, M.J., Gomez, X., Escapa, A., Moran, A., 2007. Evaluation and simultaneous optimization of biohydrogen production using 3(2) factorial design and the desirability function. J. Power Sources. 169(1):131– 9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2007.01.050</u>
- Dauptain, K., Schneider, A., Noguer, M., Fontanille, P., Escudie, R., Carrere, H., Trably, E., 2021. Impact of microbial inoculum storage on dark fermentative H-2 production. Bioresour. Technol. 319:124234. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.124234</u>

- De Gioannis, G., Muntoni, A., Polettini, A., Pomi, R., Spiga, D., 2017. Energy recovery from one- and twostage anaerobic digestion of food waste. Waste Manag. 68:595–602. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2017.06.013</u>
- De Vrieze, J., De Lathouwer, L., Verstraete, W., Boon, N., 2013. High-rate iron-rich activated sludge as stabilizing agent for the anaerobic digestion of kitchen waste. Water Res. 47(11):3732–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2013.04.020
- De Vrieze, J., Raport, L., Willems, B., Verbrugge, S., Volcke, E., Meers, E., Angenent, L.T., Boon, N., 2015. Inoculum selection influences the biochemical methane potential of agro-industrial substrates. Microb. Biotechnol. 8(5):776–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/1751-7915.12268</u>
- Demichelis, F., Pleissner, D., Fiore, S., Mariano, S., Navarro Gutiérrez, I.M., Schneider, R., Venus, J., 2017. Investigation of food waste valorization through sequential lactic acid fermentative production and anaerobic digestion of fermentation residues. Bioresour. Technol. 241:508–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.05.174
- 61. Demirel, B., Scherer, P., 2011. Trace element requirements of agricultural biogas digesters during biological conversion of renewable biomass to methane. Biomass Bioenergy. 35(3):992–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2010.12.022
- do Nascimento Junior, J.R., Zevallos Torres, L.A., Medeiros, A.B.P., Woiciechowski, A.L., Martinez-Burgos, W.J., Soccol, C.R., 2021. Enhancement of biohydrogen production in industrial wastewaters with vinasse pond consortium using lignin-mediated iron nanoparticles. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 46(54):27431–43. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.06.009</u>
- Dong, L., Zhenhong, Y., Yongming, S., Longlong, M., 2010. Evaluation of pretreatment methods on harvesting hydrogen producing seeds from anaerobic digested organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW). 10th Chin. Hydrog. Energy Conf. 35(15):8234–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.12.058
- Dong, L., Zhenhong, Y., Yongming, S., Xiaoying, K., Yu, Z., 2009. Hydrogen production characteristics of the organic fraction of municipal solid wastes by anaerobic mixed culture fermentation. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 34(2):812–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.11.031</u>
- 65. DuBois Michel, Gilles KA, Hamilton JK, Rebers PA, Smith Fred. Colorimetric Method for Determination of Sugars and Related Substances. 1956. Anal Chem. 28(3):350–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/ac60111a017</u>
- Ebrahimian, F., Karimi, K., 2020. Efficient biohydrogen and advanced biofuel coproduction from municipal solid waste through a clean process. Bioresour. Technol. 300:122656. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122656</u>
- Elsamadony, M., Tawfik, A., Suzuki, M., 2015. Surfactant-enhanced biohydrogen production from organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW) via dry anaerobic digestion. Appl. Energy. 149:272–82. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2015.03.127</u>
- Escamilla-Alvarado, C., Poggi-Varaldo, H.M., Ponce-Noyola, T., Rios-Leal, E., Robles-Gonzalez, I., Rinderknecht-Seijas, N., 2015. Saccharification of fermented residues as integral part in a conceptual hydrogen-producing biorefinery. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 40(48):17200–11. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.06.164
- Escamilla-Alvarado, C., Ponce-Noyola, T., Ríos-Leal, E., Poggi-Varaldo, H.M., 2013. A multivariable evaluation of biohydrogen production by solid substrate fermentation of organic municipal wastes in semicontinuous and batch operation. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 38(28):12527–38. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2013.02.124
- Espinosa, A., Rosas, L., Ilangovan, K., Noyola, A., 1995. Effect of trace metals on the anaerobic degradation of volatile fatty acids in molasses stillage. Water Sci. Technol., Waste Management Problems in Agro-Industries. 32(12):121–9 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0273-1223(96)00146-1</u>
- 71. Evranos, B., Demirel, B., 2015. The impact of Ni, Co and Mo supplementation on methane yield from anaerobic mono-digestion of maize silage. Environ. Technol. 36(12):1556–62. https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330.2014.997297
- 72. Ezebuiro, N.C., Körner, I., 2017. Characterisation of anaerobic digestion substrates regarding trace elements and determination of the influence of trace elements on the hydrolysis and acidification phases during the methanisation of a maize silage-based feedstock. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 5(1):341–51. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2016.11.032</u>
- 73. Ezebuiro, N.C., Techamanoon, K., Körner, I., 2018. Synergistic and antagonistic influences of trace elements on volatile fatty acids degradation and methane production during the methanization of a mixture of volatile fatty acids. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 6(1):1455–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2017.12.017</u>
- Facchin, V., Cavinato, C., Fatone, F., Pavan, P., Cecchi, F., Bolzonella, D., 2013. Effect of trace element supplementation on the mesophilic anaerobic digestion of foodwaste in batch trials: The influence of inoculum origin. Biochem. Eng. J. 70:71–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2012.10.004</u>

- Fan, Q., Fan, X., Fu, P., Sun, Y., Li, Y., Long, S., Guo, T., Zheng, L., Yang, K., Hua, D., 2022. Microbial community evolution, interaction, and functional genes prediction during anaerobic digestion in the presence of refractory organics. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 10(3):107789. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2022.107789
- Favaro, L., Alibardi, L., Lavagnolo, M.C., Casella, S., Basaglia, M., 2013. Effects of inoculum and indigenous microflora on hydrogen production from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 38(27):11774–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2013.06.137</u>
- Feng, X.M., Karlsson, A., Svensson, B.H., Bertilsson, S., 2010. Impact of trace element addition on biogas production from food industrial waste – linking process to microbial communities. FEMS Microbiol. Ecol. 74(1):226–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1574-6941.2010.00932.x</u>
- Fermoso, F.G., van Hullebusch, E.D., Guibaud, G., Collins, G., Svensson, B.H., Carliell-Marquet, C., Vink, J.P.M., Esposito, G., Frunzo, L., 2015. Fate of Trace Metals in Anaerobic Digestion, in: Guebitz, G.M., Bauer, A., Bochmann, G., Gronauer, A., Weiss, S. (Eds.), Biogas Science and Technology, Advances in Biochemical Engineering/Biotechnology. Springer International Publishing, Cham. 171–195.
- García-Depraect, O., Valdez-Vázquez, I., Rene, E.R., Gómez-Romero, J., López-López, A., León-Becerril, E., 2019. Lactate- and acetate-based biohydrogen production through dark co-fermentation of tequila vinasse and nixtamalization wastewater: Metabolic and microbial community dynamics. Bioresour. Technol. 282:236–44. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.02.100</u>
- Garuti, M., Langone, M., Fabbri, C., Piccinini, S., 2018. Methodological approach for trace elements supplementation in anaerobic digestion: Experience from full-scale agricultural biogas plants. J. Environ. Manage. 223:348–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.06.015</u>
- Ghanimeh, S., Al-Sanioura, D., Saikaly, P.E., El-Fadel, M., 2020. Comparison of Single-Stage and Two-Stage Thermophilic Anaerobic Digestion of SS-OFMSW During the Start-Up Phase. Waste Biomass Valorization. 11(12):6709–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-019-00891-8</u>
- Ghanimeh, S., El Fadel, M., Saikaly, P., 2012. Mixing effect on thermophilic anaerobic digestion of sourcesorted organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Bioresour. Technol. 17:63–71. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.02.125</u>
- Glass, J.B., Orphan, V.J., 2012. Trace Metal Requirements for Microbial Enzymes Involved in the Production and Consumption of Methane and Nitrous Oxide. Front. Microbiol. 3. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2012.00061</u>
- Gómez, X., Morán, A., Cuetos, M.J., Sánchez, M.E., 2006. The production of hydrogen by dark fermentation of municipal solid wastes and slaughterhouse waste: A two-phase process. Sel. Pap. Present. Ninth Grove Fuel Cell Symp. 157(2):727–32. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jpowsour.2006.01.006</u>
- Gopalakrishnan, B., Khanna, N., Das, D., 2019. Chapter 4 Dark-Fermentative Biohydrogen Production, in: Pandey, A., Mohan, S.V., Chang, J.-S., Hallenbeck, P.C., Larroche, C. (Eds.), Biohydrogen (Second Edition), Biomass, Biofuels, Biochemicals. 79–122. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-64203-5.00004-6</u>
- Gou, C., Guo, J., Lian, J., Guo, Y., Jiang, Z., Yue, L., Yang, J., 2015. Characteristics and kinetics of biohydrogen production with Ni2+ using hydrogen-producing bacteria. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 40(1):161– 7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2014.10.100</u>
- Grabarse, W., Mahlert, F., Duin, E.C., Goubeaud, M., Shima, S., Thauer, R.K., Lamzin, V., Ermler, U., 2001. On the mechanism of biological methane formation: structural evidence for conformational changes in methyl-coenzyme M reductase upon substrate binding. J. Mol. Biol. 309(1):315–30. https://doi.org/10.1006/jmbi.2001.4647
- Gu, Y., Chen, X., Liu, Z., Zhou, X., Zhang, Y., 2014. Effect of inoculum sources on the anaerobic digestion of rice straw. Bioresour. Technol. 158:149–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.02.011</u>
- Gustavsson, J., Svensson, B.H., Karlsson, A., 2011. The feasibility of trace element supplementation for stable operation of wheat stillage-fed biogas tank reactors. Water Sci. Technol. 64(2):320–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2011.633</u>
- Hahnke, S., Langer, T., Koeck, D.E., Klocke, M., 2016. Description of Proteiniphilum saccharofermentans sp. nov., Petrimonas mucosa sp. nov. and Fermentimonas caenicola gen. nov., sp. nov., isolated from mesophilic laboratory-scale biogas reactors, and emended description of the genus Proteiniphilum. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 66(3):1466–75. <u>https://doi.org/10.1099/ijsem.0.000902</u>
- Han, W., Liu, W.-X., Yu, C.-M., Huang, J.-G., Tang, J.-H., Li, Y.-F., 2017. BioH2 production from waste bread using a two-stage process of enzymatic hydrolysis and dark fermentation. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 42(50):29929–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.06.221</u>
- 92. Hardy, J., Bonin, P., Lazuka, A., Gonidec, E., Guasco, S., Valette, C., Lacroix, S., Cabrol, L., 2021. Similar Methanogenic Shift but Divergent Syntrophic Partners in Anaerobic Digesters Exposed to Direct versus Successive Ammonium Additions. Microbiol. Spectr. 9(2):e00805-21. <u>https://doi.org/10.1128/Spectrum.00805-21</u>

- Hayes, T.D., Theis, T.L., 1978. The Distribution of Heavy Metals in Anaerobic Digestion. J. Water Pollut. Control Fed. 50(1):61–72.
- 94. Heyer, R., Klang, J., Hellwig, P., Schallert, K., Kress, P., Huelsemann, B., Theuerl, S., Reichl, U., Benndorf, D., 2020. Impact of feeding and stirring regimes on the internal stratification of microbial communities in the fermenter of anaerobic digestion plants. Bioresour. Technol. 314:123679. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.123679
- Hickey, R.F., Vanderwielen, J., Switzenbaum, M.S., 1989. The effect of heavy metals on methane production and hydrogen and carbon monoxide levels during batch anaerobic sludge digestion. Water Res. 23(2):207–18 <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0043-1354(89)90045-6</u>
- 96. Hijazi, O., Abdelsalam, E., Samer, M., Amer, B.M.A., Yacoub, I.H., Moselhy, M.A., Attia, Y.A., Bernhardt, H., 2020. Environmental impacts concerning the addition of trace metals in the process of biogas production from anaerobic digestion of slurry. J. Clean. Prod. 243:118593. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.118593
- Hinken, L., Urban, I., Haun, E., Urban, I., Weichgrebe, D., Rosenwinkel, K.-H., 2008. The valuation of malnutrition in the mono-digestion of maize silage by anaerobic batch tests. Water Sci. Technol. 58(7):1453–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2008.491</u>
- Ignace, A., Suanon, F., Dimon, B., Franck, Y., Lyde, T., Daouda, M., Eni, A., 2016. Biogas Recovery from Sewage Sludge during Anaerobic Digestion Process: Effect of Iron powder on Methane yield. Int. Res. J. Environ. Sci. 5:2319–1414.
- 99. Illumina, 2013. 16S Metagenomic sequencing library preparation. https://support.illumina.com/downloads/16s_metagenomic_sequencing_library_preparation.html
- 100. Janssen, H., Döring, C., Ehrenreich, A., Voigt, B., Hecker, M., Bahl, H., Fischer, R.-J., 2010. A proteomic and transcriptional view of acidogenic and solventogenic steady-state cells of Clostridium acetobutylicum in a chemostat culture. Appl. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 87(6):2209–26. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00253-010-2741-x</u>
- 101.J.A.Oleszkiewicz, V.K.S., 1990. Stimulation and inhibition of anaerobic processes by heavy metals—A review. Biol. Wastes. 31(1):45–67. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0269-7483(90)90043-R</u>
- 102. Jarunglumlert, T., Prommuak, C., Putmai, N., Pavasant, P., 2018. Scaling-up bio-hydrogen production from food waste: Feasibilities and challenges. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 43(2):634–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2017.10.013</u>
- 103. Jarvis, Å., Nordberg, Å., Jarlsvik, T., Mathisen, B., Svensson, B.H., 1997. Improvement of a grass-clover silage-fed biogas process by the addition of cobalt. Biomass Bioenergy. 12(6):453–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0961-9534(97)00015-9
- 104. Jiménez-Ocampo, U.E., Vargas, A., Moreno-Andrade, I., 2021. Methane production from food waste using a feedback control strategy in a sequencing batch reactor. Water Sci. Technol. 84(8):1969–80. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2021.370
- 105. J. Steinbusch, K.J., M. Hamelers, H.V., M. Plugge, C., N. Buisman, C.J., 2011. Biological formation of caproate and caprylate from acetate : fuel and chemical production from low grade biomass. Energy Environ. Sci. 4(1):216–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/C0EE00282H</u>
- 106.Jojoa-Unigarro, G.D., González-Martínez, S., 2023. OFMSW Fermentation with Different Inocula and Its Effects on Methane Production. Waste Biomass Valorization. 14:1461–1476. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12649-022-01968-7</u>
- 107. Jun, Y.-S., Yu, S.-H., Ryu, K.-G., Lee, T.-J., 2008. Kinetic study of pH effects on biological hydrogen production by a mixed culture. J. Microbiol. Biotechnol. 18(6):1130–5.
- 108. Karadag, D., Puhakka, J.A., 2010. Enhancement of anaerobic hydrogen production by iron and nickel. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 35(16):8554–60. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2010.04.174</u>
- 109. Karthikeyan, O.P., Trably, E., Mehariya, S., Bernet, N., Wong, J.W.C., Carrere, H., 2018. Pretreatment of food waste for methane and hydrogen recovery: A review. Bioresour. Technol. 249:1025–39. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09.105</u>
- 110. Kaza, S., Yao, L.C., Bhada-Tata, P., Van Woerden, F., 2018. What a Waste 2.0: A Global Snapshot of Solid Waste Management to 2050, Urban Development. ed. World Bank, Washington DC. <u>https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-1329-0</u>
- 111. Keskin, T., Arslan, K., Nalakth Abubackar, H., Vural, C., Eroglu, D., Karaalp, D., Yanik, J., Ozdemir, G., Azbar, N., 2018. Determining the effect of trace elements on biohydrogen production from fruit and vegetable wastes. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 43(23):10666–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2018.01.028</u>
- 112. Kida, K., Shigematsu, T., Kijima, J., Numaguchi, M., Mochinaga, Y., Abe, N., Morimura, S., 2001. Influence of Ni2+ and Co2+ on methanogenic activity and the amounts of coenzymes involved in methanogenesis. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 91(6):590–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S1389-1723(01)80179-1</u>

- 113. Ko, J.H., Wang, N., Yuan, T., Lü, F., He, P., Xu, Q., 2018. Effect of nickel-containing activated carbon on food waste anaerobic digestion. Bioresour. Technol. 266:516–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2018.07.015</u>
- 114. Kobayashi, T., Xu, K.-Q., Li, Y.-Y., Inamori, Y., 2012. Evaluation of hydrogen and methane production from municipal solid wastes with different compositions of fat, protein, cellulosic materials and the other carbohydrates. 2011 Asian Bio-Hydrog. Biorefinery Symp. 37(20):15711–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2012.05.044
- 115. Kumar Tyagi, V., Angeriz Campoy, R., Alvarez-Gallego, C.J., Romero Garcia, L.I., 2014. Enhancement in hydrogen production by thermophilic anaerobic co-digestion of organic fraction of municipal solid waste and sewage sludge - Optimization of treatment conditions. Bioresour. Technol. 164:408–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.05.013</u>
- 116. Kvesitadze, G., Sadunishvili, T., Dudauri, T., Zakariashvili, N., Partskhaladze, G., Ugrekhelidze, V., Tsiklauri, G., Metreveli, B., Jobava, M., 2012. Two-stage anaerobic process for bio-hydrogen and biomethane combined production from biodegradable solid wastes. Energy. 37(1):94–102. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2011.08.039
- 117. Lar, J.S., Li, R., Li, X., 2010. The Influence of Calcium and Iron Supplementation on the Methane Yield of Biogas Treating Dairy Manure. Energy Sources Part Recovery Util. Environ. Eff. 32(17):1651–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/15567030902842269</u>
- 118. Lavagnolo, M.C., Girotto, F., Rafieenia, R., Danieli, L., Alibardi, L., 2018. Two-stage anaerobic digestion of the organic fraction of municipal solid waste – Effects of process conditions during batch tests. Renew. Energy. 126:14–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.03.039</u>
- 119. Lay, J.-J., Fan, K.-S., Chang, J.-1, Ku, C.-H., 2003. Influence of chemical nature of organic wastes on their conversion to hydrogen by heat-shock digested sludge. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 28(12):1361–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0360-3199(03)00027-2</u>
- 120. Lay, J.-J., Lee, Y.-J., Noike, T., 1999. Feasibility of biological hydrogen production from organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Water Res. 33(11):2579–86. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0043-1354(98)00483-7</u>
- 121. Legendre, P., Anderson, M.J., 1999. Distance-Based Redundancy Analysis: Testing Multispecies Responses in Multifactorial Ecological Experiments. Ecol. Monogr. 69(1):1–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1890/0012-9615(1999)069[0001:DBRATM]2.0.CO;2</u>
- 122. Li, C., Fang, H.H.P., 2007. Inhibition of heavy metals on fermentative hydrogen production by granular sludge. Chemosphere. 67(4):668–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chemosphere.2006.11.005</u>
- 123. Li, J., Ban, Q., Zhang, L., Jha, ajay kumar, 2012. Syntrophic Propionate Degradation in Anaerobic Digestion: A Review. Int. J. Agric. Biol. 14:843–50.
- 124.Li, Y., Chen, Y., Wu, J., 2019. Enhancement of methane production in anaerobic digestion process: A review. Appl. Energy. 240:120–37. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.01.243
- 125.Li, Y., Wang, Z., He, Z., Luo, S., Su, D., Jiang, H., Zhou, H., Xu, Q., 2020. Effects of temperature, hydrogen/carbon monoxide ratio and trace element addition on methane production performance from syngas biomethanation. Bioresour. Technol. 295:122296. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122296</u>
- 126. Liang, D.-W., Shayegan, S.S., Ng, W.J., He, J., 2010. Development and characteristics of rapidly formed hydrogen-producing granules in an acidic anaerobic sequencing batch reactor (AnSBR). Biochem. Eng. J. 49(1):119–25. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bej.2009.12.005</u>
- 127. Lin, C.-Y., Lay, C.-H., 2005a. A nutrient formulation for fermentative hydrogen production using anaerobic sewage sludge microflora. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy 30:285–92. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2004.03.002</u>
- 128. Lin, H., Peddada, S.D., 2020. Analysis of compositions of microbiomes with bias correction. Nat. Commun. 11(1):3514. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/s41467-020-17041-7</u>
- 129. Linville, J.L., Shen, Y., Schoene, R.P., Nguyen, M., Urgun-Demirtas, M., Snyder, S.W., 2016. Impact of trace element additives on anaerobic digestion of sewage sludge with in-situ carbon dioxide sequestration. Process Biochem. 51(9):1283–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.procbio.2016.06.003</u>
- 130. Liu, G., Li, Y., Wang, J., Sheng, H., Li, Q., Zeng, Y., Song, R., 2018. A comparative experimental study of the anaerobic treatment of food wastes using an anaerobic digester with a polyamide stirring rake or a stainless-steel stirring rake. J. Environ. Manage. 218:435–41. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2018.04.084
- 131.Liu, Y., Kang, X., Cheng, H., 2019. Enhanced Anaerobic Performances of Kitchen Wastes in a Semi-Continuous Reactor by EDTA Improving the Water-Soluble Fraction of Fe. Processes. 7(6):351. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/pr7060351</u>
- 132. Lo, H.M., Lin, K.C., Liu, M.H., Pai, T.Z., Lin, C.Y., Liu, W.F., Fang, G.C., Lu, C., Chiang, C.F., Wang, S.C., Chen, P.H., Chen, J.K., Chiu, H.Y., Wu, K.C., 2009. Solubility of heavy metals added to MSW. J. Hazard. Mater. 161(1):294–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2008.03.119</u>

- 133. Lopes, J.C., de Matos, L.F., Harper, M.T., Giallongo, F., Oh, J., Gruen, D., Ono, S., Kindermann, M., Duval, S., Hristov, A.N., 2016. Effect of 3-nitrooxypropanol on methane and hydrogen emissions, methane isotopic signature, and ruminal fermentation in dairy cows. J. Dairy Sci. 99(7):5335–44. https://doi.org/10.3168/jds.2015-10832
- 134.Ma, X., Yu, M., Song, N., Xu, B., Gao, M., Wu, C., Wang, Q., 2020. Effect of ethanol pre-fermentation on organic load rate and stability of semi-continuous anaerobic digestion of food waste. Bioresour. Technol. 299:122587. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122587</u>
- 135. Maintinguer, S.I., Fernandes, B.S., Duarte, I.C.S., Saavedra, N.K., Adorno, M.A.T., Varesche, M.B., 2008. Fermentative hydrogen production by microbial consortium. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 33(16):4309–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2008.06.053</u>
- 136. Martin, M., 2011. Cutadapt removes adapter sequences from high-throughput sequencing reads. EMBnet.journal. 17(1):10–2. <u>https://doi.org/10.14806/ej.17.1.200</u>
- 137. Mata-Alvarez, J., Llabrés, P., Cecchi, F., Pavan, P., 1992. Anaerobic digestion of the Barcelona central food market organic wastes: Experimental study. Bioresour. Technol. 39(1):39–48. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-8524(92)90054-2</u>
- 138. Mathews, J., Wang, G., 2009. Metabolic pathway engineering for enhanced biohydrogen production. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 34(17):7404–16. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2009.05.078</u>
- 139. McMurdie, P.J., Holmes, S., 2013. phyloseq: An R Package for Reproducible Interactive Analysis and Graphics of Microbiome Census Data. PLOS ONE. 8(4):e61217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0061217</u>
- 140. Metcalf & Eddy, I., 2003. Wastewater engineering : treatment and reuse. Fourth edition / revised by George Tchobanoglous, Franklin L. Burton, H. David Stensel. Boston : McGraw-Hill, ©2003.
- 141. Moestedt, J., Nordell, E., Shakeri Yekta, S., Lundgren, J., Martí, M., Sundberg, C., Ejlertsson, J., Svensson, B.H., Björn, A., 2016. Effects of trace element addition on process stability during anaerobic co-digestion of OFMSW and slaughterhouse waste. Waste Manag., Biowaste to Fuel. 47:11–20. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2015.03.007</u>
- 142. Moore, S.J., Sowa, S.T., Schuchardt, C., Deery, E., Lawrence, A.D., Ramos, J.V., Billig, S., Birkemeyer, C., Chivers, P.T., Howard, M.J., Rigby, S.E.J., Layer, G., Warren, M.J., 2017. Elucidation of the biosynthesis of the methane catalyst coenzyme F 430. Nature. 543(7643):78–82. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature21427
- 143. Moreno-Andrade, I., Carrillo-Reyes, J., Santiago, S.G., Bujanos-Adame, M.C., 2015. Biohydrogen from food waste in a discontinuous process: Effect of HRT and microbial community analysis. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy, Special Issue on XIV International Congress of the Mexican Hydrogen Society. 40(48):17246–52. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.04.084</u>
- 144. Mu, L., Zhang, L., Zhu, K., Ma, J., Li, A., 2018. Semi-continuous anaerobic digestion of extruded OFMSW: Process performance and energetics evaluation. Bioresour. Technol. 247:103–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.09.085</u>
- 145. Mu, Y., Zheng, X.-J., Yu, H.-Q., Zhu, R.-F., 2006. Biological hydrogen production by anaerobic sludge at various temperatures. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 31(6):780–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2005.06.016</u>
- 146. Mullai, P., Yogeswari, M.K., Sridevi, K., 2013. Optimisation and enhancement of biohydrogen production using nickel nanoparticles – A novel approach. Bioresour. Technol. 141:212–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.03.082</u>
- 147. Mullan, K.A., Bramberger, L.M., Munday, P.R., Goncalves, G., Revote, J., Mifsud, N.A., Illing, P.T., Anderson, A., Kwan, P., Purcell, A.W., Li, C., 2021. ggVolcanoR: A Shiny app for customizable visualization of differential expression datasets. Comput. Struct. Biotechnol. J. 19:5735–40. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.csbj.2021.10.020
- 148. Muñoz-Páez, K.M., Ríos-Leal, E., Valdez-Vazquez, I., Rinderknecht-Seijas, N., Poggi-Varaldo, H.M., 2012. Re-fermentation of washed spent solids from batch hydrogenogenic fermentation for additional production of biohydrogen from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Environ. Risks Probl. Strateg. Reduce Them Biotechnol. Eng. 95:S355–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2011.01.017</u>
- 149. Myszograj, S., Stadnik, A., Płuciennik-Koropczuk, E., 2018. The Influence of Trace Elements on Anaerobic Digestion Process. Civ. Environ. Eng. Rep. 28:105–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.2478/ceer-2018-0054</u>
- 150. Nevzorova, T., Kutcherov, V., 2019. Barriers to the wider implementation of biogas as a source of energy: A state-of-the-art review. Energy Strategy Rev. 26:100414. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.esr.2019.100414</u>
- 151. Niño-Navarro, C., Chairez, I., Christen, P., Canul-Chan, M., García-Peña, E.I., 2020. Enhanced hydrogen production by a sequential dark and photo fermentation process: Effects of initial feedstock composition, dilution and microbial population. Renew. Energy. 147:924–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2019.09.024

- 152. Noonari, A.A., Mahar, R.B., Sahito, A.R., Brohi, K.M., 2019. Anaerobic co-digestion of canola straw and banana plant wastes with buffalo dung: Effect of Fe3O4 nanoparticles on methane yield. Renew. Energy. 133:1046–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.10.113</u>
- 153. Nordell, E., Nilsson, B., Nilsson Påledal, S., Karisalmi, K., Moestedt, J., 2016. Co-digestion of manure and industrial waste – The effects of trace element addition. Waste Manag., Biowaste to Fuel. 47:21–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2015.02.032</u>
- 154. Okamoto, M., Miyahara, T., Mizuno, O., Noike, T., 2000. Biological hydrogen potential of materials characteristic of the organic fraction of municipal solid wastes. Water Sci. Technol. 41(3):25–32. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2000.0052
- 155. Osuna, M.B., Zandvoort, M.H., Iza, J.M., Lettinga, G., Lens, P.N.L., 2003. Effects of trace element addition on volatile fatty acid conversions in anaerobic granular sludge reactors. Environ. Technol. 24(5):573–87. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/09593330309385592</u>
- 156. O-Thong, S., Prasertsan, P., Birkeland, N.-K., 2009. Evaluation of methods for preparing hydrogenproducing seed inocula under thermophilic condition by process performance and microbial community analysis. Bioresour. Technol. 100(2):909–18. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.07.036</u>
- 157. Paillet, F., Barrau, C., Escudié, R., Bernet, N., Trably, E., 2021. Robust operation through effluent recycling for hydrogen production from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Bioresour. Technol. 319:124196. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2020.124196</u>
- 158. Paillet, F., Barrau, C., Escudie, R., Trably, E., 2020. Inhibition by the ionic strength of hydrogen production from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 45(10):5854–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.08.019</u>
- 159. Parra-Orobio, B.A., Donoso-Bravo, A., Ruiz-Sánchez, J.C., Valencia-Molina, K.J., Torres-Lozada, P., 2018. Effect of inoculum on the anaerobic digestion of food waste accounting for the concentration of trace elements. Waste Manag. 71:342–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2017.09.040</u>
- 160. Paudel, S., Kang, Y., Yoo, Y.-S., Seo, G.T., 2017. Effect of volumetric organic loading rate (OLR) on H2 and CH4 production by two-stage anaerobic co-digestion of food waste and brown water. Waste Manag. 61:484–93. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2016.12.013</u>
- 161. Peng, W., Lü, F., Hao, L., Zhang, H., Shao, L., He, P., 2020. Digestate management for high-solid anaerobic digestion of organic wastes: A review. Bioresour. Technol. 297:122485. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2019.122485</u>
- 162. Piffer, M.A., Zaiat, M., Nascimento, C.A.O. do, Fuess, L.T., 2021. Dynamics of sulfate reduction in the thermophilic dark fermentation of sugarcane vinasse: A biohydrogen-independent approach targeting enhanced bioenergy production. J. Environ. Chem. Eng. 9(5):105956. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jece.2021.105956
- 163. Pobeheim, H., Munk, B., Johansson, J., Guebitz, G.M., 2010. Influence of trace elements on methane formation from a synthetic model substrate for maize silage. Bioresour. Technol. 101(2):836–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2009.08.076</u>
- 164. Pobeheim, H., Munk, B., Lindorfer, H., Guebitz, G.M., 2011. Impact of nickel and cobalt on biogas production and process stability during semi-continuous anaerobic fermentation of a model substrate for maize silage. Water Res. 45(2):781–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2010.09.001</u>
- 165. Qiang, H., Lang, D.-L., Li, Y.-Y., 2012. High-solid mesophilic methane fermentation of food waste with an emphasis on Iron, Cobalt, and Nickel requirements. Bioresour. Technol. 103(1):21–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.09.036</u>
- 166. Qiang, H., Niu, Q., Chi, Y., Li, Y., 2013. Trace metals requirements for continuous thermophilic methane fermentation of high-solid food waste. Chem. Eng. J. 222:330–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2013.02.076</u>
- 167. Quast, C., Pruesse, E., Yilmaz, P., Gerken, J., Schweer, T., Yarza, P., Peplies, J., Glöckner, F.O., 2013. The SILVA ribosomal RNA gene database project: improved data processing and web-based tools. Nucleic Acids Res. 41(D1):D590–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1093/nar/gks1219</u>
- 168. Quéméneur, M., Hamelin, J., Benomar, S., Guidici-Orticoni, M.-T., Latrille, E., Steyer, J.-P., Trably, E., 2011. Changes in hydrogenase genetic diversity and proteomic patterns in mixed-culture dark fermentation of mono-, di- and tri-saccharides. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 36(18):11654–65. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2011.06.010
- 169. Rao, R., Basak, N., 2021. Optimization and modelling of dark fermentative hydrogen production from cheese whey by Enterobacter aerogenes 2822. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 46(2):1777–800. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.10.142</u>
- 170. Reddy, M.V., Hayashi, S., Choi, D., Cho, H., Chang, Y.-C., 2018. Short chain and medium chain fatty acids production using food waste under non-augmented and bio-augmented conditions. J. Clean. Prod. 176:645– 53. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.12.166</u>

- 171. Redondas, V., Moran, A., Martinez, J.E., Fierro, J., Gomez, X., 2015. Effect of Methanogenic Effluent Recycling on Continuous H-2 Production from Food Waste. Environ. Prog. Sustain. Energy. 34(1):227–33. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/ep.11980</u>
- 172. Roghair, M., Liu, Y., Strik, D.P.B.T.B., Weusthuis, R.A., Bruins, M.E., Buisman, C.J.N., 2018. Development of an Effective Chain Elongation Process From Acidified Food Waste and Ethanol Into n-Caproate. Front. Bioeng. Biotechnol. 6:50. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fbioe.2018.00050</u>
- 173. Roussel, J., Carliell-Marquet, C., Braga, A.F.M., Garuti, M., Serrano, A., Fermoso, F.G., 2019. Engineering of trace-element supplementation, in: Fermoso, F.G., van Hullebusch, E., Collins, G., Roussel, J., Mucha, A.P., Esposito, G. (Eds.), Trace Elements in Anaerobic Biotechnologies. IWA Publishing, p. 0. <u>https://doi.org/10.2166/9781789060225_0073</u>
- 174. Šafarič, L., Yekta, S.S., Svensson, B.H., Schnürer, A., Bastviken, D., Björn, A., 2020. Effect of Cobalt, Nickel, and Selenium/Tungsten Deficiency on Mesophilic Anaerobic Digestion of Chemically Defined Soluble Organic Compounds. Microorganisms 8:4. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8040598</u>
- 175. Salazar-Batres, K.J., Moreno-Andrade, I., 2022. Effect of nickel concentration on biohydrogen production: Organic solid waste vs. glucose. Int. J. Hydrog. 47(70):30097-30106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2022.05.281
- 176. Salazar-Batres, K.J., Quijano, G., Moreno-Andrade, I., 2022. Biohydrogen from the Organic Fraction of Municipal Solid Waste, in: Kuddus, M., Yunus, G., Ramteke, P.W., Molina, G. (Eds.), Organic Waste to Biohydrogen, Clean Energy Production Technologies. Springer Nature, Singapore. 1–30. https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-19-1995-4_1
- 177. Sambo, A.S., Garba, B., Danshehu, B.G., 1995. Effect of some operating parameters on biogas production rate. World Renew. Energy Congr. Clim. Change Energy Environ. 6:343–344. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/0960-1481(95)00027-H</u>
- 178. Santiago, S.G., Morgan-Sagastume, J.M., Monroy, O., Moreno-Andrade, I., 2020. Biohydrogen production from organic solid waste in a sequencing batch reactor: An optimization of the hydraulic and solids retention time. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 45(47):25681–25688. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.11.224</u>
- 179. Sawatdeenarunat, C., Surendra, K.C., Takara, D., Oechsner, H., Khanal, S.K., 2015. Anaerobic digestion of lignocellulosic biomass: Challenges and opportunities. Bioresour. Technol. 178:178–186. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.103</u>
- 180. Schaffer, S., Isci, N., Zickner, B., Dürre, P., 2002. Changes in protein synthesis and identification of proteins specifically induced during solventogenesis in Clostridium acetobutylicum. Electrophoresis. 23(1):110– 121. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/1522-2683(200201)23:1<110::AID-ELPS110>3.0.CO;2-G</u>
- 181. Schattauer, A., Abdoun, E., Weiland, P., Plöchl, M., Heiermann, M., 2011. Abundance of trace elements in demonstration biogas plants. Biosyst. Eng. 108(1):57–65. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biosystemseng.2010.10.010</u>
- 182. Schmidt, T., Nelles, M., Scholwin, F., Pröter, J., 2014. Trace element supplementation in the biogas production from wheat stillage – Optimization of metal dosing. Bioresour. Technol. 168:80–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.02.124</u>
- 183. Sekoai, P.T., Kana, E.B.G., 2014. Semi-pilot scale production of hydrogen from Organic Fraction of Solid Municipal Waste and electricity generation from process effluents. Biomass Bioenergy. 60:156–63. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biombioe.2013.11.008</u>
- 184. Sewsynker, Y., Gueguim Kana, E.B., 2016. Intelligent models to predict hydrogen yield in dark microbial fermentations using existing knowledge. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 41(30):12929–40. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2016.05.250</u>
- 185. Shah, A.T., Favaro, L., Alibardi, L., Cagnin, L., Sandon, A., Cossu, R., Casella, S., Basaglia, M., 2016. Bacillus sp. strains to produce bio-hydrogen from the organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Appl. Energy. 176:116–24. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2016.05.054</u>
- 186. Sharma, P., Melkania, U., 2018a. Enhancement effect of amino acids on hydrogen production from organic fraction of municipal solid waste using co-culture of Escherichia coli and Enterobacter aerogenes. Energy Convers. Manag. 163:260–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enconman.2018.02.072</u>
- 187. Sharma, P., Melkania, U., 2018b. Effect of phenolic compounds on hydrogen production from municipal solid waste. Waste Manag. 78:115–23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2018.05.039</u>
- 188. Sharma, P., Melkania, U., 2018c. Impact of heavy metals on hydrogen production from organic fraction of municipal solid waste using co-culture of Enterobacter aerogenes and E. Coli. Waste Manag. 75:289–96. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2018.02.005</u>
- 189. Sharma, P., Melkania, U., 2018d. Synergic effect of various amino acids and ferric oxide on hydrogen production. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 43(33):15843–56. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2018.06.174</u>

- 190. Shen, F., Yuan, H., Pang, Y., Chen, S., Zhu, B., Zou, D., Liu, Y., Ma, J., Yu, L., Li, X., 2013. Performances of anaerobic co-digestion of fruit & vegetable waste (FVW) and food waste (FW): Single-phase vs. twophase. Bioresour. Technol. 144:80–5. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.06.099</u>
- 191. Shima, S., Schick, M., Tamura, H., 2011. Preparation of [Fe]-hydrogenase from methanogenic archaea. Methods Enzymol. 494:119–37. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-12-385112-3.00007-X</u>
- 192. Soares, J.F., Confortin, T.C., Todero, I., Mayer, F.D., Mazutti, M.A., 2020. Dark fermentative biohydrogen production from lignocellulosic biomass: Technological challenges and future prospects. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 117:109484. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109484</u>
- 193. Soltan, M., Elsamadony, M., Mostafa, A., Awad, H., Tawfik, A., 2019. Nutrients balance for hydrogen potential upgrading from fruit and vegetable peels via fermentation process. J. Environ. Manage. 242:384– 393. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2019.04.066</u>
- 194. Søndergaard, D., Pedersen, C.N.S., Greening, C., 2016. HydDB: A web tool for hydrogenase classification and analysis. Sci. Rep. 6(1):34212. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/srep34212</u>
- 195. Srisowmeya, G., Chakravarthy, M., Nandhini Devi, G., 2020. Critical considerations in two-stage anaerobic digestion of food waste A review. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 119:109587. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2019.109587
- 196. Strazzera, G., Battista, F., Andreolli, M., Menini, M., Bolzonella, D., Lampis, S., 2021. Influence of different household Food Wastes Fractions on Volatile Fatty Acids production by anaerobic fermentation. Bioresour. Technol. 335:125289. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2021.125289</u>
- 197. Taherdanak, M., Zilouei, H., Karimi, K., 2016a. The effects of Fe0 and Ni0 nanoparticles versus Fe2+ and Ni2+ ions on dark hydrogen fermentation. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 41(1):167–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2015.11.110</u>
- 198. Takashima, M., Speece, R.E., Parkin, G.F., 1990. Mineral requirements for methane fermentation. Crit. Rev. Environ. Control 19, 465–479. <u>https://doi.org/10.1080/10643389009388378</u>
- 199. Tang, T., Chen, Y., Liu, M., Du, Y., Tan, Y., 2022a. Effect of pH on the performance of hydrogen production by dark fermentation coupled denitrification. Environ. Res. 208:112663. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2021.112663</u>
- 200. Tao, Y., Ersahin, M.E., Ghasimi, D.S.M., Ozgun, H., Wang, H., Zhang, X., Guo, M., Yang, Y., Stuckey, D.C., van Lier, J.B., 2020. Biogas productivity of anaerobic digestion process is governed by a core bacterial microbiota. Chem. Eng. J. 380:122425. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2019.122425</u>
- 201. Tenca, A., Schievano, A., Lonati, S., Malagutti, L., Oberti, R., Adani, F., 2011. Looking for practical tools to achieve next-future applicability of dark fermentation to produce bio-hydrogen from organic materials in Continuously Stirred Tank Reactors. Bioresour. Technol. 102(17):7910–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2011.05.088
- 202. Thanh, P.M., Ketheesan, B., Yan, Z., Stuckey, D., 2016. Trace metal speciation and bioavailability in anaerobic digestion: A review. Biotechnol. 34:122–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biotechadv.2015.12.006
- 203. Thauer, R.K., Kaster, A.-K., Goenrich, M., Schick, M., Hiromoto, T., Shima, S., 2010. Hydrogenases from Methanogenic Archaea, Nickel, a Novel Cofactor, and H2 Storage. Annu. Rev. Biochem. 79(1):507–36. <u>https://doi.org/10.1146/annurev.biochem.030508.152103</u>
- 204. Theuerl, S., Klang, J., Hülsemann, B., Mächtig, T., Hassa, J., 2020. Microbiome Diversity and Community-Level Change Points within Manure-based small Biogas Plants. Microorganisms. 8(8):1169. https://doi.org/10.3390/microorganisms8081169
- 205. Toledo-Alarcón, J., Capson-Tojo, G., Marone, A., Paillet, F., Júnior, A.D.N.F., Chatellard, L., Bernet, N., Trably, E., 2018. Basics of Bio-hydrogen Production by Dark Fermentation, in: Liao, Q., Chang, J., Herrmann, C., Xia, A. (Eds.), Bioreactors for Microbial Biomass and Energy Conversion, Green Energy and Technology. Springer, Singapore.199–220. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/978-981-10-7677-0_6</u>
- 206. Tunçay, E.G., Erguder, T.H., Eroğlu, İ., Gündüz, U., 2017. Dark fermentative hydrogen production from sucrose and molasses. Int. J. Energy Res. 41(13):1891–902. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/er.3751</u>
- 207. Tyagi, V.K., Angériz Campoy, R., Álvarez-Gallego, C.J., Romero García, L.I., 2014. Enhancement in hydrogen production by thermophilic anaerobic co-digestion of organic fraction of municipal solid waste and sewage sludge – Optimization of treatment conditions. Bioresour. Technol. 164:408–15. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.05.013
- 208. Tyagi, V.K., Fdez-Güelfo, L.A., Zhou, Y., Álvarez-Gallego, C.J., Garcia, L.I.R., Ng, W.J., 2018. Anaerobic co-digestion of organic fraction of municipal solid waste (OFMSW): Progress and challenges. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 93:380–99. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2018.05.051</u>
- 209. Ünal, B., Perry, V.R., Sheth, M., Gomez-Alvarez, V., Chin, K.-J., Nüsslein, K., 2012. Trace Elements Affect Methanogenic Activity and Diversity in Enrichments from Subsurface Coal Bed Produced Water. Front. Microbiol. 3:75. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fmicb.2012.00175</u>

- 210. Valdez-Vazquez, I., Ríos-Leal, E., Carmona-Martínez, A., Muñoz-Páez, K.M., Poggi-Varaldo, H.M., 2006. Improvement of Biohydrogen Production from Solid Wastes by Intermittent Venting and Gas Flushing of Batch Reactors Headspace. Environ. Sci. Technol. 40(10):3409–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/es052119j</u>
- 211. Valdez-Vazquez, I., Ríos-Leal, E., Esparza-García, F., Cecchi, F., Poggi-Varaldo, H.M., 2005. Semi-continuous solid substrate anaerobic reactors for H2 production from organic waste: Mesophilic versus thermophilic regime. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 30(13):1383–91. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2004.09.016
- 212. V. Filgueiras, A., Lavilla, I., Bendicho, C., 2002. Chemical sequential extraction for metal partitioning in environmental solid samples. J. Environ. Monit. 4(6):823–57. <u>https://doi.org/10.1039/B207574C</u>
- 213. Vignais, P.M., Billoud, B., 2007. Occurrence, Classification, and Biological Function of Hydrogenases: An Overview. Chem. Rev. 107(10):4206–72. <u>https://doi.org/10.1021/cr050196r</u>
- 214. Villanueva, R.A.M., Chen, Z.J., 2019. ggplot2: elegant graphics for data analysis.
- 215. Viswanathan, B., 2017. Chapter 15 Biochemical Routes for Energy Conversion, in: Viswanathan, B. (Ed.), Energy Sources. Elsevier, Amsterdam. 357–368. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/B978-0-444-56353-8.00015-0</u>
- 216. Voelklein, M.A., O' Shea, R., Jacob, A., Murphy, J.D., 2017. Role of trace elements in single and two-stage digestion of food waste at high organic loading rates. Energy. 121, 185–192. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.energy.2017.01.009</u>
- 217. Wall, D.M., Allen, E., Straccialini, B., O'Kiely, P., Murphy, J.D., 2014. The effect of trace element addition to mono-digestion of grass silage at high organic loading rates. Bioresour. Technol. 172:349–55. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.09.066</u>
- 218. Wallace, R.J., McKain, N., McEwan, N.R., Miyagawa, E., Chaudhary, L.C., King, T.P., Walker, N.D., Apajalahti, J.H.A., Newbold, C.J., 2003. Eubacterium pyruvativorans sp. nov., a novel non-saccharolytic anaerobe from the rumen that ferments pyruvate and amino acids, forms caproate and utilizes acetate and propionate. Int. J. Syst. Evol. Microbiol. 53(Pt 4):965–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1099/ijs.0.02110-0</u>
- 219. Wang, B., Björn, A., Strömberg, S., Nges, I.A., Nistor, M., Liu, J., 2017. Evaluating the influences of mixing strategies on the Biochemical Methane Potential test. J. Environ. Manage. 185:54–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jenvman.2016.10.044</u>
- 220. Wang, J., Wan, W., 2008. Influence of Ni2+ concentration on biohydrogen production. Bioresour. Technol. 99(18):8864–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2008.04.052</u>
- 221. Wang, J., Yin, Y., 2021. Clostridium species for fermentative hydrogen production: An overview. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 46(70):34599–625. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2021.08.052</u>
- 222. Wang, K., Nan, X., Chu, K., Tong, J., Yang, L., Zheng, S., Zhao, G., Jiang, L., Xiong, B., 2018. Shifts of Hydrogen Metabolism From Methanogenesis to Propionate Production in Response to Replacement of Forage Fiber With Non-forage Fiber Sources in Diets in vitro. Front. Microbiol. 9:2764.
- 223. Wang, L., Li, Y., Yi, X., Yang, F., Wang, D., Han, H., 2023. Dissimilatory manganese reduction facilitates synergistic cooperation of hydrolysis, acidogenesis, acetogenesis and methanogenesis via promoting microbial interaction during anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge. Environ. Res. 218:114992. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.envres.2022.114992
- 224. Wang, Y., Xi, B., Li, M., Jia, X., Wang, X., Xu, P., Zhao, Y., 2020. Hydrogen production performance from food waste using piggery anaerobic digested residues inoculum in long-term systems. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 45(58):33208–17. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2020.09.057</u>
- 225. Xiao, B., Zhang, W., Yi, H., Qin, Y., Wu, J., Liu, J., Li, Y.-Y., 2019. Biogas production by two-stage thermophilic anaerobic co-digestion of food waste and paper waste: Effect of paper waste ratio. Renew. Energy. 132:1301–9. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.renene.2018.09.030</u>
- 226. Yang, G., Wang, J., 2019. Changes in microbial community structure during dark fermentative hydrogen production. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 44(47):25542–50. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2019.08.039</u>
- 227. Yeshanew, M.M., Paillet, F., Barrau, C., Frunzo, L., Lens, P.N.L., Esposito, G., Escudie, R., Trably, E., 2018. Co-production of Hydrogen and Methane From the Organic Fraction of Municipal Solid Waste in a Pilot Scale Dark Fermenter and Methanogenic Biofilm Reactor. Front. Environ. Sci. 6:41. https://doi.org/10.3389/fenvs.2018.00041
- 228. Zahedi, S., Sales, D., Romero, L.I., Solera, R., 2014. Dark fermentation from real solid waste. Evolution of microbial community. Bioresour. Technol. 151:221–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2013.10.063</u>
- 229. Zahedi, S., Solera, R., Micolucci, F., Cavinato, C., Bolzonella, D., 2016. Changes in microbial community during hydrogen and methane production in two-stage thermophilic anaerobic co-digestion process from biowaste. Waste Manag. 49:40–6. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2016.01.016</u>
- 230. Zamri, M.F.M.A., Hasmady, S., Akhiar, A., Ideris, F., Shamsuddin, A.H., Mofijur, M., Fattah, I.M.R., Mahlia, T.M.I., 2021. A comprehensive review on anaerobic digestion of organic fraction of municipal solid waste. Renew. Sustain. Energy Rev. 137:110637. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rser.2020.110637

- 231.Zandvoort, M.H., Geerts, R., Lettinga, G., Lens, P.N.L., 2003. Methanol degradation in granular sludge reactors at sub-optimal metal concentrations: role of iron, nickel and cobalt. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 33(2):190–8. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/S0141-0229(03)00114-5</u>
- 232. Zandvoort, M.H., van Hullebusch, E.D., Gieteling, J., Lens, P.N.L., 2006. Granular sludge in full-scale anaerobic bioreactors: Trace element content and deficiencies. Enzyme Microb. Technol. 39(2):337–46. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.enzmictec.2006.03.034</u>
- 233.Zeshan, Karthikeyan, Obuli.P., Visvanathan, C., 2012. Effect of C/N ratio and ammonia-N accumulation in a pilot-scale thermophilic dry anaerobic digester. Environ. Sci. Eng. 113:294–302. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2012.02.028</u>
- 234. Zhang, J., Fan, C., Zang, L., 2017. Improvement of hydrogen production from glucose by ferrous iron and biochar. Bioresour. Technol. 245:98–105. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2017.08.198</u>
- 235. Zhang, Jishi, Li, W., Yang, J., Li, Z., Zhang, Junchu, Zhao, W., Zang, L., 2021. Cobalt ferrate nanoparticles improved dark fermentation for hydrogen evolution. J. Clean. Prod. 316:128275. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2021.128275</u>
- 236. Zhang, L., Jahng, D., 2012. Long-term anaerobic digestion of food waste stabilized by trace elements. Waste Manag. 32(8):1509–15. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.wasman.2012.03.015</u>
- 237.Zhang, J., Mao, L., Nithya, K., Loh, K.-C., Dai, Y., He, Y., Wah Tong, Y., 2019. Optimizing mixing strategy to improve the performance of an anaerobic digestion waste-to-energy system for energy recovery from food waste. Appl. Energy 249:28–36. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.apenergy.2019.04.142
- 238. Zhang, Wanqin, Wu, S., Guo, J., Zhou, J., Dong, R., 2015. Performance and kinetic evaluation of semicontinuously fed anaerobic digesters treating food waste: Role of trace elements. Bioresour. Technol. 178:297–305. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.08.046</u>
- 239. Zhang, Wanli, Zhang, L., Li, A., 2015. Enhanced anaerobic digestion of food waste by trace metal elements supplementation and reduced metals dosage by green chelating agent [S, S]-EDDS via improving metals bioavailability. Water Res. 84:266–77. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.watres.2015.07.010</u>
- 240. Zhang, Y., Feng, Y., Yu, Q., Xu, Z., Quan, X., 2014. Enhanced high-solids anaerobic digestion of waste activated sludge by the addition of scrap iron. Bioresour. Technol. 159:297–304. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.biortech.2014.02.114</u>
- 241. Zhang, Y., Rodionov, D.A., Gelfand, M.S., Gladyshev, V.N., 2009. Comparative genomic analyses of nickel, cobalt and vitamin B12 utilization. BMC Genomics. 10(1):78. <u>https://doi.org/10.1186/1471-2164-10-78</u>
- 242. Zhen, G., Lu, X., Li, Y.-Y., Liu, Y., Zhao, Y., 2015. Influence of zero valent scrap iron (ZVSI) supply on methane production from waste activated sludge. Chem. Eng. J. 263:461–70. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cej.2014.11.003</u>
- 243. Ziara, R.M.M., Miller, D.N., Subbiah, J., Dvorak, B.I., 2019. Lactate wastewater dark fermentation: The effect of temperature and initial pH on biohydrogen production and microbial community. Int. J. Hydrog. Energy. 44(2):661–73. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijhydene.2018.11.045</u>